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PART |
tem 1. Business
Our Company

We are an entrepreneurial pharmaceutiqalpemy that discovers, develops and intends to caoiatiee differentiated medicines that
improve patients' lives. In order to be success¥al will need to overcome the enormous challenglesrent in the pharmaceutical product
development model. Developing a novel therapeg@nacan take a decade or more and cost hundredgliohs of dollars, and most drug
candidates fail to reach the market. We recogiiaerhost companies undertaking this endeavonfildespite the significant risks and our
own experiences with multiple failed drug candidatee are enthusiastic and passionate about ogiamito deliver lifeehanging medicines
patients. To achieve our mission, we are buildingaan, a culture and processes centered on creatthgharketing important new drugs. If we
are successful getting medicines to patients andrgéing substantial returns for our stockholdeesplan to reinvest a portion of our future
cash flows into our research and development affarbrder to accelerate and enhance our abilibrittg new products to market. If we meet
our goals, we hope to earn the right to continuiling an enduring pharmaceutical company, an antihg business that will thrive well
beyond our lifetimes.

We are pioneers in the area of guanylatéase type-C, or GG, agonists and in the science and treatment ofajaiestinal diseases. C
development team has substantial expertise witlpliaemacological profile associated with GC-C agtmiand they are complemented by our
global operations and commercial teams that hayréfgiant experience in the associated therapendidalities. Our two most advanced GC-C
agonists are linaclotide and IW-9179.

We believe that linaclotide, our GC-C agbieing developed for the treatment of patienth wiitable bowel syndrome with
constipation, or IBS-C, and chronic constipationC&, could present patients and healthcare pi@uatits with a unique therapy for a major
medical need not yet met by existing therapies-@&d CC are gastrointestinal disorders that aiffélions of sufferers worldwide,
according to our analysis of studies performed by, Nalley (published in 1995 in tlhenerican Journal of EpidemiologyP.D.R. Higgins
(published in 2004 in thAmerican Journal of Gastroenteroloyyand A.P.S. Hungin (published in 2003Alimentary Pharmacology and
Therapeuticg as well as 2007 U.S. census data. Linaclotidedeaggned by Ironwood scientists to target theniledi attributes of IBS-C:
abdominal pain, discomfort, bloating and constipatiLinaclotide acts locally in the gut with no eetable systemic exposure in humans at
therapeutic doses.

In eight Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical stunlivolving almost 3,700 IBS-C and CC patientsdiotide, with once-daily oral dosing,
demonstrated sustained improvement of the pairblrating as well as the constipation symptoms dledine these chronic gastrointestinal
disorders. In 2010, linaclotide completed the clishiefficacy portion of its development programhiawing favorable efficacy and safety res
in all four of its Phase 3 clinical trials (two IBS clinical trials and two CC clinical trials), mégy all U.S. and European Union, or E.U.,
primary and secondary endpoints.

In each of the 12-week and 26-week Phagteadies involving patients with IBS-C, linaclotideduced abdominal pain, abdominal
discomfort and bloating within the first week, ahése reductions were sustained throughout theeegngiatment period. In the 12-week trial,
50% of linaclotide-treated patients had at lea@@% reduction in abdominal pain for at least sixha&f 12 weeks, and in the 26-week trial, 49%
of linaclotide-treated patients had at least a 38@8tiction in abdominal pain for at least six of fingt 12 weeks of the treatment period. In the
26-week trial, linaclotide elicited a 40% mean @ase in abdominal pain by the sixth week, a 46%nndearease by the twelfth week, and a
50% mean decrease at the twenty-sixth week.

As with abdominal pain, linaclotide-treaeatients experienced a significant improvemeroinstipation symptoms during the first week
of treatment in each of the Phase 3 IBS-C and @fxal trials, and this improvement was sustairtedighout the whole treatment period.
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In the four Phase 3 studies, diarrhea Wasrost frequently reported adverse event (seg&d%mto 20% of linaclotide-treated patients),
and the most frequently reported adverse eventallab study discontinuation (in 3% to 6% of litaite-treated patients). 90% of patients
who had diarrhea described their diarrhea as rmildaderate.

In August 2011, we and our U.S. collabamatpartner, Forest Laboratories, Inc., or Foreginstted a New Drug Application, or an ND
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or #RA, for linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C a@¢. In October 2011, the FDA accepted
the NDA for review, and the FDA Prescription Druged Fee Act, or PDUFA, target action date is exguet occur in June 2012. On
February 8, 2012, we were informed that the FDA mok schedule an advisory committee meeting imeation with its review of our NDA.
linaclotide is approved for IBS-C and CC patierge 48 and older in the U.S., we may seek to exfinadlotide's market opportunity by
exploring its utility in other gastrointestinal iigdtions and in the pediatric population.

In September 2011, our European partnenjiall S.A., or Almirall, submitted a Marketing Aurization Application, or an MAA, with
the European Medicines Agency, or the EMA, for ¢liotide for the treatment of IBS-C.

We have pursued a partnering strategydaorroercializing linaclotide that has enabled usetain significant control over linaclotide's
development and commercialization, share the aagitshigh-quality collaborators whose capabilitesnplement ours, and retain
approximately half of linaclotide's future long+teralue in the major pharmaceutical markets, shboédtlotide meet our sales expectations.
As of December 31, 2011, licensing fees, milesfpmgments, related equity investments and developotests received from our linaclotide
partners totaled approximately $350 million.

In September 2007, we entered into a pestie with Forest to co-develop and co-market lioéde in the U.S. Under the terms of the
collaboration agreement, we and Forest are joantly equally funding the development and commerezitiin of linaclotide in the U.S., with
equal share of any profits. Forest also has exausghts to develop and commercialize linaclofid€anada and Mexico. If linaclotide is
successfully developed and commercialized in ti& ,Uotal licensing, milestone payments and relatpdty investments to us under the Fc
collaboration agreement could total up to $330iarillincluding the $120 million that Forest hasalty paid to us and the $25 million of our
capital stock that Forest has already purchased.

In April 2009, we entered into a licenseeggnent with Almirall to develop and commercialimaclotide in Europe (including the
Commonwealth of Independent States countries ankEV) If linaclotide is successfully developed amnmercialized in the Almirall
territory, total licensing, milestone payments agldted equity investments to us could total upg6 million, including the $57 million, net of
foreign withholding taxes, that Almirall has alrggohid to us and the $15 million of our capitalcétthat Almirall has already purchased.

In November 2009, we entered into a liceagreement with Astellas Pharma Inc., or Asteliasievelop and commercialize linaclotide in
Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, the Philippiand Indonesia. If linaclotide is successfullyedeped and commercialized in the Aste
territory, total licensing and milestone paymeuwtsi$ could total up to $75 million, including th&@million that has already been paid to us.

We have retained all rights to linaclotméside of the territories discussed above andmmoato evaluate partnership opportunities in
those unpartnered regions.

If linaclotide is approved by the FDA, wdlweceive five years of exclusivity under the @rBrice Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Actatidition, linaclotide is covered by a U.S. conipias of matter patent that expires in
2025, subject to possible patent term extensiamadlotide is also covered by E.U. and Japanese asitign of matter patents, both of which
expire in 2024, subject to possible patent terneresion.
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We invest carefully in our pipeline, an@ tommitment of funding for each subsequent sthgeirodevelopment programs is dependent
upon the receipt of clear, supportive data. Lintaéis our only product candidate that has demmatest clinical proof of concept. IW179 is ¢
second generation GC-C agonist discovered by Iroavezientists that is in early development forttleatment of painful disorders of the
small intestine, such as dyspepsia and gastropa®s are also investing in several additionalyedelelopment candidates in multiple
therapeutic areas, including gastrointestinal diseeentral nervous system, or CNS, disordersrespiratory disease. We are also conducting
discovery research in these therapeutic areasekhasvin the area of cardiovascular disease. lyinak are actively engaged in evaluating and
licensing rights to externally-discovered drug ddatks at all stages of development. In evalugtiotgntial assets, we apply the same criteria
as those used for investments in internally-disoed@ssets.

We were incorporated in Delaware on Jan6aft998.
Owner-related Business Principles

We encourage all current and potentialldiotders to read the owner-related business pileipelow that guide our overall strategy and
decision making.

1. Ironwood's stockholders own the business;laif our employees work for them.

Each of our employees also has equityeérbiisiness, aligning their interests with theilofelstockholders. As employees and co-owners
of Ironwood, our management and employee teamtseeftectively allocate scarce stockholder cagitahaximize the average annual growth
of per share value.

Through our policies and communication,sgek to attract like-minded owner-oriented stocted. We strive to effectively
communicate our views of the business opportuniesrisks over time so that entering and exittoglholders are doing so at a price that
approximately reflects our intrinsic value.

2. We believe we can best maximize long-termoskholder value by building a great pharmaceuticafranchise.

We believe that Ironwood has the potentialeliver outstanding long-term returns to stod&brs who are sober to the risks inherent in
the pharmaceutical product lifecycle and to theeptial dramatic highs and lows along the way, ahd focus on superior long-term, per share
cash flows.

Since the pharmaceutical product lifecyslkeengthy and unpredictable, we believe it isicaitto have a long-term strategic horizon. We
work hard to embed our long-term focus into ouiges$ and practices, which may give us a competitivantage in attracting like-minded
stockholders and the highest caliber employees.cOuent and future employees may perceive botinfiral and qualitative advantages in
having their inventions or hard work result in meted drugs that they and their fellow stockholdenstinue to own. Some of our key policies
and practices that are aligned with this imperaitinodude:

a. Our dual class equity voting stroet(which provides for super-voting rights of oue{PO stockholders only in the event ¢
change of control vote) is designed to concentthéange of control decisions in the hands of lomgitecused owners who have a
history of experience with us.

b. Compensation is weighted to equitgresalary for all of our employees, and many erygds have a significant portion of
their incentive compensation in milestone-basedtgguants that reward achievement of major valteating events a number of years
out from the time of grant.
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c. We have adopted a change of coaretérance plan for all of our employees that isrided to encourage them to bring
forward their best ideas by providing them with doenfort that if a change of control occurs andrtemployment is terminated, they
will still have an opportunity to share in the eoaric value that they have helped create for stolcldrs.

d. All of the members of our board @kdtors are substantial investors in the compB&aoythermore, each director is required to
hold all shares of stock acquired as payment ohiher service as a director throughout his otdren on the board.

e. Our partnerships with Forest, Alrhiaaad Astellas all include standstill agreementkich serve to protect us from an
unwelcome acquisition attempt by one of our pagnkr addition, we have change of control provisionour partnership agreement
order to protect the economic value of linaclostieuld the acquirer of one of our partners be wablnwilling to devote the time a
resources required to make the program successful.

3.  We are and will remain careful stewards of ur stockholders' capital.
We work intensely to allocate capital caligfand prudently, continually reinforcing a least-conscious culture.

While we are mindful of the declining prativity and inherent challenges of pharmaceutieaearch and development, we intend to
invest in discovery research for many years to cdwg singular passion is to create, develop amgheercialize novel drug candidates,
seeking to integrate the most successful drugmadkirngmarketing practices of the past and the Hastay's cutting-edge technologies and
basic research, development and commercializativarees.

While we hope to improve the productivitydeefficiency of our drug creation efforts over éinour discovery process revolves around
small, highly interactive, cross-functional teaMé& believe that this is one area where our relbtismall size is a competitive advantage, so
for the foreseeable future, we do not expect oug diiscovery team to grow beyond 100-150 scientWts will continue to prioritize
constrained resources and maintain organizatideeipline. Once internally- or externally-derivegaintlidates advance into development,
compounds follow careful stage-gated plans, witthier advancement depending on clear data poiintse $nost pharmaceutical research and
development projects fall, it is critical that deams are rigorous in making early go/no go deessifollowing the data, terminating
unsuccessful programs, and allocating scarce dalad talent to the most promising efforts, thusagcing the likelihood of late phase
development success.

Our global operations and commercial tetaks a similar approach to capital allocation aadislon-making. By ensuring redundancy at
each critical node of the linaclotide supply chaint global operations team is mitigating againftralamental risk inherent with
pharmaceuticals—unanticipated shortages of comalgyodduct. Likewise, we are building a high-quatibmmercial organization dedicated
to bringing innovative, highly-valued healthcardéusions to all of our customers. Our commercialarigation works closely and methodically
with our global commercialization partners, striyito maximize linaclotide's commercial potentiabtigh focused efforts aimed at educating
patients, payors and healthcare providers.

4. We believe commercializing our drugs is a acial element of our long-term success.

For the foreseeable future, we intend &y @in active role in the commercialization of otoducts in the U.S., and to out-license
commercialization rights for other territories. \Welieve in the long-term value of our drug candidaso we seek collaborations that provide
meaningful economics and incentives for us andpamgntial partner. Furthermore, we seek partneis stiare our values, culture, processes,
and vision for our products, which we believe wiflable us to work with those partners successfollthe entire potential patent life of our
drugs.
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5. Our financial goal is to maximize long-ternper share cash flows.

Our goal is to maximize long-term cash fsoper share, and we will prioritize this even iki&ds to uneven short-term financial results
from an accounting perspective. If and when we bexprofitable, we expect and accept uneven earmgjraysth. Our underlying product
development model is risky and unpredictable, anchawe no intention to advance marginal developro@mdidates or consummate
suboptimal in-license transactions in an attempititanticipated gaps in revenue growth. Succdssfugs can be enormously beneficial to
patients and highly profitable and rewarding tacktmlders, and we believe strongly in our abildyotcasionally (but not in regular or
predictable fashion) create and commercialize gresticines that make a meaningful difference inepéd’ lives.

If and when we reach profitability, we dat intend to issue quarterly or annual earningsl@nie, however we plan to be transparent :
the key elements of our performance, including #tean operating plans and longer-term strategidsgoa

Our Strategy

Our goal is to discover, develop and conuiaéire differentiated medicines that improve patislives, and to generate outstanding ret
for our stockholders. Key elements of our stratiegjude:

. attract and incentivize a team with a singular jpestr creating and commercializing medicines ttet make a significal
difference in patients' lives;

. solidify and expand our position as the leadehinfteld of GC-C agonists;

. successfully commercialize linaclotide in collaktara with Forest in the U.S

. support our international partners to commercidlizaclotide outside of the U.S

. harvest the maximum value of linaclotide outsidewf partnered territories;

. if approved for IBS-C and CC, develop linaclotide the treatment of other gastrointestinal disaaerd for the pediatric
population;

. invest in our pipeline of novel product candidedes evaluate candidates outside of the companp-iarensing or acquisition

opportunities;

. maximize the commercial potential of our drugs padicipate in an important way in the economicewkthey reach th
market; and
. execute our strategy with our stockholders' lomgataterests in mind by seeking to maximize longrt@er share cash flows.

Linaclotide Overview

IBS-C and CC are functional gastrointesttisorders that afflict millions of sufferers wdwide. IBS-C is characterized by frequent and
recurrent abdominal pain and/or discomfort and tipason symptoms €.g. infrequent bowel movements, hard/lumpy stoolsising during
defecation). CC is primarily characterized by cgragton symptoms, but a majority of these patieafsrt experiencing bloating and abdom
discomfort as among their most bothersome symptéweilable treatment options primarily improve ctpation, leading healthcare provid
to diagnose and manage IBS-C and CC based onfetgakncy. However, patients view these conditemsnulti-symptom disorders, and
while laxatives can be effective at relieving cquaion symptoms, they do not necessarily imprdsgominal pain, discomfort or bloating, a
can often exacerbate these symptoms. This discbbheegeen patients and physicians, amplified bjep&' embarrassment to discuss all of
their gastrointestinal symptoms, often delays disigmiand may compromise treatment, possibly cawsidiional suffering and disruption to
patients' daily activities.
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IBS-C and CC are chronic conditions chamazed by frequent and bothersome symptoms thatatieally affect patients' daily lives. We
believe that gastroesophageal reflux disease, &t0;Eerves as a reasonable analogue to illustratpdtential for a treatment that effectively
relieves chronic gastrointestinal symptoms. Based study performed by M. Camilleri published ir080n Clinical Gastroenterology and
Hepatologyand 2007 U.S. census data, we estimate that in, 2Qp@proximately 40 million people in the U.S. suodig from GERD. The typical
GERD sufferer, who experiences frequent episodégaitburn poorly controlled by over the counterdorcts, will commonly seek medical
care and is generally treated with a proton purhbitor, such as Prilosec (omeprazole), Nexium ifgsarazole magnesium), Prevacid
(lansoprazole), or Protonix (pantoprazole). Accogdio IMS Health, peak sales of the proton pumjbiidr class reached $12.8 billion in
November 2007. The proton pump inhibitors genenattyide relief of key heartburn symptoms withie first week of treatment and hav
favorable safety and tolerability profile. Once GERatients experience relief of heartburn, theyltenbe highly adherent to therapy, taking a
proton pump inhibitor for approximately 200 daygear, according to IMS Health. The relief of boswne symptoms and the recurrence of
symptoms following discontinuation, serve to reie®patient adherence to chronic therapy for fomet disorders, like GERD, IBS-and CC

U.S. IBS-C and CC Opportunity

Based on the Talley and Higgins studiesgliss performed by F.A. Luscombe (published in 2i00Quality of Life Researchand J.F.
Johanson (published in 2007Afimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutjcand 2007 U.S. census data, we estimate th&d,2
approximately 35 million to 46 million people ingtJ.S. suffered from symptoms of IBS-C or CC, obwhbetween 9 million to 15.5 million
patients sought medical care. As a result of the fkan optimal treatment options currently avéglapatients seeking care experienced a very
low level of satisfaction. Due to patients' lacksatisfaction with existing treatment options, albf@f6 of patients stop prescription therapy
within one month, according to IMS Health. It idiemted that patients seek medical care from fivenore different healthcare providers over
the course of their illness with limited or no sesss, as shown in a 2009 study by D.A. Drossmalneddurnal of Clinical Gastroenterology
Many of the remaining patients are too embarrasséiscuss the full range of their symptoms, ordtirer reasons do not see the need to seek
medical care and continue to suffer in silence evbiisuccessfully self-treating with fiber, OTC laxas and other remedies which improve
constipation, but often exacerbate pain and blgatin

Irritable Bowel Syndrome with ConstipationBased on the Talley study and 2007 U.S. cedatss we estimate that in 2007,
approximately 12 million people or 5.2% of the UaBult population suffered from symptoms associatith IBS-C. As shown in a study
conducted by the International Foundation of Fumetl Gastrointestinal Disorders, or IFFGD, in 208 0st 35% of all IBS-C patients report
suffering from some related symptoms daily. Basethis data and the Luscombe study, we estimateuthto 7 million of these patients
sought medical attention for their symptoms. Bamedthe Talley, Luscombe and Johanson studies abid @05. census data, we estimate that
between 5 million to 9 million sufferers have nothsulted a physician and attempt to manage theipgyms with over the counter fiber and
laxatives. Patients with IBS-C who seek medicakaaceive either a recommendation from their pligsifor an over the counter product or a
prescription medication. As shown in a study conelddy the IFFGD in 2007, for all treated IBS-Cigats, there continues to be a low rate of
satisfaction with relief of their symptoms, with®2of patients reporting that they are not fullyiséd with their treatments and 77% of
patients reporting that they were unsatisfied witkrall care by their physician.
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Chronic Constipation. Based on the Higgins study and 2007 U.S. cedatss we estimate that in 2007, 23 million to 3diom people,
or 10% to 15% of the U.S. adult population, weresing from CC. Based on this data and the Johassady, we estimate that of the total
sufferers, only 6 million to 8.5 million patientsftering from CC sought medical care. Almost altloése patients, whether or not seeking
medical care for their symptoms, took an over nenter or prescription treatment, or both. SimitatBS-C, there continues to be a low rate
treatment satisfaction, with over 70% of thosengldver the counter and prescription laxatives mampthat they are not fully satisfied with
their treatment results as shown in the Johansamly st

As shown in the figure below, accordind t&. Brandt in a study published in 2005 in thmerican Journal of Gastroenterologthe
symptoms underlying both disorders can be viewed oontinuum. During a consultation, patients witen discuss only the predominant
symptom, making it difficult for physicians to eftévely diagnose and treat. For most patients, thoation is also accompanied by a set of
symptoms broader than straining and infrequendyoafel movements. Given the limitations of availaioéatment options in addressing
multiple symptoms, physicians tend to focus onrnttost easily treatable symptom, constipation. Ouketaesearch suggests that most
physicians view abdominal pain and bloating addliff to treat. We believe that linaclotide's pleftould offer health care providers the
opportunity to identify, diagnose, and treat thieeotimportant symptoms experienced by IBS-C andh@ints.

4 CC b 4 IBS-C ——
9 million - 13 million illi = i
ilnts 26 million = 33 million patients +
No abdominal
discomfort, ~ : - .
hmhﬂf fullness Abdominal pain, discomfort and bloating

4—— Straining, decreased stool frequency, hard stool —»

IBS-C and CC Opportunity Outside of U.SWe believe that the prevalence rates of IB&Europe and Japan are similar to the
prevalence rates in the U.S.

Burden of lliness. Both IBS-C and CC adversely affect the quadityife of patients, leading to increased absestadrom work or
school and increased costs to the healthcare systecording to both a study by A.P.S. Hungin puidid in 2005 irAlimentary
Pharmacology & Therapeuticand the Johanson study, patients with IBS-C andep@rtedly suffer from their symptoms on averagé a6d
97 days per year, respectively, and, accordingeditrossman study, over one third have experietimdsymptoms for more than ten year:
a typical month, IBS-C and CC patients will missaarerage of one to three days of school or worgpm@ting to Johanson's study and a study
by B. Cash published in 2005 Tihe American Journal of Medical Carand their productivity will be disrupted an adialital four to five days
per month, according to the Cash study. When thel t&f suffering becomes acutely overwhelming fatignts, they seek care at an ambula
care facility. In 2004, CC was the second most comause for ambulatory care visits after GERDpetting to a 2008 article by J.E.
Everhart published ifunctional Intestinal DisordersAccording to the Everhart article, CC accountadd.3 million ambulatory care visits
(when considered as part of any listed diagnosid)IBS accounted for 3 million ambulatory caretgisEstimates of the indirect and direct
costs associated with these conditions range upnafr$i25 billion, according to a study publishe@@00 by M. Camilleri and D.E. Williams
in Pharmacoeconomics

Treatment Options for IBS-C and CCBYy the time patients seek care from a physjdia@y have typically tried a number of available
remedies and remain unsatisfied. Most IBS-C andp@ti&nts initially attempt self-treatment with oike counter medications such as
laxatives, stool softeners or fiber supplementatiswell as attempts to modify their diet. Whiberee of these therapies offer
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limited success in transit-related symptoms, thiésr dittle to no effect on other bothersome symmsofrom which patients are suffering.
Unfortunately, physicians have very limited treatineptions beyond what is readily available topha&ent alone. Physicians typically rely on
fiber and laxatives, which can exacerbate bloaing abdominal pain, the same symptoms from whiahyrpatients are seeking relief and
which are the most troubling to treat. In an attetofhelp alleviate the more severe abdominal spmptassociated with IBS-C and CC,
healthcare providers sometimes prescribe medicatitat have not been approved by the FDA for tivefieations, such as anti-depressant or
antispasmodic agents.

Polyethylene glycol, or PEG (such as Mixaland lactulose, account for the majority of prgstion and over the counter laxative
treatments. Both agents demonstrate an increagteahfrequency and consistency but do not imptaweating or abdominal discomfort.
Clinical trials and product labels document sevatblerse effects with PEG and lactulose, inclugixgcerbation of bloating, cramping and,
according to the Brandt study, up to a 40% incideofcdiarrhea. Overall, up to 75% of patients tgkimescription laxatives report not being
completely satisfied with the predictability of whthey will experience a bowel movement on treatinemd 50% were not completely satis
with relief of the multiple symptoms associatedhagbnstipation, according to the Johanson study.

In 2002, the FDA approved Zelnorm, thetfirsw drug for the treatment of IBS-and in 2004, Zelnorm was approved for the treatrof
CC. Zelnorm is a serotonin 5-HT4 receptor agomigh a mechanism of action completely separatedisiihct from the mechanism of action
underlying linaclotide's activity. As a newly aale treatment option to potentially address softbeosymptoms beyond the scope of
laxatives and fiber, Zelnorm achieved great suctesgising patient and physician awareness of B&id CC. During the five years that
Zelnorm was promoted, total prescriptions in thiegary grew three fold, and in 2006, there wereentban 16 million total prescriptions
written for treating patients with IBS-C and CCc¢axding to IMS Health. In 2006, Zelnorm total salesre approximately $561 million. In
2007, Zelnorm was withdrawn from the market bynitgnufacturer due to an analysis that found a highance of heart attack, stroke and c
pain in patients treated with Zelnorm as compaoguldcebo. Despite modest effectiveness relievbtpminal pain (1% to 10% of patients
responding to treatment as compared to placeboplaading (4% to 11% of patients responding tottresnt as compared to placebo) as
described on the Zelnorm product label, Zelnornteaded in establishing a symptom-based approablidting the need to recognize and
treat, on a chronic basis, both the abdominal amdtipation symptoms afflicting these patients.

Currently, the only available prescriptitverapy for IBS-C and CC is Amitiza, which was apged for the treatment of CC in 2006, and
for IBS-C in 2008. Amitiza sales have been modesbimparison to Zelnorm sales prior to its withdahfsom the market, according to IMS
Health.

Although a significant unmet need existstfetter treatments for IBS-C and CC, there arg few treatments in late-stage clinical
development. The most recent entrant to the CC etigldce, solely in Europe, is Resolor (prucalopriéesolor was approved in 2009 by the
EMA and is indicated for the treatment of CC in weanfor whom laxatives have failed to provide adéguelief. Resolor, which is marketed
by Shire-Movetis, is a serotonin 5-HT4 receptorragblike Zelnorm. Resolor is being launched inestEuropean nations in 2012 and is
currently in Phase 3 trials as a potential treatf@anCC in males and for opioid induced constipat{OIC). Shire has recently announced it
acquired rights to develop and commercialize paéde in the U.S. for the CC indication. The Up&tent covering the composition of matter
expires in 2015.

The Linaclotide Opportunity. Linaclotide is a promising potential treatméontpatients suffering from both abdominal and dipagion
symptoms related to IBS-C and CC. Based on théaliprofile we have observed to date, we beli@vadotide is well positioned to provide
IBS-C and CC patients with much needed reducticabisiominal and constipation symptoms, with a logidance of adverse events, and a
once daily, oral dosing regimen.
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Annually, we estimate that over 30 mill®d-day units of laxative and fiber medications auiechased in an effort to relieve chronic
abdominal and constipation symptoms. Based on malysis of data from IMS Health, The Nielsen Compand abstracts by P. Schoenfelc
al. and W. Chey, et al. for the American Colleg&aftroenterology 2010 Annual Meeting and the 18tlied European Gastroenterology
Week, respectively, these 30 million units are cosgal of 7-8 million laxative prescriptions for gatts with constipation and abdominal
symptoms and approximately 22 million over-the-deu(OTC) laxative and fiber units for chronic ais. Assuming a price comparable to
those for branded prescription drugs for otherrgagestinal indications that are made availablR@dbook and First Databank, the daily cost
for linaclotide treatment per patient could rangerf $5.50 to $8.50 per day, with a prescriptiort ©d$165 to $250 per month. Applying these
assumptions to the potential market as a wholsetB8 million units could represent a potential.lé@nmercial opportunity for a safe and
effective IBS-C/CC drug in excess of $6 billion year. Since many of these 30 million units areta&pisodically or as rescue medications,
there exists a potential upside in the marketefahnual days of therapy increases, assuming entairc patients desire to manage and control
their symptoms chronically. There is also the fdulsi that new patients could enter the marketplas awareness of a new therapy increases.

Mechanism of Action

The underlying causes of the abdominal,pdistcomfort and bloating suffered by patients vdtiver gastrointestinal disorders like IBS-C
and CC are poorly understood. Further, becausemiitierapeutic agents offer limited improvemerthigse symptoms, there has been limited
medical research in this area. Since our clinitadiss indicate that linaclotide provides rapid aodtained improvement of these symptoms,
we have invested significant effort to define thecmanisms of linaclotide's physiological effects.

Linaclotide is a 14 amino acid peptide agbof GC-C, a receptor found on the epithelialctiat line the intestine. Activation of GC-C
leads to increases in intracellular and extracalajclic guanosine monophosphate, or cGMP, lee@84P is a well characterized "second
messenger" that relays and amplifies signals rededt receptors on the cell surface to target mitdedn the cytosol and/or nucleus of a cell.
We believe increased cGMP has dual effects ontinsdgunction. First, as the figure below showSMP can exit the epithelial cells to block
pain signaling by inhibiting the pain-sensing nexgrthat carry signals from the gastrointestinalttta the central nervous system (afferent pain
fibers). Second, cGMP can remain inside the epéhetll to activate protein kinase Gll, or PKGMhich activates the protein Cystic Fibrosis
Transmembrane conductance Regulator, or CFTR, bygstorylation, or P, to stimulate electrolyte (Na& sodium, CI = chloride, and HCQ

* = bicarbonate) and fluid (5O = water) secretion into the intestinal lumen. Tésulting increase in intestinal fluid volume decates
intestinal transit.

z 2 . HCO, Ma-
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Our preclinical work supports the above eiddr the actions of linaclotide. Regarding thf=ef on pain sensation, we have found that
increased extracellular cGMP inhibited noxious-siims-induced firing of afferent pain fibers. In dtitth, oral dosing with either linaclotide or
directly with cGMP significantly reduced abdomimpalin responses in a number of preclinical modeks.hpothesize that the reduction in
abdominal pain, abdominal discomfort, and vischyglersensitivity seen both preclinically and clailg is a result of increased extracellular
cGMP, which may reduce firing of pain-sensing negrand thus decrease sensitivity to otherwise plastimuli.

Additionally, in other preclinical studidgaclotide was shown to increase intracellulaMi& leading to activation of channels in
intestinal cell membranes that resulted in theetemr of ions and fluid out of intestinal cells aintb the intestinal lumen. Increased fluid in the
intestinal lumen causes accelerated intestinasifran

Importantly, linaclotide's effects on pansation and gastrointestinal transit/secretierdapendent on the presence of the Gfaceptor
in preclinical experiments where the GC-C receptas genetically deleted, the effects of linaclotiepain sensation and secretion were
eliminated.

The binding and activity of linaclotidetae GC-C receptor is highly specific. Linaclotidgsmo effect on the serotonin system, unlike
Zelnorm, Resolor, cisapride (Propulsid, which wagraved for heartburn caused by GERD), or alosdfrotronex, which was approved for
irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea), each ofshhwork through serotonin receptors in the intestiZzelnorm, Propulsid and Lotronex were
all withdrawn from the market because of safetyceons.

Clinical

Linaclotide completed the efficacy portiofits clinical development program in 2010, an@ tang-term safety studies are still ongoing.
The clinical development program includes over @,80bjects across 13 studies: three in healthyntedrs, four in IBS-C patients, four in CC
patients, and two long-term safety studies in IB&x@ CC patients.

Manufacturing and Supply

It is our goal to produce consistent, higlality, stable drugs on a worldwide basis, wittiuredancy built into each critical step of the
process. We currently manage our global supplynetlotide through a combination of independentitipiarty suppliers and our collaboration
partners. We believe that we have sufficient indeoexpertise to manage our global supply chaitirfaclotide on an ongoing basis to meet
worldwide demand, should it be approved by the laguy authorities.

Pharmaceutical manufacturing consists ifelphases-manufacturing of the active pharmaceutical ingretlier API (sometimes referr
to as drug substance), manufacturing of drug prioglnd manufacturing of finished goods. We haveredtento arrangements with multiple
contract manufacturers for the production of lieéidie API, as it is a fundamental element of otaitsegy to maintain redundancy at all critical
steps in the manufacturing supply chain. Linackigla 14 amino acid peptide, manufactured vialgaiase synthesis using naturally occur
amino acids. We have entered into commercial supgigements with PolyPeptide Laboratories, Inc.Raoigpeptide Laboratories (SWEDE
AB, and with Corden Pharma Colorado, Inc. (forméatpwn as Roche Colorado Corporation), each fontaaufacture of the linaclotide API
that is being used to seek regulatory approvahatlotide, and, pending any such approval, thiitheiincorporated into the finished product
for commercialization in both our partnered and wupartnered territories. We continue to pursuetih@l commercial supply agreements
with additional manufacturers for linaclotide ARrfU.S. and worldwide use. We believe our comméstigpliers will have the capabilities to
produce linaclotide API in accordance with currgobd manufacturing practices, or GMP, on a sufficiale to meet our commercial needs.
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Each of our collaboration partners, ForABtirall and Astellas, is responsible for linadgt drug product and finished goods
manufacturing in its respective territory. In adttit we have entered into an agreement with Alntearia Services Limited, or Almac, for
linaclotide drug product manufacturing in the parftshe world outside of our partnered territordesl to introduce redundancy into our supply
chain within our partnered territories. We will dependent upon the success of our partners andcAm@aoducing drug product for
commercial sale.

We believe our efforts to date have led formulation that is both cost effective and ableneet the stability requirements for
pharmaceutical products. Our work in this areadnaated an opportunity to seek additional intellatproperty protections around the
linaclotide program. In conjunction with Forest, hvave filed patent applications worldwide to cotrex current commercial formulation of
linaclotide as well as related formulations. Ifsbeclaims are allowed, they would expire in 202thanU.S. These patent rights would be
subject to any potential patent term adjustmenextensions and/or supplemental protection ceatiéis extending such term extensions in
countries where such extensions may become awailabl

Sales and Marketing

For the foreseeable future, we intend teettgp and commercialize our drugs in the U.S. alomeith partners, and will evaluate our
commercialization opportunities for other territei In executing our strategy, our goal is to resagnificant control over the development
process and commercial execution for our prodwdtile participating in a meaningful way in the eoarics of all drugs that we bring to the
market.

We plan to develop our commercial orgamiraaround linaclotide, with the intent to leverdbis organization for future products. To
deliver on our strategy, we intend to create a4gjgality commercial organization dedicated to bimgginnovative, highly-valued healthcare
solutions to our customers, including patients,gpayand healthcare providers.

We are coordinating efforts with our parnEorest in North America and Almirall in Euromeensure that we launch an integrated, gl
linaclotide brand. By leveraging the knowledge-basd expertise of our experienced commercial tezanttze insights of each of our
linaclotide commercialization partners, we contibuemprove our collective marketing strategies.

Maximizing the Value of Linaclotide in the U

We plan to establish linaclotide, if appedyas the prescription product of choice for BBt®-C and CC. We, together with our U.S.
commercialization partner Forest, plan to build emass that patients suffer from multiple, hightyHersome symptoms of IBS-and CC, an
that these symptoms can dramatically impair suféiguality of life.

Forest has demonstrated the ability to sssfully launch innovative products, penetrate printare markets and drive the growth of
multiple brands in highly competitive markets. Rirerings large and experienced sales, nationaluaits, trade relations, operations and
management teams providing ready access to priozaeyoffices and key managed care accounts. Weuéddéng our own sales force and
commercial presence to complement Forest's exigtimgary care expertise. We have strong alignmetft Rorest and a shared vision for
linaclotide. The combined Ironwood and Forest meinketeam possesses a deep understanding of gastrolegy and primary care custome
and this knowledge will be utilized to develop angeelling medical message and promotional campaighe hope of delivering an effective
treatment for patients suffering with the defingygnptoms of IBS-C and CC.
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In order to maximize linaclotide's valuetlie U.S. as quickly after commercial launch assjiibs, and to sustain such value over the long
term, we and Forest will focus our initial commailization efforts in the following areas:

. Physician educatio: Our physician education plan encompasses etfortsach out to over 70,000 of the highest presugi
primary care physicians and gastroenterologistierlJ.S., with the goal of helping them identifypagpriate patients, educating
them on linaclotide's clinical profile and enablithgm to assess the clinical benefits of linackatid

. Patient educatio: Our patient education plan encompasses effomsach out to IB-C and CC patients to enable them to rr
effectively communicate symptoms and treatmenbhystio their physicians. Based on our researctate,dhese patients are
high information seekers, pursuing multiple infotioa channels in order to learn about the disetete and potential therapies
in order to have productive conversations withrtideictors.

. Payor value propositionBased on the existing burden of illness assatiaiéh IBS-C and CC, and the efficacy and safety
profile of linaclotide that was demonstrated throitg clinical development program, we and Foretgrid to provide a strong
value proposition to governmental authorities, gi@vhealth insurers and other third-party payors.uierstand that sufficient
access and reasonable reimbursement are esserttideir to optimize linaclotide's commercial potint

Maximizing the Value of Linaclotide Outside the {

We have out-licensed commercialization tsgbr territories outside of the U.S. to AlmirallEurope and Astellas in Japan, South Korea,
Taiwan, Thailand, the Philippines and Indonesia.

Almirall provides access to the highesiepbl European markets with an established dpegdence in each of the United Kingdom,
Italy, France, Germany and Spain, and also hassepce in Austria, Belgium, the Nordics, Polandfi®al and Switzerland. Almirall plans to
coordinate sales and marketing efforts from itdreg¢office in an effort to ensure consistencyted bverall brand strategy and objectively
assess performance. Almirall's knowledge of thallatarkets should help to facilitate regulatoryess; reimbursement and market penetration
through a customized approach to implementing ptimmal and selling campaigns in the E.U.

Astellas is one of Japan's largest pharotaszd companies and has top commercial capalsilitidboth primary care and specialty
categories throughout Asia. Their demonstratedtpltd market innovative medicines and their grogvgastrointestinal franchise in Japan
make them an ideal partner for Ironwood.

We have retained all rights to linaclotméside of the territories discussed above andoméirtue to evaluate partnership opportunities in
those unpartnered regions.

Pipeline Strategy

We invest significant effort defining arefining our research and development process authireg internally our approach to drug-
making. We favor programs with early decision pgjntell validated targets, predictive preclinicaldels, initial chemical leads and clear
paths to approval, all in the context of a targetpict profile that can address significant unmratraderserved clinical needs. We emphasize
data-driven decision making, strive to advancesoninate projects early based on clearly defindd@go criteria, prioritize programs at all
stages and fluidly allocate our capital to the nppeimising programs. We continue to work diligertdyensure this disciplined approach is
ingrained in our culture and processes and expatolur research productivity will continue to irape as our team gains more experience and
capabilities. Moreover, we hope that as our pasai@hstyle of drug-making becomes better validatedl more widely known, we will be able
to attract additional like-minded researchers to fur cause.
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To date, almost all of our product canddddtave been discovered internally. We believelmeoovery team has created a number of
promising candidates over the past few years aadi@eeloped an extensive intellectual propertytesteeach of these areas.

In addition we have ilieensed, and are actively seeking to identify iddal, attractive external opportunities. We a#lithe same critici
filters for investment when evaluating externalgraims as we do with our own, internally-discoveraddidates.

Pipeline

We aim to create differentiated, first-lass/best-in-class medicines that provide relief elrar therapeutic benefits to patients suffering
from chronic diseases. To support this vision, weehongoing efforts to identify product candidates strengthen our pipeline, including
treatments for gastrointestinal disorders, CNSrdiss, respiratory disease and cardiovascular skseéanaclotide is our only product candid
that has demonstrated clinical proof of concept.N&fee several early development candidates in pieltherapeutic areas, including
gastrointestinal disease, CNS disorders and raspjrdisease, including IW-9179, which is in eadvelopment for the treatment of painful
gastrointestinal disorders of the small intestinehsas dyspepsia and gastroparesis. We are aldoctorg discovery research in the afore-
mentioned therapeutic areas, as well as in theafreardiovascular disease.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We actively seek to protect the proprietaghnology that we consider important to our bes#) including pursuing patents that cover our
products and compositions, their methods of usetlagrocesses for their manufacture, as well go#rer relevant inventions and
improvements that are commercially important todbeelopment of our business. We also rely on tesdeets that may be important to the
development of our business.

Our success will depend significantly om ahility to obtain and maintain patent and otheppietary protection for the technology,
inventions and improvements we consider importamur business; defend our patents; preserve thfgdeatiality of our trade secrets; and
operate without infringing the patents and projrgtights of third parties.

Linaclotide and GC-C Patent Portfolio

Our linaclotide patent portfolio is currgntomposed of eight issued U.S. patents, two gdBuropean patents (each of which has been
validated in 31 European countries and in Hong Kpagranted Japanese patent, 11 issued pateottseinforeign jurisdictions, and numerous
pending provisional, U.S. non-provisional, foregm PCT patent applications. We own all of theagispatents and own or jointly own all of
the pending applications.

The issued U.S. patents, which will exfietween 2024 and 2028, contain claims directetddinaclotide molecule, pharmaceutical
compositions thereof, methods of using linaclotimlé&reat gastrointestinal disorders and processeaméking the molecule. If our pending
patent application covering the current commeifciahulation of linaclotide is allowed, it will exga in August 2029 or later, based upon a
patent term adjustment. The granted European gatghtch will expire in 2024, contain claims diredtto the linaclotide molecule,
pharmaceutical compositions thereof and uses atlatide to prepare medicaments for treating gasestinal disorders. The pending
provisional, U.S. non-provisional, foreign and P&3jplications contain claims directed to linaclotael related molecules, pharmaceutical
formulations thereof, methods of using linaclotiddreat various diseases and disorders and prexéssmaking the molecule. These patent
applications, if issued, will expire between 2024 2031.
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The patent term of a patent that coverB@A-approved drug may also be eligible for patentt extension, which permits patent term
restoration as compensation for the patent tertrdiasng the FDA regulatory review process. ThedHaiVaxman Act permits a patent term
extension of up to five years beyond the expiratibthe patent. The length of the patent term esitemis related to the length of time the drug
is under regulatory review. Patent extension caertgnd the remaining term of a patent beyonda tdt14 years from the date of product
approval and only one patent applicable to an afggt@rug may be extended. Similar provisions agélalvle in Europe and other foreign
jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent tlmatess an approved drug. We expect to apply formidéem extensions for some of our curr
patents, depending upon the length of clinicaldréand other factors involved in the submissioaNDA.

In addition to the patents and patent agfitins related to linaclotide, we currently hawe issued U.S. patents and a number of pending
provisional, U.S. non-provisional, foreign and P&jplications directed to other GCagonist molecules, pharmaceutical compositioasetf,
methods of using these molecules to treat varitesesades and disorders and processes of syntheigimgolecules. One of these two patents
was issued in January 2012, and it covers the usiecanatide, another GC-C agonist, for the trestnof IBS-C and constipation. Both of the
issued U.S. patents will expire in 2024. The pasguications, if issued, will expire between 2@2wl 2029.

Additional Intellectual Property

Our pipeline patent portfolio is currentigmposed of three issued U.S. patents; five ispagehts in other foreign jurisdictions; and
numerous pending provisional, U.S. non-provisiof@akign and PCT patent applications. We own athefissued patents and own or jointly
own all of the pending applications. The issued. pa8ents expire in 2022, 2024 and 2026. The farmigued patents expire in 2024 and 2026.
The pending patent applications, if issued, wilbiex between 2024 and 2032.

The term of individual patents depends ughenlegal term of the patents in the countriestiich they are obtained. In most countries in
which we file, the patent term is 20 years fromdhage of filing the non-provisional application.thee U.S., a patent's term may be lengthened
by patent term adjustment, which compensates afg&téor administrative delays by the U.S. Patadt Brademark Office in granting a pate
or may be shortened if a patent is terminally @disoked over an earlier-filed patent. We also expeetpply for patent term extensions for some
of our patents once issued, depending upon theéhaiglinical trials and other factors involvedthre submission of an NDA.

Government Regulation

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products alges to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FatlEpod, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other
federal and state statutes and regulations, goaerong other things, the research, developmeningesnanufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, disttion, post-approval monitoring and reporting, png, and import and export of
pharmaceutical products. The FDA has very broadreafment authority and failure to abide by applieabgulatory requirements can result in
administrative or judicial sanctions being imposadus, including warning letters, refusals of gomeent contracts, clinical holds, civil
penalties, injunctions, restitution, disgorgemeprofits, recall or seizure of products, totalpartial suspension of production or distribution,
withdrawal of approval, refusal to approve pendapglications, and criminal prosecution.
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FDA Approval Process

We believe that our product candidatedufiag linaclotide, will be regulated by the FDA ésugs. No manufacturer may market a new
drug until it has submitted an NDA to the FDA, ahd FDA has approved it. The steps required beferd-DA may approve an NDA
generally include:

. preclinical laboratory tests and animal tests catetliin compliance with FDA's good laboratory pigerequirements;

. development, manufacture and testing of activerphaeutical product and dosage forms suitable fardruuse in compliance
with current GMP;

. the submission to the FDA of an IND for human dalitesting, which must become effective before &nimlinical trials may
begin;

. adequate and w-controlled human clinical trials to establish tladesy and efficacy of the product for its specifitended us
(s);

. the submission to the FDA of an NDA; and

. FDA review and approval of the ND,

Preclinical tests include laboratory evélwaof the product candidate, as well as animadists to assess the potential safety and efficacy
of the product candidate. The conduct of the pirgeal tests must comply with federal regulationsl @equirements including good laboratory
practices. We must submit the results of the pmexal tests, together with manufacturing informatianalytical data and a proposed clinical
trial protocol to the FDA as part of an IND, whiotust become effective before we may commence hutirapal trials. The IND will
automatically become effective 30 days after iteigt by the FDA, unless the FDA raises concermjuesstions before that time about the
conduct of the proposed trial. In such a case, wstmvork with the FDA to resolve any outstandingaarns before the clinical trial can
proceed. We cannot be sure that submission of Bnwi result in the FDA allowing clinical trialsotbegin, or that, once begun, issues will
arise that will cause us or FDA to suspend or teat& such trials. The study protocol and informaalsent information for patients in clinical
trials must also be submitted to an institutiomaiew board for approval. An institutional reviewdsd may also require the clinical trial at the
site to be halted, either temporarily or permaneridr failure to comply with the institutional rew board's requirements or if the trial has t
associated with unexpected serious harm to subjsntsstitutional review board may also imposeastbonditions on the trial.

Clinical trials involve the administratiaf the product candidate to humans under the sigienvof qualified investigators, generally
physicians not employed by or under the trial spdascontrol. Clinical trials are typically condedtin three sequential phases, though the
phases may overlap or be combined. In Phase Initta introduction of the drug into healthy humanbjects, the drug is usually tested for
safety (adverse effects), dosage tolerance anarattalogic action, as well as to understand howdthg is taken up by and distributed within
the body. Phase 2 usually involves studies in @duinpatient population (individuals with the diseainder study) to:

. evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of the drug &pecific, targeted conditions;

. determine dosage tolerance and appropriate dosagelbas other important information about hovdésign larger Phase 3
trials; and

. identify possible adverse effects and safety ri

Phase 3 trials generally further evaluéitéaal efficacy and test for safety within an expl@d patient population. The conduct of clinical
trials is subject to extensive regulation, inclygdoompliance with good clinical practice regulas@nd guidance.
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The FDA may order the temporary or perméd&tontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeimpose other sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acamde with FDA requirements or presents an unackkptisk to the clinical trial patients. We
may also suspend clinical trials at any time oriotes grounds.

The results of the preclinical and clinistldies, together with other detailed informatiojuding the manufacture and composition of
the product candidate, are submitted to the FDthénform of an NDA requesting approval to market dnug. FDA approval of the NDA is
required before marketing of the product may bégitne U.S. If the NDA contains all pertinent infioation and data, the FDA will "file" the
application and begin review. On October 24, 2@d and Forest announced that the FDA filed theclotade NDA. Most such applications
for non-priority drug products like linaclotide areviewed by FDA within its PDUFA goal of 10 montfi$he current FDA PDUFA target
action date for linaclotide is expected to occudume 2012. The review process, however, may lemdatl by FDA requests for additional
information, preclinical or clinical studies, clication regarding information already providedtire submission, or submission of a risk
evaluation and mitigation strategy. The FDA mayrefn application to an advisory committee for eyievaluation and recommendation ¢
whether the application should be approved. The ED#ot bound by the recommendations of an advisorgmittee, but it considers such
recommendations carefully when making decision$of@eapproving an NDA, the FDA will typically inspethe facilities at which the product
candidate is manufactured and will not approveptioeluct candidate unless GMP compliance is satisfiacFDA also typically inspects
facilities responsible for performing animal tegtims well as clinical investigators who particgat clinical trials. The FDA may refuse to
approve an NDA if applicable regulatory criteri@ awot satisfied, or may require additional testingnformation. The FDA may also limit the
indications for use and/or require post-marketagjihg and surveillance to monitor the safety &icafy of a product. Once granted, product
approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regoty standards is hot maintained or problemsdeetified following initial marketing.

The testing and approval process requirbstantial time, effort and financial resourcesy anr product candidates may not be approved
on a timely basis, if at all. The time and experespiired to perform the clinical testing necessargbtain FDA approval for regulated produ
can frequently exceed the time and expense ofetbearch and development initially required to edla¢ product. The results of preclinical
studies and initial clinical trials of our prodwandidates, including linaclotide, are not necelyspredictive of the results from large-scale
clinical trials, and clinical trials may be subj¢éstadditional costs, delays or modifications du@ humber of factors, including difficulty in
obtaining enough patients, investigators or prodaatidate supply. Failure by us or our collabasatlicensors or licensees, including Forest,
Almirall and Astellas, to obtain, or any delay ibtaining, regulatory approvals or in complying witlquirements could adversely affect the
commercialization of product candidates and oulitglido receive product or royalty revenues.

Hatch-Waxman Act

The Hatch-Waxman Act established abbredliafgproval procedures for generic drugs. Approvaharket and distribute these drugs is
obtained by submitting an Abbreviated New Drug Aqgttion, or ANDA, with the FDA. The application fargeneric drug is "abbreviated"
because it need not include preclinical or clinitatia to demonstrate safety and effectiveness aydmstead rely on the FDA's previous
finding that the brand drug, or reference drugaife and effective. In order to obtain approvad@fANDA, an applicant must, among other
things, establish that its product is bioequivateran existing approved drug and that it has #meesactive ingredient(s), strength, dosage f
and the same route of administration. A generigdsiconsidered bioequivalent to its reference dirtesting demonstrates that the rate and
extent of absorption of the generic drug is nohigantly different from the rate and extent ofalption of the reference drug when
administered under similar experimental conditions.
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The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides incesgtiy awarding, in certain circumstances, cerggall protections from generic competition.
This protection comes in the form of a non-patedtissivity period, during which the FDA may not apt, or approve, an application for a
generic drug, whether the application for such dsugubmitted through an ANDA or a through anofleem of application, known as a 505(b)
(2) application.

The Hatch-Waxman Act grants five years>aflesivity when a company develops and gains NDprapal of a new chemical entity that
has not been previously approved by the FDA. Thidusivity provides that the FDA may not accept/DA or 505(b)(2) application for
five years after the date of approval of previowghproved drug, or four years in the case of an AMD505(b)(2) application that challenge
patent claiming the reference drug (see discudsétmw regarding patent challenges). The Hatch-WawAxgt also provides three years of
exclusivity for approved applications for drugstthee not new chemical entities, if the applicatimmtains the results of new clinical
investigations (other than bioavailability studiést were essential to approval of the applicatibramples of such applications include
applications for new indications, dosage formsl(iding new drug delivery systems), strengths, arditions of use for an already approved
product. This three-year exclusivity period onlgptects against FDA approval of ANDAs and 505(bH@plications for generic drugs that
include the innovation that required new clinicaléstigations that were essential to approvalésdnot prohibit the FDA from accepting or
approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for generic drupat do not include such an innovation.

Paragraph IV Certifications. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, NDA applicants &lA holders must provide information about certain
patents claiming their drugs for listing in the FPAblication, "Approved Drug Products with Therafie&quivalence Evaluations," also
known as the "Orange Book." When an ANDA or 505{pbHpplication is submitted, it must contain one@¥eral possible certifications
regarding each of the patents listed in the Or&8wk for the reference drug. A certification thdiséed patent is invalid or will not be
infringed by the sale of the proposed product Iedaa "Paragraph IV" certification.

Within 20 days of the acceptance by the FibAn ANDA or 505(b)(2) application containing arBgraph IV certification, the applicant
must notify the NDA holder and patent owner that éipplication has been submitted, and provideabtél and legal basis for the applicant's
opinion that the patent is invalid or not infringdthe NDA holder or patent holder may then initiatpatent infringement suit in response tc
Paragraph IV notice. If this is done within 45 dafseceiving notice of the Paragraph IV certifioat a one-time 30-month stay of the FDA's
ability to approve the ANDA or 505(b)(2) applicatits triggered. The FDA may approve the proposedyt before the expiration of the 30-
month stay only if a court finds the patent invalidnot infringed, or if the court shortens theipebecause the parties have failed to cooperate
in expediting the litigation.

Patent Term Restoration. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, a portion of theepaiterm lost during product development and FBWew
of an NDA or 505(b)(2) application is restored ffpoval of the application is the first permitteshumercial marketing of a drug containing
active ingredient. The patent term restorationqueis generally one-half the time between the ¢ffedate of the IND and the date of
submission of the NDA, plus the time between the @& submission of the NDA and the date of FDArappl of the product. The maximum
period of restoration is five years, and the pataminot be extended to more than 14 years frordatesof FDA approval of the product. Only
one patent claiming each approved product is éédilr restoration and the patent holder must afglyestoration within 60 days of approval.
The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, in consultatvith the FDA, reviews and approves the applicafor patent term restoration.

Other Regulatory Requirements

After approval, drug products are subjeatxtensive continuing regulation by the FDA, whilcblude company obligations to
manufacture products in accordance with GMP, mairgtad provide to
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the FDA updated safety and efficacy informatiompomnt adverse experiences with the product, keepioerecords and submit periodic reports,
obtain FDA approval of certain manufacturing ordithg changes, and comply with FDA promotion andeatising requirements and
restrictions. Failure to meet these obligations result in various adverse consequences, both tarluand FDA-imposed, including product
recalls, withdrawal of approval, restrictions onrk&ing, and the imposition of civil fines and ciiral penalties against the NDA holder. In
addition, later discovery of previously unknownesgifor efficacy issues may result in restrictiongloe product, manufacturer or NDA holder.

We and any manufacturers of our produasequired to comply with applicable FDA manufagtgrrequirements contained in the FD
GMP regulations. GMP regulations require amongrathiegs, quality control and quality assurancevali as the corresponding maintenance
of records and documentation. The manufacturinijtias for our products must meet GMP requiremeatthe satisfaction of the FDA
pursuant to a pre-approval inspection before weusathem to manufacture our products. We andhardrparty manufacturers are also
subject to periodic inspections of facilities bg thDA and other authorities, including procedumed eperations used in the testing and
manufacture of our products to assess our com@iaith applicable regulations.

With respect to post-market product adserj and promotion, the FDA imposes a number oferiregulations on entities that
advertise and promote pharmaceuticals, which irgladhong others, standards for direct-to-consuegréising, prohibitions on promoting
drugs for uses or in patient populations that atedescribed in the drug's approved labeling (knawtoff-label use"), and principles
governing industry-sponsored scientific and edocedi activities. Failure to comply with FDA requinents can have negative consequences,
including adverse publicity, enforcement letteanirthe FDA, mandated corrective advertising or camications with doctors or patients, and
civil or criminal penalties. Although physicians ynarescribe legally available drugs for off-labeks, manufacturers may not market or
promote such off-label uses.

Changes to some of the conditions estadadishh an approved application, including changedaditations, labeling, or manufacturing
processes or facilities, require submission and Epgroval of a new NDA or NDA supplement before ¢hange can be implemented. An
NDA supplement for a new indication typically recs clinical data similar in type and quality te ttlinical data supporting the origir
application for the original indication, and the ADses similar procedures and actions in reviewungh NDA supplements as it does in
reviewing NDAs.

Adverse event reporting and submissionesioglic reports is required following FDA approwdlan NDA. The FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisig mminimization action plans, and surveillancertonitor the effects of an approved product
or to place conditions on an approval that resthietdistribution or use of the product.

Outside the U.S., our and our collaboratairflities to market a product are contingent upsneiving marketing authorization from the
appropriate regulatory authorities. The requiremguiverning marketing authorization, pricing andkirsement vary widely from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction. At present, foreignamketing authorizations are applied for at a natidevel, although within the E.U. registrati
procedures are available to companies wishing tiixed@ product in more than one E.U. member state.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 276 emgsyApproximately 66 were scientists engaged iocodisry research, 117 were in our drug
development organization, 16 were in our commeteiam, and 77 were in general and administratigetfans. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union, and we consider mpia@/ee relations to be good.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names agd position of each of our executive officersfaBebruary 15, 2012:

Name Age Position

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D 48 Chief Executive Officer, Directc

Michael J. Higgins 48 Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer &fdef
Financial Officer

Mark G. Currie, Ph.D. 57 Senior Vice President, R&D and Chief Scientific iOdf

Thomas A. McCourt 54 Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales andfChie

Commercial Officel

Peter M. Hechthas served as our chief executive officer andectbr since our founding in 1998. Prior to foundirgpwood, Dr. Hecht
was a research fellow at Whitehead Institute fanB2dical Research. Dr. Hecht currently serves erbttard of directors of Whitehead
Institute. Dr. Hecht earned a B.S. in mathematicban M.S. in biology from Stanford University, amolds a Ph.D. in molecular biology from
the University of California at Berkeley.

Michael J. Higginshas served as our senior vice president, chiefatipgrofficer and chief financial officer since g Ironwood in
2003. Prior to 2003, Mr. Higgins held a varietysehior business positions at Genzyme Corporatimmtding vice president of corporate
finance. Mr. Higgins earned a B.S. from Cornell Wnsity and an M.B.A. from the Amos Tuck SchooBafsiness Administration at
Dartmouth College.

Mark G. Currie serves as our senior vice president of researcllenelopment and chief scientific officer, and lesour R&D efforts
since joining us in 2002. Prior to joining Ironwqdar. Currie directed cardiovascular and centraloes system disease research as vice
president of discovery research at Sepracor Irexi®usly, Dr. Currie initiated, built and led disery pharmacology and also served as dir
of arthritis and inflammation at Monsanto Compaly. Currie earned a B.S. in biology from the Ungitr of South Alabama and holds a
Ph.D. in cell biology from the Bowman-Gray SchobMedicine of Wake Forest University.

Thomas A. McCourtas served as our senior vice president of maiketna sales and chief commercial officer sinceifgintronwood ir
2009. Prior to joining Ironwood, Mr. McCourt ledeth).S. brand team for denosumab at Amgen Inc. fkpnil 2008 to August 2009. Prior to
that, Mr. McCourt was with Novartis AG from 20012608, where he directed the launch and growthetiatm for the treatment of patients
with IBS-C and CC and held a number of senior consiakroles, including vice president of strategiarketing and operations. Mr. McCourt
was also part of the founding team at Astra Merak,lleading the development of the medical affaird science liaison group and then
serving as brand manager for Prilosec™ and NEXIUMIR. McCourt has a degree in pharmacy from the ®rsity of Wisconsin.

Available Information

You may obtain free copies of our Annuap®&ws on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 18rQ Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably
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practicable after they are electronically filedfiwmished to the United States Securities and Exg& ommission, or the SEC, on the Inves
section of our website at www.ironwoodpharma.corbyrcontacting our Corporate Communications depamtrat (617) 621-8304. The
contents of our website are not incorporated bgregfce into this report and you should not considfermation provided on our website to be
part of this report.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this AnnuRéport on Form 10-K, any of the factors describelbw could significantly and
negatively affect our business, financial conditimsults of operations or prospects. The tradiriggof our Class A common stock may
decline due to these risks.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are largely dependent on the success of linaditwhich may never receive regulatory approvalte successfully commercialized.

On August 9, 2011, we and our U.S. collakion partner, Forest, announced that we subnitteDA with the FDA for our lead produ
candidate, linaclotide, for the treatment of IBSu@ CC. On October 24, 2011, we and Forest annduhet the FDA accepted the NDA for
review, and the PDUFA target action date is exgktdeoccur in June 2012. We and Forest are notigtedrio market linaclotide in the U.S.
until we receive approval of the NDA from the FDA.

On September 29, 2011, we and our Europeagtner, Almirall, each announced that Almirall sutted an MAA, with the EMA for
linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C. Our othartmers, including Almirall in Europe, are not pétad to market linaclotide in any foreign
jurisdictions until they receive the requisite metikg approvals from the regulatory authoritiestch jurisdictions

Obtaining regulatory approval is a lengtiypensive and uncertain process. The FDA anddgonegulatory authorities have substantial
discretion in the drug approval process, includhmgability to delay, limit or deny approval of eoduct candidate for many reasons. Potential
risks include those that the regulatory authorities

. may not deem linaclotide safe and effective;

. may not find the data from preclinical studies alidical trials sufficient to support approvi
. may not approve of manufacturing processes antities;

. may not approve linaclotide for both IBS-C and @@ic¢ations in the U.S.;

. may require significant warnings or restrictionsuse to the product label for linaclotide; or
. may change their approval policies or adopt newlggpns.

Linaclotide is our GC-C agonist that aclkié\positive results in each of our two Phase 3 (BiBals and each of our two Phase 3 CC ti
Even though linaclotide met all primary and secopdandpoints in each of these trials, it may noapproved for either or both indications or
for any other indication for which we seek apprdvaim the FDA or a foreign regulatory authority.rifier, the FDA and any foreign regulat
authority may disagree with our trial design or ouerpretation of data from clinical trials, oethmay change the requirements for approval
even after they have reviewed and commented odekign for our clinical trials. The FDA and anydign regulatory authority might also
approve linaclotide for fewer or more limited ingions than we request, or may grant approval ogatit on the performance of costly post-
approval clinical trials. In addition, the FDA aady foreign regulatory authority may not approwve léibeling claims that we believe are
necessary or desirable for the successful comntizatian of linaclotide. Any failure to obtain relgtiory approval of linaclotide would
significantly limit our ability to generate revergjand any

20




Table of Contents
failure to obtain such approval for all of the icafions and labeling claims we deem desirable caddce our potential revenue.

Linaclotide may cause undesirable side effects avh other properties that could delay or prevestriégulatory approval or limit it
commercial potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by lin&dotould cause us or regulatory authorities terimipt, delay or halt clinical trials and could
result in the denial of regulatory approval by Ei2A or other regulatory authorities and potentia@ducts liability claims. Any serious adverse
events deemed to be caused by linaclotide could havaterial adverse effect upon the linaclotid®y@m and our business as a whole. The
most frequently reported adverse event to datkdrclinical studies evaluating the safety and afficof linaclotide has been diarrhea. In the
four Phase 3 clinical trials, our results indictitat diarrhea was seen in 14% to 20% of linacletidated patients, and was the most common
adverse event that led to study discontinuatiodftnto 6% of linaclotide-treated patients. 90% digrets who had diarrhea had mild to
moderate episodes. In our clinical development ganog there have been no serious adverse eventy ipagients receiving linaclotide
treatment that were deemed by a study investigatas to be "definitely related” or "probably reldt to linaclotide treatment, nor have there
been any deaths in any patients receiving linatdatieatment that were deemed by a study investigatus to be related to linaclotide
treatment.

If undesirable side effects are causedpear to be caused by the product, a number ohpally significant negative consequences ci
result, including:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals oétlotide;

. regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the label;

. we may be required to create a medication guidéning the risks of such side effects for distrilbutto patients
. we could be sued and held liable for harm causgatients; and

. our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us fremeving or maintaining market acceptance of linidke and could substantially increase
commercialization costs.

If we or our collaboration partners and other thirgarties upon whom we rely to produce linaclotideeainable to satisfy FDA qualit
standards and related regulatory requirements, esgece manufacturing difficulties, or are unable tmanufacture sufficient quantities o
our product candidates, our development and comniedization efforts may be materially harmed.

We do not currently possess internal mastufing capacity—we use contract manufacturersaaufacture our clinical and commercial
supplies. With respect to the manufacturing ofdindde API, we have entered into commercial suggyeements with PolyPeptide
Laboratories, Inc. and Polypeptide Laboratories ERMEN) AB and with Corden Pharma Colorado, Inc.rtferly known as Roche Colorado
Corporation), each for the manufacture of the lioiéde API that is being used to seek regulatonyrapal of linaclotide, and, pending any such
approval, that will be incorporated into the fireshproduct for commercialization in both our parémeand our unpartnered territories.
However, if we change or add manufacturers, thalaeggry authorities in each territory must apprévese manufacturers' facilities and
processes prior to use, which may require compéiangpections, and the new manufacturers would tabe educated in or independently
develop the processes necessary for the produatiimaclotide. While we believe we will have argiaments to produce a sufficient amount of
AP, if we lose a manufacturer, it would take usulastantial amount of time to identify and devedalationship with an alternative
manufacturer.

21




Table of Contents

These third party manufacturers acquiredinematerials for the API from a limited numbersolurces. Any curtailment in the availability
of these raw materials could result in productioother delays with consequent adverse effectssomuaddition, changes in raw material
suppliers may also result in production delaysighér raw material costs.

Upon production of our API, each of ourlabbration partners, Forest, Almirall and Astelliasiesponsible for completing the
manufacturing process of linaclotide in its respecterritory, which consists of finishing linacidé into capsules and into final packaging. In
addition, we have entered into an agreement withatl Pharma Services Limited, or Almac, to comptleéedrug product manufacturing
process of linaclotide in the parts of the worldside of our partnered territories and to introdrestundancy into our supply chain within our
partnered territories. We will be dependent upangiccess of our partners and Almac in producindymt for commercial sale. No party has
experience producing drug product for linaclotitdéud commercial scale, and there can be no assgrghat commercial scale manufacturing
capacity will be achieved.

The manufacture of pharmaceutical prodrexgsiires significant expertise and capital investimiecluding the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. Katwrers of pharmaceutical products often encaudiféculties in commercial productio
These problems include difficulties with producticosts and yields, quality control, including sti##piof the product and quality assurance
testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as astompliance with federal, state and foreign ratins, and the challenges associated with
complex supply chain management. If our manufacsugacounter difficulties or otherwise fail to cagpith their obligations to us, our
ability to obtain FDA or EMA approval, and marketdamaintain an adequate commercial supply of lotétg would be jeopardized.

Each of the linaclotide manufacturers ndedsomply with GMP, requirements enforced by tiBAFRand foreign regulatory authorities
through their facilities inspection programs. Thesguirements include, among other things, qualitytrol, quality assurance and the
maintenance of records and documentation. Manukastwf linaclotide may be unable to comply witegh GMP requirements and with other
regulatory requirements. We have little controlromer manufacturers' or collaboration partners' glimnce with these regulations and
standards. A failure to comply with these requirataenay result in fines and civil penalties, susjg@mof production, suspension or delay in
product approval, product seizure or recall, ohdiitwal of product approval. If the quality of lotatide is compromised due to a
manufacturers' or collaboration partners' failaradhere to applicable laws or GMP requirementroother reasons, we may not be able to
obtain regulatory approval for or successfully coenoialize linaclotide, and we may be held liableday injuries sustained as a result. Any of
these factors could cause a delay in regulatorgniggions, approvals or commercialization of linéidle or our other product candidates, entail
higher costs or result in our being unable to eifffety commercialize linaclotide or our other pretigandidates. Furthermore, if our
manufacturers or collaboration partners fail tavdlthe required commercial quantities on a timegis and at commercially reasonable
prices, we may be unable to meet demand for angoapg products and would lose potential revenues.

Because we work with partners to develop, manufaetand promote linaclotide, we are dependent upbind parties, and our relationship
with those third parties, in our efforts to obtairegulatory approval for, and to commercialize, lioktide.

We co-develop and plan to co-promote lioage in the U.S. with Forest. Forest played aiiggmt role in the conduct of the clinical
trials for linaclotide and in the subsequent cdlletand analysis of data. In addition, since wk @d-commercialize linaclotide in the U.S.
with Forest, we are working closely with them toelep and implement a commercialization plan foatilotide if and when it is approved by
the FDA. Each of Almirall, our European partnerd astellas, our partner in certain Asian countrissesponsible for completing the clinical
programs and obtaining regulatory
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approval of linaclotide in its respective territoRurther, we and our other partners are respanfiblreporting adverse event information to us
and to Forest. In addition, each of our partnergsponsible for completing the manufacturing psscef linaclotide upon production of the
API, which consists of finishing and packaging tlwide into capsules. These functions may notdveexd out effectively and efficiently if we
fail to communicate and coordinate with our parsnand vice versa. Employees of our partners areurcemployees, and we have limited
ability to control the amount or timing of resousdbat they devote to linaclotide. If any of ourtpars fails to devote sufficient time and
resources to linaclotide, or if its performancsudstandard, it will delay the potential approvialegulatory applications for linaclotide as well
as the manufacturing and commercialization of lioiéde. A material breach by any of our partnerswof collaboration agreement with such
partner, or a significant disagreement betweemudsagpartner, could also delay the regulatory apgrand commercialization of linaclotide,
potentially lead to costly litigation, and couldveaa material adverse impact on our financial cionli Moreover, although we have non-
compete restrictions in place with each of ourmend, they may have relationships with other conciakentities, some of which may compete
with us. If any of our partners assists our contpegj it could harm our competitive position.

If any of our partners undergoes a change in contmr management, this may adversely affect our eblbrative relationship or the timelin
and likelihood of achieving regulatory approval andltimately, the commercialization of linaclotide.

We work jointly and collaboratively with Fest, Almirall and Astellas on many decisions retato the development, manufacturing and
commercialization of linaclotide. In doing so, wavie established relationships with several key negmbf our partners’ management teams in
functional areas such as development, quality,laégry, operations and commercial. The successiotollaborations is highly dependent on
the resources, efforts and skills of our partnexstaeir key employees. If a partner undergoesaag@h of control or a change of management,
we will need to reestablish many of these relatigpsand we will need to regain alignment of owealepment and commercialization strategy
for linaclotide. Further, any change of controheainagement may result in a reprioritization of dloéide within such partner's profile, or such
partner may fail to maintain the financial resosroecessary to continue financing its portion efdevelopment, manufacturing or
commercialization costs. In certain circumstanifeme of our partners undergoes a change of chnthave the right to terminate the
collaboration or license agreement and reacquaepartner's rights with respect to linaclotiden#f elect to exercise these rights in such
circumstances, we will need to either establishceygability to develop and commercialize linacletid that partnered territory on our own or
we will need to establish a relationship with a ngawtner. In any of these situations, the timetind likelihood of achieving regulatory
approval and, ultimately, the commercializatiorioéclotide would be at risk or impaired.

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval,may still face future development and regulatafifficulties.

On August 9, 2011, we and Forest annoutitatdve submitted an NDA with the FDA for linaclii for the treatment of IBS-C and CC,
and on October 24, 2011, we and Forest announegdt FDA accepted the NDA for review. Howevermeif U.S. regulatory approval is
obtained, the FDA may still impose significant regions on a product's indicated uses or marketingnpose ongoing requirements for
potentially costly post-approval studies. Linaaletiand our other product candidates would alsaibgst to ongoing FDA requirements
governing the labeling, packaging, storage, adsiegi promotion, recordkeeping and submission fatgand other post-market information.
In addition, manufacturers of drug products andr tlaeilities are subject to continual review argtipdic inspections by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities for compliance with GMP rigions. If we or a regulatory agency discovers/jmesly unknown problems with a
product, such as adverse events of unanticipatestiseor frequency, or problems with a facility afe the product is manufactured, a
regulatory agency may impose restrictions on thadippct or the manufacturer,
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including requiring withdrawal of the product fratme market or suspension of manufacturing. If we,groduct candidates or the
manufacturing facilities for our product candidat@i§to comply with applicable regulatory requirents, a regulatory agency may:

. issue warning letters or untitled lette

. impose civil or criminal penalties;

. suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;

. suspend any ongoing clinical tria

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplésnerapplications submitted by

. impose restrictions on operations, including cosiyv manufacturing requirements; or
. seize or detain products or require us to initeaproduct recall.

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval the U.S., we or our collaborators may never reeeapproval to commercialize linaclotic
outside of the U.S.

We have out-licensed the European rightieteelop and commercialize linaclotide to Almiralhd we have odieensed the same rights
certain Asian countries to Astellas. In the futwre, may seek to commercialize linaclotide in foregguntries outside of Europe and those
Asian countries with other parties or by ourseleorder to market any products outside of the.UsM@ must establish and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oémojtirisdictions regarding safety and efficacy. Apgml procedures vary among
jurisdictions and can involve product testing adchanistrative review periods different from, anegter than, those in the U.S. Almir
submitted an MAA with the EMA in September 2011eTme required to obtain approval in other jurisidins, including the E.U., might
differ from that required to obtain FDA approvahélregulatory approval process in other jurisdigimay include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA approval in the U.S. as webtaer risks. Regulatory approval in one jurisdintdoes not ensure regulatory approval in
another, but a failure or delay in obtaining retpia approval in one jurisdiction may have a negagffect on the regulatory processes in
others. Failure to obtain regulatory approvalsthreo jurisdictions or any delay or setback in atitag such approvals could have the same
adverse effects detailed above regarding FDA agiavthe U.S. As described above, such effectsidtecthe risks that linaclotide may not be
approved for all indications requested, which cdindt the uses of linaclotide and have an advefect on its commercial potential or require
costly post-marketing studies.

Linaclotide may not be widely adopted by patieqayors or healthcare providers, which would advdysienpact our potential profitability
and future business prospects.

The commercial success of linaclotide deigarpon its level of market adoption by patiengs;qus and healthcare providers. If linaclotide
does not achieve an adequate level of market amofir any reason, our potential profitability amar future business prospects will be
severely adversely impacted. The degree of madagtance of linaclotide depends on a number aebfacincluding:

. our ability to demonstrate to the medical commurmrticularly general practitioners, internistsl @astrointestinal specialists
who may purchase or prescribe linaclotide, theadinefficacy and safety of linaclotide as the prgstion product of choice for
patients who suffer from IBS-C or CC;

. the effectiveness of our sales and marketing orgdions and our partners' distribution networks;
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. the ability of patients or providers to be adeglyateimbursed for linaclotide in a timely mannesrfr government and private
payors; and
. the actual and perceived safety profile of linddet particularly if unanticipated adverse eveelated to linaclotide treatment

arise and create safety concerns among potentiahggor prescribers.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable for linaclalie, could hinder or prevent linaclotide's
commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize linaclotidecsessfully will depend in part on the coverage aichbursement levels set by governmental
authorities, private health insurers and othedtpiarty payors. As a threshold for coverage analvarsement, third-party payors generally
require that drug products have been approved &okating by the FDA. Third-party payors also areré@asingly challenging the effectiveness
of and prices charged for medical products andicesv\We may not obtain adequate third-party cayee reimbursement for linaclotide or
we may be required to sell linaclotide at a dis¢oun

We expect that private insurers will coesithe efficacy, cost effectiveness and safetynaiclotide in determining whether to approve
reimbursement for linaclotide and at what levelt@Ming these approvals can be a time consumingapensive process. Our business would
be materially adversely affected if we do not reeepproval for reimbursement of linaclotide fronvate insurers on a timely or satisfactory
basis. Our business could also be adversely affécpgivate insurers, including managed care oizgtions, the Medicare program or other
reimbursing bodies or payors limit the indicatidaswhich linaclotide will be reimbursed.

In some foreign countries, particularly @da and the countries of Europe, the pricing o$qiption pharmaceuticals is subject to strict
governmental control. In these countries, priciegatiations with governmental authorities can tsikdo 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval and product launch. To abfaiorable reimbursement for the indications séwglpricing approval in some countries,
we may be required to conduct a clinical trial tbatnpares the cost-effectiveness of our produatdyding linaclotide, to other available
therapies. Further, several European countries inagplemented government measures to either freemedoce pricing of pharmaceutical
products. If reimbursement for our products is wilable in any country in which reimbursement isgitt, limited in scope or amount, or if
pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our busineould be materially harmed.

We expect to experience pricing pressurednnection with the sale of linaclotide and auufe products due to the healthcare reforms
discussed below, as well as the trend toward progi@med at reducing health care costs, the inogatdluence of health maintenance
organizations, the ongoing federal government @gebatreducing the federal deficit and additiongldiative proposals.

We may face competition in the IBS-C and CC marKatge, and new products may emerge that provideaddht or better alternatives for
treatment of gastrointestinal conditions.

If approved and commercialized, linaclotwi## compete globally with certain prescriptiorettapies and over the counter products for the
treatment of IBS-C and CC, or certain associatedptgms. The availability of prescription compet@nd over the counter products for
gastrointestinal conditions could limit the demaauld the price we are able to charge, for linagdtotinless we are able to differentiate
linaclotide on the basis of its clinical benefitsaur clinical trials. New developments, includithg development of other drug technologies
methods of preventing the incidence of diseaseyrdecthe pharmaceutical and medical technologydtides at a rapid pace. These
developments may render linaclotide obsolete ocaompetitive.
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We believe other companies are developinguyrts which could compete with linaclotide, shibiley be approved by the FDA.
Currently, there are a few compounds in late stiyelopment and other potential competitors aeaitier stages of development for the
treatment of patients with either IBS-C or CC. Ur @otential competitors are successful in compietirug development for their drug
candidates and obtain approval from the FDA, traylatlimit the demand for linaclotide.

Certain of our competitors have substagtigdeater financial, technical and human resoutias us. Mergers and acquisitions in the
pharmaceutical industry may result in even moreugses being concentrated in our competitors. Ceitiggemay increase further as a result
of advances made in the commercial applicabilitfeochnologies and greater availability of capitalihvestment in these fields.

We have limited sales and marketing experience aesburces, and we may not be able to effectivelykagand sell linaclotide.

With linaclotide, we are developing a prodcandidate for large markets traditionally sersgdyeneral practitioners and internists, as
as gastrointestinal specialists. Traditional phamsungical companies employ groups of sales repratees to call on these large generalist
physician populations. In order to adequately asklteese physician groups, we must optimize oyrooiotion relationship in the U.S. and
license relationship in Canada and Mexico with Bireur license and commercialization relationshifurope with Almirall, and our license
and commercialization relationship in certain Astauntries with Astellas. Likewise, we must eitkestablish sales and marketing
collaborations or co-promotion arrangements or eggnificant resources to develop our own satesmaarketing presence outside of North
America, Europe, and those Asian countries. Weeatitly possess limited resources and may not beessfid in establishing additional
collaborations or co-promotion arrangements on @atedéde terms, if at all. We also face competitioour search for collaborators, co-
promoters and sales force personnel.

If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations,encould face substantial penalties and our busineggerations and financial conditiol
could be adversely affected.

As a manufacturer of pharmaceuticals, élengh we do not and will not control referralshefalthcare services or bill directly to
Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payorstaierfederal and state healthcare laws and regupertaining to fraud and abuse and
patients' rights are and will be applicable to lbusiness. We will be subject to healthcare frautlaiiuse and patient privacy regulation by |
the federal government and the states in whichamelact our business. The regulations include:

. federal healthcare program anti-kickback laws, Whioohibit, among other things, persons from stitigi receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ittduce either the referral of an individual, foriteam or service or the
purchasing or ordering of a good or service, forchlpayment may be made under federal healthcagragams such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs;

. federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglyegenting, or causing to |
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddiocar other third-party payors that are falserautiulent, and which may
apply to entities like us which provide coding dnilting advice to customers;

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdahbility Act of 1996, which prohibits executing eh®me to defraud ar

healthcare benefit program or making false statésnetating to healthcare matters and which alqm®es certain requirements
relating to the privacy, security and transmissibimdividually identifiable health information;
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. the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whichregnather things, strictly regulates drug productkating, prohibits
manufacturers from marketing drug products forlaffel use and regulates the distribution of drugdes;

. state law equivalents of each of the above fedavad, such as anti-kickback and false claims laWwglwmay apply to items or
services reimbursed by any thipasty payor, including commercial insurers, andestaws governing the privacy and security
health information in certain circumstances, mahwyloich differ from each other in significant wagad often are not preemp
by federal laws, thus complicating compliance affpr

. the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act whichhiis corporations and individuals from payindfeoing to pay, or
authorizing the payment of anything of value to &mgign government official, government staff memipolitical party, or
political candidate in an attempt to obtain or iretausiness or to otherwise influence a person imgrln an official capacity; ar

. the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, anilasistate laws in certain states, that requirgrptaceutical and medic
device companies to monitor and report paymentts, gind other remuneration made to physicians amer diealth care
professional and health care organizations.

If our operations are found to be in vimatof any of the laws described above or any gawvemntal regulations that apply to us, we may
be subject to penalties, including civil and crialipenalties, damages, fines and the curtailmergsiructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringjuof our operations could adversely affect duitity to operate our business and our
financial results. Although compliance programs patigate the risk of investigation and prosecutionviolations of these laws, the risks
cannot be entirely eliminated. Any action agairsstar violation of these laws, even if we succelbgflefend against it, could cause us to incur
significant legal expenses and divert our managé&matiention from the operation of our busineserédver, achieving and sustaining
compliance with applicable federal and state psiyaecurity and fraud laws may prove costly.

Healthcare reform and other governmental and priegpayor initiatives may have an adverse effect upand could prevent, our produt
candidates' commercial success.

The U.S. government and individual statesaggressively pursuing healthcare reform, aseenield by the passing of the Patient
Protection and Affordable Healthcare Act, as medifby the Health Care and Education Reconciliatichof 2010. These healthcare reform
laws contain several cost containment measuresthéd adversely affect our future revenue, inalgdifor example, increased drug rebates
under Medicaid for brand name prescription drugteresion of Medicaid rebates to Medicaid managed p&ans, and extension of so-called
340B discounted pricing on pharmaceuticals sokkttain health care providers. Additional provisiari the health care reform laws that may
negatively affect our future revenue and prospieetprofitability include the assessment of an airfiee based on our proportionate share of
sales of brand name prescription drugs to certaireignment programs, including Medicare and Medicagdwell as mandatory discounts on
pharmaceuticals sold to certain Medicare Part Cefeiaries.

In addition to governmental efforts in tbeited States, foreign jurisdictions as well avate health insurers and managed care plans are
likely to continue challenging manufacturers' d@pito obtain reimbursement for, as well as the llefeeimbursement for, pharmaceuticals and
other healthcare related products and serviceseltest-control initiatives could significantly dease the available coverage and the price we
might establish for linaclotide and our other pditarproducts, both of which would have an advex§ect on our financial results.
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The Food and Drug Administration Amendmefts of 2007 also provides the FDA enhanced postketang authority, including the
authority to require post-marketing studies andicéil trials, labeling changes based on new saféymation, and compliance with risk
evaluations and mitigation strategies approvechkyRDA. The FDA's exercise of this authority corddult in delays or increased costs during
product development, clinical trials and regulat@yiew, increased costs to assure compliancepuaigit-approval regulatory requirements, and
potential restrictions on the sale and/or distidoubf approved products.

In pursuing our growth strategy, we will incur a veety of costs and may devote resources to potéwfigortunities that are never complet
or for which we never receive the benefit. Our faie to successfully discover, acquire, develop amarket additional product candidates or
approved products would impair our ability to grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we inteadlevelop and market additional products and prodaicdidates. We are pursuing various
therapeutic opportunities through our pipeline. W&y spend several years completing our developofery particular current or future
internal product candidate, and failure can oct@ng stage. The product candidates to which vweeale our resources may not end up being
successful. Our business depends entirely on #teessful development and commercialization of gadpct candidates. We currently
generate no revenue from sales of any productpanchay never be able to develop marketable drugs.

In addition, because our internal reseasgabilities are limited, we may be dependent ygmrmaceutical and biotechnology compat
academic scientists and other researchers torsékease products or technology to us. The sucekgss strategy depends partly upon our
ability to identify, select, discover and acquiremising pharmaceutical product candidates andymtsd

The process of proposing, negotiating amolémenting a license or acquisition of a prodaetdidate or approved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with safi#lly greater financial, marketing and sale®uveses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates amut@ged products. We have limited resources to ifleahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses @&otinologies and integrate them into our curremagifucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licengipgortunities that are never completed, or we fadyo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thietsigp additional product candidates on termswleafind acceptable, or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entailnerous operational and financial risks, inclgdin

. exposure to unknown liabilities;

. disruption of our business and diversion of our aggment's time and attention to develop acquiredymts or technologie
. incurrence of substantial debt, dilutive issuarafesecurities or depletion of cash to pay for asijioins;

. higher than expected acquisition and integratisis;o

. difficulty in combining the operations and personofeany acquired businesses with our operatiomspgrsonnel;

. increased amortization expens

. impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamgemagement ar

ownership; and

. inability to motivate key employees of any acquibeinesse:
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Further, any product candidate that we Biequay require additional development efforts ptiocommercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apylie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchdédates are prone to risks of failure typical
of pharmaceutical product development, includirggbssibility that a product candidate will notdt®wn to be sufficiently safe and effective
for approval by regulatory authorities.

Delays in the completion of clinical testing of amf our product candidates could result in increakeosts and delay or limit our ability t
generate revenue!

Delays in the completion of clinical tegficould significantly affect our product developrheasts. We do not know whether planned
clinical trials will be completed on schedule, ifall. The commencement and completion of clintdals can be delayed for a number of
reasons, including delays related to:

. obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinidal;

. reaching agreement on acceptable terms with praspeginical research organizations, or CROs, tiad sites, the terms ¢
which can be subject to extensive negotiation aag wary significantly among different CROs andltsides;

. manufacturing sufficient quantities of a produatdiaate for use in clinical trials;

. obtaining institutional review board approval tondact a clinical trial at a prospective si

. recruiting and enrolling patients to participateciimical trials for a variety of reasons, incluginompetition from other clinic:

trial programs for the treatment of similar cormtits; and

. signinc-up patients who have initiated a clinical trial loucly be prone to withdraw due to side effects ftbentherapy, lack ¢
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost tthienfollow-up.

Clinical trials may also be delayed asslteof ambiguous or negative interim results. ddition, a clinical trial may be suspended or
terminated by us, an institutional review boardregeing the clinical trial at a clinical trial s@ith respect to that site), the FDA, or other
regulatory authorities due to a number of factorduding:

. failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangih regulatory requirements or the study protsgol

. inspection of the clinical trial operations or triites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold;

. unforeseen safety issues; and

. lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicallt

Additionally, changes in regulatory requients and guidance may occur, and we may needéadhnoiinical trial protocols to reflect
these changes. Each protocol amendment requitsifiomal review board review and approval, whinhy adversely impact the costs, timing
or successful completion of the associated clirtidals. If we experience delays in completionforé terminate any of our clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for our product candidate beafiarmed, and our ability to generate productmegs will be delayed. In addition, many
of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delahéncommencement or completion of clinical trialsyraso ultimately lead to the denial of
regulatory approval.
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We may not be able to manage our business effeltifave lose any of our current management teamibwe are unable to attract and
motivate key personnel.

We may not be able to attract or motivatalified management and scientific, clinical andhoaeercial personnel in the future due to the
intense competition for qualified personnel amoiggdzhnology, pharmaceutical and other businegseticularly in the greater-Boston area.
Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnofenanagement personnel in recent years. If wenat able to attract and motivate
necessary personnel to accomplish our businesstigie, we may experience constraints that wilhBigantly impede the achievement of our
objectives.

We are highly dependent on the developnregtjlatory, commercial and financial expertis®@af management, particularly Peter M.
Hecht, Ph.D., our chief executive officer; Mark@urrie, Ph.D., our senior vice president of researtd development and our chief scientific
officer; Michael J. Higgins, our senior vice presid, chief operating officer and chief financiaficér; and Thomas A. McCourt, our senior \
president, marketing and sales and chief commeoffiger. If we lose any members of our managentesutn in the future, we may not be able
to find suitable replacements, and our businesshedyarmed as a result. In addition to the conipetfor personnel, the Boston area in
particular is characterized by a high cost of lixiAs such, we could have difficulty attracting expnced personnel to our company and may
be required to expend significant financial resesrim our employee recruitment efforts.

We also have scientific and clinical advésevho assist us in formulating our product deveiept and clinical strategies, as well as sales
and marketing advisors who have assisted us it@uamercialization strategy and brand plan for lioide. These advisors are not our
employees and may have commitments to, or conguttimdvisory contracts with, other entities thatyrfimit their availability to us, or may
have arrangements with other companies to assiBeidevelopment and commercialization of prodtiws may compete with ours.

We face potential product liability exposure, arifisuccessful claims are brought against us, we nmiagur substantial liabilities.

The use of our product candidates in ctihidals and the sale of any products for whichol&ain marketing approval expose us to the
risk of product liability claims. If we cannot swessfully defend ourselves against product liabdlgims, we could incur substantial liabilities.
In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outepproduct liability claims may result in:

. decreased demand for any approved proc

. impairment of our business reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. initiation of investigations by regulatot

. costs of related litigation;

. distraction of management's attention from our pryrbusiness;
. substantial monetary awards to patients or otlemeints;

. loss of revenues; ar

. the inability to commercialize our product candetat

We currently have product liability insucagncoverage for our clinical trials that is subjecindustry-standard terms, conditions and
exclusions. Our insurance coverage may not becsefffi to reimburse us for any expenses or lossanayesuffer. Moreover, insurance
coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, anthd future, we may not be able to maintain inscescoverage at a
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reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to praiecgainst losses. If and when we obtain marketppyoval for any of our product candida
we intend to expand our insurance coverage todecthe sale of commercial products; however, we beaynable to obtain this product
liability insurance on commercially reasonable ter@n occasion, large judgments have been awanddesds action lawsuits based on drugs
that had unanticipated side effects. A successadyrt liability claim or series of claims brougtgainst us could cause our stock price to
decline and, if judgments exceed our insurancere@és could decrease our cash and adversely affettusiness.

Security breaches and other disruptions could commise our information and expose us to liabilityheh would cause our business ar
reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our businesscaléect and store sensitive data, including inteli@l property, our proprietary business
information and that of our suppliers and businEss$ners, and personally identifiable informatidrclinical trial participants and employees.
The secure maintenance of this information isaaitto our operations and business strategy. Despit security measures, our information
technology and infrastructure may be vulnerablattacks by hackers or breached due to employeg eredfeasance or other disruptions. Any
such breach could compromise our networks andhfleemnation stored there could be accessed, puldisiglosed, lost or stolen. Any such
access, disclosure or other loss of informatiordceesult in legal claims or proceedings, liabilitgder laws that protect the privacy of persc
information, disrupt our operations, and damagereputation which could adversely affect our busie

Our business involves the use of hazardous materiahd we must comply with environmental laws amdjulations, which can be expensi
and restrict how we do business.

Our activities involve the controlled stgea use and disposal of hazardous materials. Weudject to federal, state, city and local laws
and regulations governing the use, manufactureag#o handling and disposal of these hazardousialatéAlthough we believe that the safety
procedures we use for handling and disposing detimeaterials comply with the standards prescrilyetthése laws and regulations, we cannot
eliminate the risk of accidental contaminationmguiy from these materials. In the event of an@ewgt, local, city, state or federal authorities
may curtail the use of these materials and intéroup business operations. We do not currently tagirhazardous materials insurance
coverage.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Limitations on our patent rights relating to our duct candidates may limit our ability to prevemiind parties from competing against u

Our success will depend on our ability bdain and maintain patent protection for our pradiandidates, preserve our trade secrets,
prevent third parties from infringing upon our prigpary rights and operate without infringing ugbe proprietary rights of others.

The strength of patents in the pharmacaliticiustry involves complex legal and scientificegtions and can be uncertain. Patent
applications in the U.S. and most other countriescanfidential for a period of time until they greblished, and publication of discoveries in
scientific or patent literature typically lags aaltaliscoveries by several months or more. As alt,esa cannot be certain that we were the first
to conceive inventions covered by our patents amdling patent applications or that we were the firgile patent applications for such
inventions. In addition, we cannot be certain that patent applications will be granted, that assuéd patents will adequately protect our
intellectual property or that such patents will betchallenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumednEurthermore, the America Invents Act
(AIA), which was recently signed into law, will malseveral major changes in the U.S. patent statwisthe course of the next few years.
These
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changes will permit third parties to challenge patents more easily and will create uncertaintywétspect to the interpretation and practice of
U.S. patent law for the foreseeable future.

We also rely upon unpatented trade seanatgtented know-how and continuing technologieabvation to develop and maintain our
competitive position, which we seek to protectpaat, by confidentiality agreements with our empgey and our collaborators and consultants.
We also have agreements with our employees andtsdleonsultants that obligate them to assign theantions to us. It is possible that
technology relevant to our business will be indelgenly developed by a person that is not a parsutth an agreement. Furthermore, if the
employees and consultants that are parties to #ggeements breach or violate the terms of theseawents, we may not have adequate
remedies, and we could lose our trade secretsghrsuch breaches or violations. Further, our tsseets could otherwise become known or
be independently discovered by our competitors.

In addition, the laws of certain foreigruotries do not protect proprietary rights to thmsaextent or in the same manner as the U.S., and
therefore, we may encounter problems in protedimg) defending our intellectual property in certi@ireign jurisdictions.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timmconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse eftean our business.

Our commercial success depends upon olityabind the ability of our collaborators, to démg, manufacture, market and sell our proc
candidates and use our proprietary technologidsowitinfringing the proprietary rights of third pias. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued
patents and pending patent applications, whicloarged by third parties, exist in the fields in whiwe and our collaborators are developing
products. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutichlstry expands and more patents are issued sthindreases that our potential products
may give rise to claims of infringement of the paiteghts of others. There may be issued patentisiaf parties of which we are currently
unaware, that may be infringed by our product cdaigis. Because patent applications can take mamg {e@issue, there may be currently
pending applications which may later result in &$patents that our product candidates may infringe

We may be exposed to, or threatened withuré litigation by third parties alleging that qumoduct candidates infringe their intellectual
property rights. If one of our product candidatefound to infringe the intellectual property rightf a third party, we or our collaborators cc
be enjoined by a court and required to pay damagésould be unable to commercialize the applicpideuct candidate unless we obtain a
license to the patent. A license may not be aviglabus on acceptable terms, if at all. In additiduring litigation, the patent holder could
obtain a preliminary injunction or other equitabdief which could prohibit us from making, usingselling our products, pending a trial on
merits, which may not occur for several years.

There is a substantial amount of litigatiowolving patent and other intellectual propeiityhts in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries generally. If a third party claims tkg or our collaborators infringe its intellectuabperty rights, we may face a number of issues,
including, but not limited to:

. infringement and other intellectual property claiwlisich, regardless of merit, may be expensive and-tonsuming to litigate
and may divert our management's attention fromcoug business;

. substantial damages for infringement, which we mmaye to pay if a court decides that the produigsate infringes on ¢

violates the third party's rights, and, if the ddimds that the infringement was willful, we couté ordered to pay treble dame
and the patent owner's attorneys' fees;
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. a court prohibiting us from selling our productess the third party licenses its rights to us, Whiiés not required to do;

. if a license is available from a third party, weynieave to pay substantial royalties, fees or geavg«licenses to our intellectu
property rights; and

. redesigning our products so they do not infringleiclv may not be possible or may require substamt@ietary expenditures &
time.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents, which could be expensive, tinnmsuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or raagert our patents are invalid. To counter ongoirgptential infringement or unauthorized
use, we may be required to file infringement claimbich can be expensive and time consuming. ltibgawith generic manufacturers has
become increasingly common in the biopharmaceuitichistry. In addition, in an infringement or inidily proceeding, a court or patent
administrative body may decide that a patent o$ éanot valid or is unenforceable, or may refusstop the other party from using the
technology at issue on the grounds that our patemtsot cover the technology in question. An adweesult in any litigation or defense
proceedings could put one or more of our patentsiabf being invalidated or interpreted narrowalyd could put our patent applications at risk
of not issuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the Ba&dent and Trademark Office may be necessargt@mine the priority of inventions with
respect to our patents and patent applicationlsoset of our collaborators. An unfavorable outcomdd require us to cease using the
technology or to attempt to license rights toanfrthe prevailing party. Our business could be leariha prevailing party does not offer us a
license on terms that are acceptable to us. Litigadr interference proceedings may fail and, ef’/enccessful, may result in substantial costs
and distraction of our management and other empky&/e may not be able to prevent, alone or withcollaborators, misappropriation of ¢
proprietary rights, particularly in countries whéehe laws may not protect those rights as fullynate U.S.

Furthermore, because of the substantiauatnaf discovery required in connection with inéellual property litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatiém addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiosher interim proceeding or developments.

Risks Related to Our Finances and Capital Requirenmés

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmmer inception and anticipate that we will incur edinued losses for the foreseeable
future.

In recent years, we have focused primanilydeveloping linaclotide, with the goal of suppugtregulatory approval for this product
candidate. We have financed our operations prisn#lriough the issuance of equity and our collabonatnd license arrangements, and we
have incurred losses in each year since our impejti 1998. We incurred net losses attributabledowood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of
approximately $64.9 million, $53.0 million and $2Imillion in the years ended December 31, 2011024d 2009, respectively. As of
December 31, 2011, we had an accumulated defieippfoximately $432.4 million. Our prior lossesmtnned with expected future losses,
have had and will continue to have an adverse tefieour stockholders' equity and working capide expect our expenses to increase in
connection with our efforts to commercialize lir@t@de and our research and development of our @iteetuct candidates. As a result, we
expect to continue to incur significant and increg®perating losses for the foreseeable futureaBse of the numerous risks and uncertai
associated
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with developing pharmaceutical products, we aréblento predict the extent of any future losses bemy or if, we will become profitable.

We may need additional funding and may be unabledtse capital when needed, which would force ugdgay, reduce or eliminate our
product development programs or commercializatidfogs.

Developing product candidates, conductiitgaal trials, establishing manufacturing relatdhvips and marketing drugs are expensive and
uncertain. Circumstances, our strategic imperatioespportunities to create or acquire new devalept programs could require us to, or we
may choose to, seek to raise additional funds.arheunt and timing of our future funding requirensentll depend on many factors, includil
but not limited to:

. the rate of progress and cost of our clinical $reahd other product development programs for lotat® and our other produ
candidates;

. the costs associated with launching and commeziigliinaclotide, should it be approved by FDA,

. if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, thedeof underlying demand for that produ

. the costs and timing of-licensing additional product candidates or acqgidther complementary compani

. the timing of any regulatory approvals of our prodeandidates;

. the costs of establishing sales, marketing andiloligion capabilities; and

. the status, terms and timing of any collaboratimensing, c-promotion or other arrangemer

Additional funding may not be available arceptable terms or at all. If adequate funds at@available, we may be required to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more ofiewelopment programs or our commercializationréesfo

Our quarterly and annual operating results may flugate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be sultgefrequent fluctuations. Our net loss and otiyggrating results will be affected by numerous
factors, including:

. the achievement and timing of milestone paymentieuour existing collaboration and license agreds)

. our execution of any collaboration, licensing aniéar arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive under
these arrangements;

. the costs associated with launching and commezuigliinaclotide and any of our product candidatesie receive regulator
approval of such candidate;

. if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, thedkeof underlying demand for that product and whkalers' buying patterns;

. variations in the level of expenses related todawelopment program

. addition or termination of clinical trial:

. regulatory developments affecting our product cdatgis; and

. any intellectual property infringement lawsuit imish we may become involved.
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If our operating results fall below the egmtions of investors or securities analystsptiee of our Class A common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly or antflugtuations in our operating results may, in furause the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially.

Our ability to use net operating loss and tax credarryforwards and certain built-in losses to rede future tax payments is limited by
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and ifpigssible that certain transactions or a combinatioficertain transactions may result i
material additional limitations on our ability to se our net operating loss and tax credit carryfomaa.

Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Reveabode of 1986, as amended, or the Code, contaés thht limit the ability of a company that
undergoes an ownership change, which is genenaylychange in ownership of more than 50% of itslstmeer a thregrear period, to utilize it
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards @rthin built-in losses recognized in years afterownership change. These rules generally
operate by focusing on ownership changes involstogkholders owning directly or indirectly 5% or ra®f the stock of a company and any
change in ownership arising from a new issuancamk by the company. Generally, if an ownershignge occurs, the yearly taxable income
limitation on the use of net operating loss andd@dit carryforwards and certain built-in lossegqual to the product of the applicable long
term tax exempt rate and the value of the compatgtk immediately before the ownership changenvdg be unable to offset our taxable
income with losses, or our tax liability with cresjibefore such losses and credits expire andftrererould incur larger federal income tax
liability. We have completed several financingssiour inception which may have resulted in a ceangontrol as defined by IRC
Section 382, or could result in a change in controhe future.

Risks Relating to Securities Markets and Investmenin Our Stock
The concentration of our capital stock ownershiptiiour predPO stockholders will limit your ability to influece certain corporate matter.

Each share of Class A common stock and slate of Class B common stock has one vote pee simaall matters except for the
following matters, for which each share of our Gl&common stock has ten votes per share and baoh sf our Class A common stock has
one vote per share:

. adoption of a merger or consolidation agreemertlinng Ironwood;

. a sale of all or substantially all of [ronwood'sets;

. a dissolution or liquidation of Ironwood; and

. every matter, if and when any individual, entity'group” (as that term is used in Regulation 13@hef Securities Exchange #

of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) hasa®phblicly disclosed (through a press releasefiing with the SEC) an
intent to have, beneficial ownership of 30% or mofréhe number of outstanding shares of Class Ammomstock and Class B
common stock, combined.

Because of our dual class common stoclketsire, the holders of our Class B common stock, edmsist of our pre-IPO investors (and
their affiliates), founders, directors, executiaes certain of our employees, will continue to bkedo control the corporate matters listed
above if any such matter is submitted to our stotddrs for approval even if they come to own |és81t50% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock. As of February 15, 2012, the holdéur Class A common stock own approximately 70% the holders of our Class B
common stock own approximately 30% of the outstaga@hares of Class A common stock and Class B constozk, combined. However,
because of our dual class common stock structesetholders of our Class A common stock have appedgly 19% and holders of our
Class B common stock have approximately 81% ofdted votes in each of the matters identified ie list above. This concentrated control
with our Class B
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common stock holders limits the ability of the Gladscommon stockholders to influence those corgonzdtters and, as a result, we may take
actions that many of our stockholders do not vieve@neficial, which could adversely affect the neairice of our Class A common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabDelaware law could delay or prevent a change ohtol which could negatively
impact the market price of our Class A common stock

Provisions in our certificate of incorpaoat and bylaws may have the effect of delayingrevpnting a change of control. These
provisions include the following:

. Our certificate of incorporation provides for a tolass common stock structure. As a result of shigcture, holders of our
Class B common stock have significant influencer @egtain matters requiring stockholder approvajuding significant
corporate transactions, such as a merger. Thiseotrated control could discourage others fromatiitig a change of control
transaction that other stockholders may view asfigal.

. Our board of directors is divided into three classerving staggered th-year terms, such that not all members of the baes
elected at one time. This staggered board strupeneents stockholders from replacing the entirertd@t a single stockholders'
meeting.

. Our board of directors has the right to elect doecto fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of directors or t
resignation, death or removal of a director, wipckvents stockholders from being able to fill vazieas on our board of
directors.

. Our board of directors may issue, without stockbplbproval, shares of preferred stock. The ahiitguthorize preferred sto
makes it possible for our board of directors taiéspreferred stock with voting or other rights cgfprences that could impede
the success of any attempt to acquire us.

. Stockholders must provide advance notice to noraimatividuals for election to the board of direstor to propose matters tt
can be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting. &untire, stockholders may only remove a member pboard of directors for
cause. These provisions may discourage or deteteatinl acquirer from conducting a solicitationppbxies to elect such
acquirer's own slate of directors or otherwisenafténg to obtain control of our company.

. Our stockholders may not act by written consentaAesult, a holder, or holders, controlling a migjoof our capital stock are
not able to take certain actions outside of a dtolders' meeting.

. Special meetings of stockholders may be called bylthe chairman of our board of directors, oue€tkexecutive officer or
majority of our board of directors. As a resulhader, or holders, controlling a majority of owapital stock are not able to cal
special meeting.

. A majority of the outstanding shares of Class B own stock are required to amend our certificateadrporation and a suf-
majority (80%) of the outstanding shares of comrmsitmtk are required to amend our by-laws, which niakere difficult to
change the provisions described above.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corgmrdtaw, which may prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning D8%more of our outstanding voting stock. These @thér provisions in our certificate of
incorporation and our bylaws and in the Delawaraedsal Corporation Law could make it more difficfdt stockholders or potential acquirers
to obtain control of our board of directors oriiglié actions that are opposed by the then-currasntchof directors.
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If we identify a material weakness in our internabntrols over financial reporting, our ability to et our reporting obligations and th
trading price of our stock could be negatively afted.

A material weakness is a deficiency, oombination of deficiencies, in internal control ofi@ancial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroéntir annual or interim financial statements witk be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Accordingly, a material weakness increasesisk that the financial information we reporhtains material errors.

We regularly review and update our integwitrols, disclosure controls and procedures,cangorate governance policies. In addition,
we are required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 02200eport annually on our internal control ovieahcial reporting. Any system of internal
controls, however well designed and operated, sedhén part on certain assumptions and can prantiereasonable, not absolute, assurances
that the objectives of the system are met. If weyur independent registered public accounting fuetermine that our internal controls over
our financial reporting are not effective, or wadativer areas that need improvement in the futheset shortcomings could have an adverse
effect on our business and financial results, &edorice of our common stock could be negativelgciéd.

If we cannot conclude that we have effectiternal control over our financial reporting,ioour independent registered public accoun
firm is unable to provide an unqualified opiniolgaeding the effectiveness of our internal contr@rdfinancial reporting, investors could lose
confidence in the reliability of our financial statents, which could lead to a decline in our starigée. Failure to comply with reporting
requirements could also subject us to sanctionfant/estigations by the SEC, The NASDAQ Stock kédror other regulatory authorities.

We expect that the price of our Class A common ktadll fluctuate substantially.

The market price of our Class A commonistoay be highly volatile due to many factors, intihg:

. FDA or international regulatory actions, includiagtions on regulatory applications for any of oroduct candidates;
. the commercial performance of any of our producdidates that receive marketing approval;

. announcements of the introduction of new produgtasor our competitor:

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetdgy sectors

. announcements concerning product development segutiuding clinical trial results, or intelleciyaroperty rights of others;
. litigation or public concern about the safety of potential products;

. actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quaytarid annual operating resul

. deviations in our operating results from the estasaf securities analysts;

. sales of additional shares of our common stock;

. additions or departures of key personi

. any thirc-party coverage and reimbursement policies for livtade;

. developments concerning current or future strateglii@borations; and

. discussion of us or our stock price in the finaheiascientific press or in online investor commnties.
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The realization of any of the risks desedlin these "Risk Factors" could have a dramaticraaterial adverse impact on the market price
of our Class A common stock. In addition, classoaclitigation has often been instituted againshpanies whose securities have experienced
periods of volatility. Any such litigation broughgainst us could result in substantial costs adliggersion of management attention, which
could hurt our business, operating results andfirz condition.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, includitig sections titled "Business," "Risk Factors" @éddnagement's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" aord forward-looking statements. All statementstaimed in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K other than statements of historical taetforward-looking statements. Forward-lookingesteents include statements regarding our
future financial position, business strategy, busigerojected costs, plans and objectives of managéefor future operations. The words
"may," "continue,” "estimate,” "intend,” "plan,” iy’ "believe," "project,” "expect,” "seek," "amipate” and similar expressions may identify
forward-looking statements, but the absence ofethesrds does not necessarily mean that a stateéseat forward-looking. These forward-
looking statements include, among other thingdestants about:

. our ability to obtain U.S. and foreign regulatoppeoval of linaclotide and the ability of all of oproduct candidates to me
existing or future regulatory standards;

. our expectations regarding federal, state anddareggulatory requirement

. the safety profile and related adverse events ppoaduct candidate:

. our ability to manufacture sufficient amounts ofdclotide for commercialization activities;

. the therapeutic benefits and effectiveness of ocodyct candidates;

. the ability of our partners to perform their obligas under our collaboration and license agreeshith them;

. our plans with respect to collaborations and liesn®lated to the development, manufacture orafadar product candidates,

well as the in-licensing or acquisition of extefpaliscovered programs;

. the success of our clinical studies for our prodactdidates

. the timing of commercializing our product candida

. the size and characteristics of the market potesttiaur product candidates;

. our expectations and desires as to future finapaegbrmance, expense levels, capital raising auidity sources;

. our ability to compete with other companies that@r may be developing or selling products thatcarapetitive with ou

product candidates;

. the status of government regulation in the lifesces industry, particularly with respect to heatihe reform;
. anticipated trends and challenges in our potentakets;

. our goal to execute on our owner related busingssiples;

. our ability to attract and motivate key personiaeig

. other factors discussed elsewhere in this AnnupbRen Form 10-K.
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Any or all of our forward-looking statemerin this Annual Report on Form 10-K may turn aubé inaccurate. These forward-looking
statements may be affected by inaccurate assunspioby known or unknown risks and uncertaintiesluding the risks, uncertainties and
assumptions identified under the heading "Risk étattin this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In ligHttbese risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cirdames discussed in this Annual Report on Form Ifial¢ not occur as contemplated, and
actual results could differ materially from thos#ieipated or implied by the forward-looking statembs.

You should not unduly rely on these forwlraking statements, which speak only as of the déthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Unless required by law, we undertake no obligatiopublicly update or revise any forward-lookingtstments to reflect new information or
future events or otherwise. You should, howeveriese the factors and risks we describe in the respae will file from time to time with the
SEC after the date of this Annual Report on ForakK10

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters and operati@keated in Cambridge, Massachusetts, wheref Rea@ember 31, 2011, we lease and occupy
approximately 170,679 rentable square feet of effind laboratory space at 301 Binney Street. lnalgr2012, we occupied an additional
17,863 rentable square feet of office space atE0dey Street pursuant to a lease amendment thanteeed into in February 2011. In Octc
2011, we amended our lease at 301 Binney Strdease an additional 21,717 rentable square feeffice space that we do not yet occupy.
The term of our lease at 301 Binney Street exgiredanuary 31, 2016, with an option to extend ¢ne tof the lease for two additional five
year periods. We believe that our facilities arigedlle and adequate for our needs for the foresedature.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market For Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Shares of our Class A common stock aresttamh the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the lsgiiIRWD." Our shares have been
publicly traded since February 3, 2010.

Class A Common Stock

2011 2010
High Low High Low
First Quarte! $ 14.3¢ $ 10.17 $ 1491 $ 11.2(
Second Quarte $ 1650 $ 13.32 $ 15.02 $ 9.7¢
Third Quartel $ 16.4¢ $ 10.1¢ $ 13.1<¢ $ 8.9C
Fourth Quarte $ 1435 $ 997 $ 11.4¢ $ 10.0(

As of February 15, 2012, there were 47Idtolders of record of our Class A common stock &84l stockholders of record of our Class B
common stock. The number of record holders is baped the actual number of holders registered erbtioks of the company at such date
and does not include holders of shares in "stragtas" or persons, partnerships, associations, i&ipes or other entities identified in secu
position listings maintained by depositories.

Subject to preferences that may apply tosimares of preferred stock outstanding at the,tthreeholders of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock are entitled to share equabyy dividends that our board of directors matedtaine to issue from time to time. In the
event a dividend is paid in the form of sharesahmon stock or rights to acquire shares of comntacksthe holders of Class A common
stock will receive Class A common stock, or rigtatsicquire Class A common stock, as the case magrigethe holders of Class B common
stock will receive Class B common stock, or rigiatecquire Class B common stock, as the case may be

We have never declared or paid any casdelids on our capital stock, and we do not curyeanticipate declaring or paying cash
dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeablere. We currently intend to retain all of ourdte earnings, if any, to finance operations. .
future determination relating to our dividend pgligill be made at the discretion of our board okdtors and will depend on a number of
factors, including future earnings, capital requiests, financial conditions, future prospects, @wttal restrictions and covenants and other
factors that our board of directors may deem releva

The information required to be disclosedteyn 201(d) of Regulation S-K, "Securities Auttzadl for Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans," is referenced under Item Padflll of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate Performance Graph

The following performance graph and reldtédrmation shall not be deemed to be "solicitingterial” or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor
shall such information be incorporated by referente any future filing under the Securities Actl®33, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
except to the extent that we specifically incorpeiiby reference into such filing.
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The following graph compares the perforngaotour Class A common stock to the NASDAQ Stockrkét (U.S.) and to the NASDAQ
Pharmaceutical Index from February 3, 2010 (thet fiate that shares of our Class A common stock weblicly traded) through
December 31, 2011. The comparison assumes $100wested after the market closed on February 30 20bur Class A common stock and
in each of the foregoing indices, and it assumesestment of dividends, if any.

COMPARISON OF QUARTERLY CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.),
The NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index,
and Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

You should read the following selected ficial data together with our consolidated finanstatements and the related notes appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Weehderived the consolidated statements of opermtlata for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and the consedidetiance sheet data as of December 31, 201104fdfdm our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Regoform 10-K. We have derived the consolidatetéstants of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and thelictated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 from our audit
financial statements not included in this Annuap&# on Form 10K. Our historical results for any prior period awet necessarily indicative
results to be expected in any future period.
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Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statement o

Operations Data:
Collaborative arrangements

revenue $ 65877 $ 4385 $ 34,32, $ 1838: $ 4,60¢
Operating expense

Research and developmen

@ 86,09: 77,45¢ 76,10( 51,42 50,42
General and administrati\

@ 45,92( 27,16¢ 19,03: 15,26¢ 8,87:
Total operating expens: 132,01: 104,62: 95,13} 66,69( 59,29¢
Loss from operation (66,142) (60,76¢) (60,81¢) (48,30 (54,689
Other income (expense

Interest expens (63) (19¢) (319) (291) (232)
Interest and investme
income 45¢ 614 24C 2,08¢ 3,87z
Remeasurement of forwa
purchase contrac — — 60C (900 60C
Other income 90C 995 — — —
Other income (expense), r 1,29: 1,411 522 897 4,24(

Net loss from continuin

operations before income t

(benefit) expens (64,84¢) (59,355 (60,29 (47,410 (50,449
Income tax (benefit) expen 3 (2,944 (296€) — —
Net loss from continuin

operations (64,857) (56,41) (59,999 (47,410  (50,44¢)
Net income (loss) fror

discontinued operatiort¥ — 4,551 (13,319 (7,621 (2,712
Net loss (64,85) (51,860  (73.31) _ (5503) (53,160

Net (income) loss fror
discontinued operations
attributable to noncontrollir

interest — 1,12)) 2,127 1,157 408
Net loss attributable t

Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (64,85) % (52,98) $ (71,18H $ (53,879 $ (52,75)

Net income (loss) per sha
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.basic
and diluted:
Continuing operation $ (0.65) $ (0.63) $ (8.43) $ (6.8¢) $ (7.57)
Discontinued operatior — 0.04 (2.57) (0.99 (0.39)
Net loss per shai $ (0.65) $ (059 $ (10.00 $ (7.82) $ (7.9))

Weighted average number
common shares used in ne
income (loss) per share
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.basic
and dilutec 99,874,79° 89,653,36. 7,116,77- 6,889,81 6,666,60:

Q) Includes shar-based compensation expense as indicated in tloaviot) table:

Research and developn $6,071 $4,11: $237: $1,627 $ 67¢
General and administrat 5,661 3,38¢ 2,72 991 35¢
Discontinued operatic — 59 14¢ 17€ 122
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December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents and availab

for-sale securitie $164,01¢ $248,02° $ 122,30t $ 88,37 $ 87,86(
Working capital of continuing

operations (excluding deferred

revenue’ 138,72:  234,69¢ 107,48! 86,02: 101,03¢
Assets of discontinued operatic — — 2,34¢ 3,817 4,94¢
Total asset 208,97  301,36! 162,45: 138,37: 135,63!
Deferred revenue, including curre

portion 57,427 102,43: 126,00: 66,00¢ 74,39:
Long-term debt, including currel

portion — — 1,76: 1,81¢ 2,752
Capital lease obligations, including

current portior 65E 59C 25E 30¢€ —
Liabilities of discontinued operatiol — — 2,301 1,327 78€
Total liabilities 99,127 141,81 162,44: 95,38: 90,20"
Convertible preferred stoc — — 298,35( 273,40( 223,80:
Noncontrolling interes — — 3,212 5,33¢ 6,49t
Total stockholders' equity (defici 109,85¢ 159,55 (298,34() (230,41) (178,379

Iltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Information

The following discussion of our financiaindition and results of operations should be reazbnjunction with our financial statements
and the notes to those financial statements appealsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-KisThscussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve significant risks and utadeties. As a result of many factors, such asedfset forth under "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual resoitsy differ materially from those anticipated iresle forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are an entrepreneurial pharmaceuticqalpemy that discovers, develops and intends to caoiatiee differentiated medicines that
improve patients' lives. To achieve our mission,amebuilding a team, a culture and processes reghta creating and marketing important
new drugs. We believe that linaclotide, our GC-Grast being developed for the treatment of patigvitls IBS-C and CC, could present
patients and healthcare practitioners with a untheeapy for a major medical need not yet met higteng therapies. Linaclotide is our only
product candidate that has demonstrated cliniaadfpof concept. In August 2011, we along with Foegmitted an NDA, with the FDA, for
linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C and CC. lot@ber 2011, the FDA accepted the NDA for reviemd the FDA PDUFA target action date
is expected to occur in June 2012. In February 2@&2wvere informed that the FDA will not scheduteaalvisory committee meeting in
connection with its review of our NDA. In additiom linaclotide, we have a pipeline of early deveigmt candidates in multiple therapeutic
areas, including gastrointestinal disease, CNSdése and respiratory disease. We are also comgudiscovery research in these therapeutic
areas, as well as in the area of cardiovasculaadés We have pursued a partnering strategy fomewaializing linaclotide that has enabled us
to retain significant control over linaclotide'sveééopment and commercialization, share the codts igh-quality collaborators whose
capabilities complement ours, and retain approxéhgdtalf of linaclotide's future long-term valuethne major pharmaceutical markets, should
linaclotide meet our sales expectations.

We were incorporated in Delaware as Micaphic. (which was the name of our formerly majodtvned subsidiary), on January 5, 1998.
On April 7, 2008, we changed our name to Ironwobdraceuticals, Inc.

Prior to September 2010, we held a majantyership interest in Microbia, Inc. (formerly kmo as Microbia Precision Engineering), a
subsidiary formed in September 2006. Microbia,,Inc.
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Microbia, engaged in a specialty biochemicals essrbased on a proprietary strdevelopment platform. On September 21, 2010, we col
interest in Microbia to DSM Holding Company USAclnor DSM, in exchange for cash proceeds of $9liiom the payment of
approximately $1.1 million of Microbia debt andenést by DSM and future contingent consideraticgedeaon the sale of products
incorporating Microbia's technology.

We currently operate in one reportable fiess segment—human therapeutics. Our human theiegpseigment consists of the
development and commercialization of our produatidates, including linaclotide. Prior to the safeur interest in Microbia, we also
operated in the biomanufacturing segment. Our birfecturing segment, which comprised a much smpHer of our business, consisted of
our majority ownership interest in Microbia. Oumhan therapeutics segment represented 100% of @lagsets at December 31, 2011 and
2010. For the years ended December 31, 2010 art] B&lits of operations of our biomanufacturingnsent are included in net income (lo
from discontinued operations in our financial sta¢ats.

To date, we have dedicated substantidllgfadur activities to the research and developnoémiur product candidates. We have not
generated any revenue to date from product satbsare incurred significant operating losses soweinception in 1998. We incurred net
losses attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticats, dhapproximately $64.9 million, $53.0 and $7t®lion in the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of DecemitePB811, we had an accumulated deficit of approtetgab432.4 million and we expect to
incur losses for the foreseeable future.

In February, we sold 6,037,500 shares ofQlass A common stock through a firm commitmenterwritten public offering at a price to
the public of $15.09 per share. As a result ofdffiering, we received aggregate net proceeds, aftderwriting discounts and commissions
other estimated offering expenses, of approxima§8h.3 million. We intend to use these proceedgémeral corporate purposes, including to
further strengthen our balance sheet in advanteegbotential market launch of linaclotide (if apped).

Financial Overview

Revenue. Revenue to date from our human therapeutiofisegis generated primarily through our collabamatigreement with Forest
and our license agreements with Almirall and AstllThe terms of these agreements contain muttglleerables which may include
(i) licenses, (ii) research and development adisjtand (iii) the manufacture of APl and developtmaaterials for the collaborative partner.
Payments to us may include one or more of thevigtig: nonrefundable license fees; payments foraiedeand development activities,
payments for the manufacture of APl and developmeterials, payments based upon the achievemeetriain milestones and royalties on
product sales. Revenue from our human therapesgigsent is shown in our consolidated statemerpe@fations as collaborative
arrangements revenue. Revenue from our biomanufagtsegment was generated by our former subsididigrobia, which had entered into
research and development service agreements withugahird parties. These agreements generallyiged for fees for research and
development services rendered. As a result ofdledf our interest in Microbia, revenue from oigrbanufacturing segment is included in net
income (loss) from discontinued operations. We ekpar revenue to fluctuate for the foreseeablerfuts our collaborative arrangements
revenue is principally based on the achievementinical and commercial milestones.

Research and development expensResearch and development expense consistpensas incurred in connection with the discovery
and development of our product candidates. Thegereses consist primarily of compensation, benafits other employee related expenses,
research and development related facility coststiind-party contract costs relating to researohpniulation, manufacturing, preclinical study
and clinical trial activities. The costs of revemetated to the
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Microbia services contracts and costs associatédMicrobia's research and development activitresigcluded in net income (loss) from
discontinued operations. We charge all researchdamdlopment expenses to operations as incurredieiyur Forest collaboration agreement
we are reimbursed for certain research and devaapexpenses and we net these reimbursements tagainesearch and development
expenses as incurred.

Our lead product candidate is linaclotidd & represents the largest portion of our redeard development expense for our product
candidates. Linaclotide is a first-in-class commbbeing developed for the treatment of IBS-C anda@@ is our only product candidate that
has demonstrated clinical proof of concept. Linadbachieved positive results in each of our thade 3 IBS-C trials and in each of our two
Phase 3 CC trials. An NDA for linaclotide with respto both IBS-C and CC was submitted to the Fé accepted for review in October
2011, and the PDUFA target action date is expect@dcur in June 2012. Additionally, an MAA for diclotide for IBS-C was submitted to the
EMA by Almirall in September 2011. We have a pipelof early development candidates in multipledpeutic areas, including
gastrointestinal disease, CNS disorders and regpjrdisease. We are also conducting discoveryareldn these therapeutic areas, as well as
in the area of cardiovascular disease.

The following table sets forth our reseaacld development expenses related to our prodpetipé for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009. These expenses relate pymamdixternal costs associated with manufactuiimguding supply chain development,
preclinical studies and clinical trial costs. Castsited to facilities, depreciation, share-basadmensation and research and development
support services are not directly charged to progra

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Demonstrated clinical proof of conce $ 24,697 $ 26,68 $ 41,05:
Early development candidat 13,49¢ 13,067 5,74
Discovery researc 13,45« 6,134 5,701

We began tracking program expenses foclit@e in 2004, and research and development progaxpenses from inception to
December 31, 2011 were approximately $148.1 millidre expenses for linaclotide include both reinsbunents to us by Forest as well as our
portion of costs incurred by Forest for linaclotiled invoiced to us under the cost-sharing promsiaf our collaboration agreement.

The lengthy process of securing FDA appiof@a new drugs requires the expenditure of sutistbresources. Any failure by us to obte
or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals ldaunaterially adversely affect our product devel@mmefforts and our business overall.
Accordingly, we cannot currently estimate with atgegree of certainty the amount of time or money weawill be required to expend in the
future on linaclotide or our other product candédaprior to their regulatory approval, if such apg@l is ever granted. As a result of these
uncertainties surrounding the timing and outcomamyf approvals, we are currently unable to estimpegeisely when, if ever, linaclotide, or
any of our other product candidates will generateenues and cash flows.

We invest carefully in our pipeline, an@ tommitment of funding for each subsequent stdgeirodevelopment programs is dependent
upon the receipt of clear, supportive data. In @it we are actively engaged in evaluating extiyrdiscovered drug candidates at all stages
of development. In evaluating potential assetsaply the same criteria as those used for invedsmennternally-discovered assets.
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The majority of our external costs are $menlinaclotide, as costs associated with lategestclinical trials are, in most cases, more
significant than those incurred in earlier stagesuv pipeline. We expect external costs relatethéolinaclotide program to begin decreasing
provided that no other clinical trials are necegsarobtain regulatory approval in the U.S. If atiner product candidates are successful in
stage clinical trials, we would expect externaltsds increase as the programs progress throughdetge clinical trials. The remainder of our
research and development expense is not trackedoBct as it consists primarily of our internabtx) and it benefits multiple projects that are
in earlier stages of development and which typjcsiiare resources.

The successful development of our prodantaates is highly uncertain and subject to a rermobrisks including, but not limited to:

. The duration of clinical trials may vary substalfiaccording to the type, complexity and novelfytlte product candidate.

. The FDA and comparable agencies in foreign countrigose substantial requirements on the introdnaif therapeutic
pharmaceutical products, typically requiring lengémd detailed laboratory and clinical testing peheres, sampling activities
and other costly and time-consuming procedures.

. Data obtained from nonclinical and clinical acie at any step in the testing process may be sehard lead to discontinuation
or redirection of development activity. Data ob&adrfrom these activities also are susceptible tging interpretations, which
could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.

. The duration and cost of discovery, nonclinicabigtg and clinical trials may vary significantly ovie life of a product
candidate and are difficult to predict.

. The costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revig\a product candidate may not be favorable.

. The emergence of competing technologies and preduntt other adverse market developments may nebaimpact us.

As a result of the uncertainties discussaale, we are unable to determine the duratiorcasts to complete current or future preclinical
and clinical stages of our product candidates agrwlor to what extent, we will generate revenuesifthe commercialization and sale of an
our product candidates. Development timelines, dly of success and development costs vary widale anticipate that we will make
determinations as to which additional programsuxspe and how much funding to direct to each pmgsa an ongoing basis in response to
the scientific and clinical data of each producididate, as well as ongoing assessments of sudugroandidate's commercial potential.

We expect our research and developmens ¢ostontinue to be substantial for the foreseefablee and to increase with respect to our
product candidates other than linaclotide as waade those product candidates through precliniodies and clinical trials. Additionally, our
research and development costs will increase agiliviind full-time equivalents for research andvdopment activities under our external
collaboration and license agreements that areahated to linaclotide.

General and administrative expenseGeneral and administrative expense consistsguilly of compensation, benefits and other
employee related expenses for personnel in ourrasirative, finance, legal, information technologusiness development, commercial and
human resource functions. Other costs includeadallcosts of pursuing patent protection of oweliettual property, general and
administrative related facility costs and professidees for accounting and legal services. Wecgnatie substantial increases in expenses
related to developing the organization necessacptomercialize linaclotide.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finanodamdition and results of operations is based upanconsolidated financial statements preg
in accordance with generally accepted accountimgiples in the U.S., or GAAP. The preparationttdge financial statements requires us to
make certain estimates and assumptions that affeceported amounts of assets and liabilitiesthadeported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reported periods. These essmat assumptions, including those related toweveecognition, research and
development expenses and share-based compengsatiooaitored and analyzed by us for changes irs faotl circumstances, and material
changes in these estimates could occur in theduflrese critical estimates and assumptions aedl@asour historical experience, our
observance of trends in the industry, and varigherdfactors that are believed to be reasonableruhe circumstances and form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities that are not readily apparentfrather sources. Actual results may differ
from our estimates under different assumptionsoodiions.

We believe that our application of the daling accounting policies, each of which requigngicant judgments and estimates on the part
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfulhderstanding and evaluating our reported firemmeisults. Our significant accounting
policies are more fully described in NoteShymmary of Significant Accounting Policigs our consolidated financial statements appgarin
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognitio

Our revenue is generated primarily throoghaborative research and development and licagssements. The terms of these agreements
contain multiple deliverables which may includeligenses, (ii) research and development activitiesl (iii) the manufacture of API and
development materials for the collaborative partRayments to us under these agreements may inchrdeefundable license fees, payments
for research and development activities, paymentthe manufacture of APl and development maternmygments based upon the achiever
of certain milestones and royalties on productssdteaddition, prior to September 2010, we gemeraervices revenue through agreement:
generally provided for fees for research and dgraknt services rendered.

We evaluate revenue from agreements that haultiple elements under the guidance of Accan8tandards Update, or ASU, No. 2009-
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangemerms ASU 2009-13, which we adopted in January 201&.iféntify the deliverables included
within the agreement and evaluate which delivesatdpresent separate units of accounting. We atéouthose components as separate
elements when the following criteria are met:

. the delivered items have value to the customer stared-alone basis;

. if there is a general right of return relative he telivered items, delivery or performance ofuhdelivered items is considered
probable and within our control.

The consideration received is allocated rrgrthe separate units of accounting, and the agigaevenue recognition criteria are applied
to each of the separate units. The determinatianntiultiple elements in an arrangement meet ther@ifor separate units of accounting
requires us to exercise our judgment.

We recognize revenue when there is persa@siidence that an arrangement exists, servioasleen rendered or delivery has occurred,
the price is fixed or determinable, and colleci®neasonably assured.

The determination of whether we should ggize revenue on a gross or net basis involvesmeddg based on the relevant facts and
circumstances, which relate primarily to whetherageas a

47




Table of Contents
principal or agent in the process of generatingnees from our collaboration and licensing arrareyes

For certain of our arrangements, partidylaur license agreement with Almirall, it is recedl that taxes be withheld on payments to us.
We have adopted a policy to recognize revenuefrtbiege tax withholdings.

Up-Front License Fees

We recognize revenues from nonrefundalgdrant license fees related to collaboration doerse agreements, including the
$70.0 million up-front license fee under the Fodtaboration agreement entered into in Septer@bér and the $40.0 million up-front
license fee, of which $38.0 million was received aieforeign withholding taxes, under the Almirdlense agreement entered into in April
2009, on a straight-line basis over the contraotegstimated period of performance due to our oot involvement in research and
development. The period of performance over whighrevenues are recognized is typically the pesiget which the research and/or
development is expected to occur. As a result, ftlen@re required to make estimates regarding dewglopment and commercialization
timelines for compounds being developed pursuaatdollaboration or license agreement. Becausdrig development process is lengthy
our collaboration and license agreements typicadlyer activities over several years, this apprdahresulted in the deferral of significant
amounts of revenue into future periods. In addjtlmecause of the many risks and uncertainties edéedavith the development of drug
candidates, our estimates regarding the periog@dbpnance may change in the future. Any changmumestimates could result in substantial
changes to the period over which the revenues &omp-front license fee are recognized. In Jund 2@ revised our estimate of the
development period associated with our Almirakkfise agreement from 50 months to 41 months andtadjthe amortization of the remain
deferred revenue accordingly. Aside from this cleamge have had no other material changes to oimagsid periods of continuing
involvement under existing collaboration and liceagreements.

Milestones

At the inception of each arrangement thelides contingent milestone payments, the Compsaajuates whether each milestone is
substantive. This evaluation includes an assessofigvitether (a) the consideration is commensurdte @ither (1) the entity's performance to
achieve the milestone, or (2) the enhancementeof@iue of the delivered item(s) as a result gdecsic outcome resulting from the entity's
performance to achieve the milestone, (b) the demation relates solely to past performance anthé&yonsideration is reasonable relative to
all of the deliverables and payment terms withim dnrangement. We evaluate factors such as thetificieclinical, regulatory, commercial a1
other risks that must be overcome to achieve thge@ive milestone, the level of effort and investirequired and whether the milestone
consideration is reasonable relative to all delibégs and payment terms in the arrangement in mdkia assessment. Substantive milestones
are due to us upon NDA approval of linaclotidetia tJ.S., upon the initiation of a Phase 3 studylifaclotide in Japan, upon the filing and
approval of the Japanese equivalent of an NDA thi¢hrelevant regulatory authority in Japan.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU No. 20l,Revenue Recognition—Milestone MetrmdASU 2010-17. Refer to Note 3ummary
of Significant Accounting Policiego our consolidated financial statements appgaisewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional discussion of the adoption of this stddand its impact on our accounting for collabioraind license agreements. As a result of
this adoption, in those circumstances where a antigeé milestone is achieved and collection ofrélated receivable is reasonably assured, we
recognize revenue related to the milestone inntsety in the period in which the milestone is msfed.

48




Table of Contents

Prior to January 1, 2011, in those circamses where a substantive milestone was achieubection of the related receivable was
reasonably assured and we had remaining obligatiopsrform under the collaboration arrangementreeegnized as revenue on the date the
milestone was achieved an amount equal to thecgtydi percentage of the performance period thatlegabed as of the date the milestone
achieved, with the balance being deferred and m@zed over the remaining period of performance etibne payments received prior to the
adoption of ASU 2010-17 under the Forest collabionaand Almirall license agreement will continuebi® recognized based upon this method.

If we do not consider a milestone to bessaittive, the revenues from the related milest@yengnt cannot be recognized when the
milestone is achieved, but must be recognized stragght-line basis over the remaining performamegod. All of the milestones that have
been achieved to date under our Forest collaboratipeement and our Almirall license agreement wehstantive. As of December 31, 2011,
we had not achieved any milestones under our Astétiense agreement.

Payments received or reasonably assured@dtformance obligations are fully met are reéoephas earned. Because the recognition of a
substantive milestone under a collaboration agreétgpically requires the completion of a numbemrofivities conducted over a significant
period of time, the expenses related to achievieghilestone often are incurred prior to the peniodhich the milestone payment is
recognized. When we do achieve milestones thatomsider substantive under any of our collaboratisresmay experience significant
fluctuations in our collaborative revenues fromeiato quarter and year to year depending onithieq of achieving such substantive
milestones.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesxrensed as incurred. Research and developmentsegeamprise costs incurred in
performing research and development activitieduging compensation, benefits and other employséscshardsased compensation exper
laboratory supplies and other direct expenseslitfasiexpenses; overhead expenses; contractuatssy including clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing expenses; and other extegrpenses. In addition, research and developmeense includes reimbursements from
Forest for services performed pursuant to our boHation agreement. Clinical trial expenses inclegigenses associated with CROs. The
invoicing from CROs for services rendered can kgesal months. We accrue the cost of services redde connection with CRO activities
based on our estimate of site management, morgtaosts, project management costs, and investifgger We maintain regular
communication with our CRO vendors to gauge theorableness of our estimates. Differences betweteialeclinical trial expenses and
estimated clinical trial expenses recorded havédoeeh material and are adjusted for in the periaaghich they become known. Under our
Forest collaboration agreement, we are reimbursededtrtain research and development expenses anéttieese reimbursements against our
research and development expenses as incurredeflodeable advance payments for research and deweltpactivities are capitalized and
expensed over the related service period or asgyaedreceived.

Share-based Compensation Expense

We recognize compensation expense fohallesbased awards granted, modified, repurchaseaincelled on or after January 1, 2006,
based on the grant date fair value. These costeeognized on a straight-line basis over the tpuservice period for all time-based vested
awards.

We record the expense of services rendeyatn-employees based on the estimated fair \altlee stock option using the Bla8chole:
option-pricing model as of the respective vestiatedFurther,
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we expense the fair value of non-employee stocionptover the vesting term of the underlying stopkons.

For employee share-based awards, we estitnatfair value of the share-based awards, inousiiock options, using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. Determining the fair valuestfarebased awards requires the use of highly subjeaggemptions, including the expec
term of the award and expected stock price vaatilihe weighted average assumptions used in edioglthe fair value of shafgased awarc
granted in 2011, 2010 and 2009 are set forth below:

Years Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Volatility 49.8% 57./% 62.2%
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected life of options (in year 6.5 6.5 6.5

Risk-free interest rat 24% 2% 2.™%

The assumptions used in determining threviglue of share-based awards represent managerbeat'estimates, but these estimates
involve inherent uncertainties and the applicabibmanagement judgment. As a result, if factorsmgeaand we use different assumptions, our
share-based compensation could be materially diften the future. The risk-free interest rate ugedach grant is based on a zero-coupon
U.S. Treasury instrument with a remaining term Ento the expected term of the share-based aBachuse we do not have a sufficient
history to estimate the expected term, we useithplisied method for estimating the expected tefithe simplified method is based on the
average of the vesting tranches and the contralifeaf each grant. Because there was no publikeidor our common stock prior to our
initial public offering, we lacked comparspecific historical and implied volatility informiah. Therefore, we use a blended volatility rateg
our own historical volatility and that of publictyaded peer companies. For purposes of identifgintgicly-traded peer companies, we selected
publicly-traded companies that are in the biopha&enécal industry, have products or product carnéiglén similar therapeutic areas
(gastrointestinal dysfunction and pain managenmemd)stages of preclinical and clinical developraentis, have sufficient trading history to
derive a historic volatility rate and have simiasting terms as our granted options. We have aidtgnd do not anticipate paying cash
dividends on our shares of common stock; theretbeeexpected dividend yield is assumed to be X¥malso recognize compensation
expense for only the portion of options that angested to vest. Accordingly, we have estimated etqueforfeitures of stock options based on
our historical forfeiture rate, adjusted for knoteends, and used these rates in developing a ftatheture rate. Our forfeiture rates were
5.5%, 5.5% and 5.8% as of December 31, 2011, 20d@&09, respectively. If our actual forfeitureergtries from our historical rates and
estimates, additional adjustments to compensatiparese may be required in future periods.

Prior to our public offering, we grantedck options at exercise prices not less than tineddue of our common stock as determined by
our board of directors, with input from managemeénie to the absence of an active market for oumsomstock, prior to our initial public
offering on February 2, 2010, our board of diregtoad historically determined, with input from mgement, the estimated fair value of our
common stock on the date of grant based on a nuaitidsjective and subjective factors, including:

. the prices at which we sold shares of convertibddgured stock;
. the superior rights and preferences of securigesos to our common stock at the time of each gi
. the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event suab an initial public offering or sale of our comgan
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. our historical operating and financial performance the status of our research and product developeiforts;
. achievement of enterprise milestones, includingesering into collaboration and license agreememd
. external market conditions affecting the bioteclgglindustry sector.

In connection with the preparation of tle@solidated financial statements for the year emdecember 31, 2009, our board of directors
also considered valuations provided by managemethtermining the fair value of our common stoakctsvaluations were prepared as of
March 31, June 30, September 30, November 2 andrbleer 31, 2009, and valued our common stock aD$$®48, $7.36, $11.75 and
$12.05 per share, respectively. The valuations wseel to estimate the fair value of our commonkstscof each option grant date and in
calculating share-based compensation expense.dwd of directors had consistently used the mastnmequarterly valuation provided by
management for determining the fair value of oungwn stock unless a specific event occurred thegswtated an interim valuation.

The valuations were prepared consisterit thi¢ American Institute of Certified Public Accaants Practice Aidyaluation of Privately-
Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compene, or the Practice Aid. We used the guideline corgpasthod and the similar
transaction method of the market approach, whichpare our company to similar publicly-traded comearmr transactions, and an income
approach, which looks at projected future cash $law value our company from among the alternatiliesussed in the Practice Aid. We used
the probability-weighted expected return methodtdbed in the Practice Aid to allocate the entespralues to the common stock.

There are significant judgments and eseématherent in the determination of these valuatidimese judgments and estimates included
assumptions regarding our future performance,ithe to completing an IPO or other liquidity eveamd the timing of and probability of
launching our product candidate as well as detetitns of the appropriate valuation methods. Ithad made different assumptions, our
share-based compensation expense, net loss alubsiger share could have been significantly dciffier

We have also granted performance-baseé sgitons with terms that allow the recipients &stin a specific number of shares based
upon the achievement of performance-based milestasespecified in the grants. Share-based compemsaipense associated with these
performance-based stock options is recognizectipirformance condition is considered probablebfewement using management's best
estimates of the time to vesting for the achievaméthe performance-based milestones. If the dettisievement of the performance-based
milestones varies from our estimates, share-basegensation expense could be materially diffedeamtwhat is recorded in the period. The
cumulative effect on current and prior periods change in the estimated time to vesting for penéorce-based stock options will be
recognized as compensation cost in the periodeofdtiision, and recorded as a change in estimate.

We have also granted time-accelerated siptikns with terms that allow the accelerationa@sting of the stock options upon the
achievement of performance-based milestones spddifithe grants. Share-based compensation expsaseiated with these time-accelerated
stock options is recognized over the requisiteisergeriod of the awards or the implied servicaqukrif shorter.

While the assumptions used to calculateaamount for share-based compensation awards egpisamanagement's best estimates, these
estimates involve inherent uncertainties and thiegtion of management's judgment. As a resutgvisions are made to our underlying
assumptions and estimates, our share-based contipersgpense could vary significantly from periadperiod.
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As of December 31, 2011, there was appratéty $0.9 million and $25.6 million of unrecogrizehare-based compensation, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stastards and unvested stock option grants with tiaeet vesting, respectively which are
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.0 years and 3.66 years, respectivelg. tbtal unrecognized share-based
compensation cost will be adjusted for future clesnig estimated forfeitures. Additionally, at Ded@m31, 2011, approximately $6.3 million
of additional share-based compensation relategtiorts subject to performance-based milestonengstas not yet recognized. See Notes 2
and 15 to our consolidated financial statementatégtin this Annual Report on Form 10-K for furtléscussion of share-based compensation.

Results of Operations

The following discussion summarizes the fators our management believes are necessaanfonderstanding of our consolidated
financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Collaborative arrangements rever $ 6587 $ 43851 $ 34,32
Operating expense
Research and developme 86,09: 77,45¢ 76,10(
General and administratiy 45,92( 27,16¢ 19,031
Total operating expens: 132,01: 104,62: 95,13}
Loss from operation (66,147) (60,766 (60,816
Other income (expense
Interest expens (63) (19¢) (31¢)
Interest and investment incor 45€ 614 24C
Remeasurement of forward purchi
contracts — — 60C
Other income 90C 993 —
Other income (expense), r 1,29: 1,411 52z
Net loss from continuing operations
before income tax (benefit) exper (64,849 (59,355 (60,299
Income tax (benefit) expen 3 (2,949 (29¢€)
Net loss from continuing operatio (64,857) (56,41)) (59,999
Net income (loss) from discontinued
operations — 4,551 (13,319
Net loss (64,857) (51,86() (73,31
Net (income) loss from discontinued
operations attributable to
noncontrolling interes — (1,127 2,12
Net loss attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (64,857 $ (52,98) $ (71,18YH

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2010

Revenue

Years Ended December 31, Change
2011 2010 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Collaborative arrangements rever $ 65,877 $ 43,857 $ 22,01« 50.2%
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Collaborative Arrangements. The increase in revenue from collaborativerayeenents for the year ended December 31, 2011 gechpa
to the year ended December 31, 2010 was primauniytd an increase in revenue from the achievenfahedb10 million IBS-C NDA
acceptance milestone and the achievement of thenfilion CC NDA acceptance milestone in our Forestaboration. In accordance with
ASU 2010-17, which we adopted in January 2011,egegnized these substantive milestones in theiregnupon their achievement. Such
milestones were achieved in connection with the B#&ceptance of our NDA for review in October 200@ther changes in revenue were
mostly related to the Almirall license agreementJuine 2011, we revised our estimate of the dexwsdop period associated with the Almirall
license agreement which resulted in approximatBIl@ $nillion in additional revenue recognized in 20This amount is partially offset by the
revenue recognized upon achievement of the Phagke8tone in November 2010. The revenue from tlilsstone was recorded pre-adoption
of ASU 2010-17 and resulted in the recognition graximately $3.0 million more in revenue duringl®than in 2011.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31, Change
2011 2010 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Operating expense

Research and developmt $ 86,090 $ 77,45 $ 8,63¢ 11.2%
General and administrati 45,92( 27,16¢ 18,75  69.(%
Total operating expens: $ 132,01 $ 104,620 $ 27,39( 26.2%

Research and Development Expensé&he increase in research and development egpdrapproximately $8.6 million for the year en
December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Dexe3ih2010 was primarily due to an increase of@pmately $8.0 million in
compensation, benefits, and employee related eggaassociated mainly with increased headcounty@aase of approximately $2.0 millior
sharebased compensation expense primarily related tmewrhire grants and our annual stock option greade in February 2011, an incre
of approximately $6.0 million in external reseantsts related to the research and developmenpésdsn connection with our licensing
agreements that are not related to linaclotidesedfby a decrease of approximately $7.4 milliosupport of linaclotide, primarily resulting
from lower clinical trial and collaboration expesses we completed the efficacy portion of linade development program.

General and Administrative ExpenseThe increase in general and administrative esp®f approximately $18.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year édeleember 31, 2010 was primarily due to an incredsg@proximately $7.4 million in
compensation, benefits and other employee relatednses associated with increased headcount, seageof approximately $2.3 million in
sharebased compensation expense primarily related tmewrhire grants and our annual stock option greade in February 2011, an incre
of approximately $2.5 million in general and adrstrative related facilities costs primarily duarioreased depreciation expense associated
with the amortization of leasehold improvementewt301 Binney Street facility and improvementsim IT infrastructure, an increase in
external consulting costs of approximately $4.9ionilprimarily associated with developing the irgiraicture to commercialize and support
linaclotide and an increase of approximately $0iian in the net expense from Forest on our callative commercial activities.
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Other Income (Expense), Net

Years Ended December 31, Change
2011 2010 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Other income (expense

Interest expens $ 63 $ (196 $ 13: 67.%
Interest and investment incor 45€ 614 (158 (25.9)%
Other income 90C 99: (93 (9.9%

Total other income (expense), 1 $ 1,29¢ $ 1,411 $ (11§ (8.49%

Interest Expense. The decrease in interest expense of approxiyndfel million for the year ended December 31,206&mpared to the
year ended December 31, 2010 was primarily thdtrea reduction in lon-term debt associated with the payment of all tmgiterm debt in
September 2010.

Interest and Investment IncomeThe decrease in interest and investment inaafmrapproximately $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Dexe3tth2010 was due to lower average cash, cashadgpts and investment balances.

Other Income. The decrease in other income for the year elag@mber 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Deredi, 2010 was
primarily due to the timing of tax incentives orands we received. In 2011, we recognized a Lifel8®s Tax Incentive Program award of
approximately $0.9 million from the Massachuseife Sciences Center. In 2010, we recognized appratély $1.0 million in federal grants
awarded to us under the Qualifying Therapeutic ®iscy Project Program.

Income Tax (Benefit) ExpenseThe approximately $2.9 million decrease in meatax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2011
compared to the year ended December 31, 201Gaiedefo intra-period income tax allocation requieats in 2010 for which we recorded a
benefit for income taxes from continuing operatiohapproximately $2.9 million, offset by an iderati income tax provision from
discontinued operations for the year ended DeceBibe2010. The intra-period income tax allocationgiders discontinued operations for
purposes of determining the amount of tax benlefit tesults from our loss from continuing operatiorhere was no corresponding tax
allocation in 2011.

Net Income (Loss) From Discontinued Operadi  The income from discontinued operations in 281fssociated with the
approximately $12.2 million gain recognized on $laée of Microbia, partially offset by the tax preidn related to the intra-period tax
allocation. As a result of the sale of MicrobiaSaptember 2010, there were no discontinued opesitin2011.

Net (Income) Loss From Discontinued OperagiAttributable to Noncontrolling Interest. The approximately $1.1 million in net income
from discontinued operations attributable to notialing interest for the year ended December 31,(Pwas attributable to amounts
recognized by Microbia immediately prior to theesaf Microbia in September 2010. As a result ofgake of Microbia in September 2010,
there was no corresponding income in 2011.
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Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2009

Revenue

Years Ended December 31, Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Collaborative arrangements rever  $ 43,857 $ 34,327 $§ 9,53t 27.&%

Collaborative Arrangements. The increase in revenue from collaborativerggesnents for the year ended December 31, 2010 gechpa
to the year ended December 31, 2009 was primauniytd increases in revenue from the Almirall lieagreement, which we entered into in
April 2009, and the Astellas license agreementcivive entered into in November 2009, offset by el@ses in revenue from the Forest
collaboration. In the year ended December 31, 2@&Xecognized approximately $10.6 million of revencompared with approximately
$7.0 million of revenue in 2009, related to the $3&illion up-front license payment received in M2309 from Almirall and the amortization
of the deferred revenue resulting from recordirgitiitial $6.0 million valuation of the Almirall faovard purchase contract. Additionally in
2010, we recognized approximately $7.6 million@fenue associated with the $19.0 million milestoagment, net of taxes, received in
December 2010 under the Almirall license agreemarthe year ended December 31, 2010, we recogmigprtbximately $2.6 million of
revenue related to the $30.0 million up-front lisepayment received in November 2009 from Astedasipared with none in 2009, as the
development period and related amortization didooatmence until March 2010. Additionally, in theayended December 31, 2010 we
recognized approximately $1.3 million from shiprmeeat clinical trial materials to both Almirall artellas compared to approximately
$0.3 million in 2009. This was offset by a decrefmseevenue recognized in relation to the Forefiaboration primarily due to the achievem
of a $20.0 million milestone in July 2009. Durirfgetyear ended December 31, 2010, we recognizedxdpmately $4.0 million related to this
milestone compared to approximately $9.2 milliomiigi 2009, of which approximately $7.5 million wiacognized upon achievement,
resulting in a decrease of approximately $5.2 orillirom 2010 to 2009.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31 Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Operating expense

Research and developm $ 77,45 $ 76,10 $ 1,35¢ 1.8%
General and administrati 27,16¢ 19,03 8,132 42.1%
Total operating expens: $ 104,620 $ 95,137 $ 9,48¢ 10.(%

Research and Development Expens&he increase in research and development egpdrapproximately $1.4 million for the year en
December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Dexe3ih2009 was primarily due to an increase of@pmately $4.3 million in
compensation, benefits, and employee related eggassociated mainly with increased headcounhaaadse of approximately $1.8 million
due to the implementation in the first quarter 81@ of our employee incentive plan, an increasapproximately $1.7 million in share-based
compensation expense primarily related to our anstoak option grant made in February 2010, andase of approximately $2.9 million in
research and development related facilities andrattsearch and development support costs largelyalincreased rent and depreciation
expense associated with the additional space vgedeat our 301 Binney Street facility in Februa®yl@ and an increase of approximately
$0.8 million
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in internal research costs, such as laboratorylmsppo support the development of our pipelirféset by a decrease of approximately
$10.2 million in support of linaclotide, primarilgsulting from lower clinical trial, collaboratieand manufacturing expenses as we completed
the efficacy portion of linaclotide's developmenbgram.

General and Administrative ExpenseThe increase in general and administrative esp®f approximately $8.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year édeleember 31, 2009 was primarily due to an incredsg@proximately $2.3 million in
compensation, benefits and other employee relatepenses associated with increased headcount, aaseof approximately $0.7 million in
share-based compensation expense primarily refatedr annual stock option grant made in Febru@d02an increase of approximately
$0.8 million due to the implementation in the figstarter of 2010 of our employee incentive planinenease of approximately $1.2 million in
general and administrative related facilities c@sisiarily due to increased rent expense associattidthe additional space we leased at our
301 Binney Street facility in February 2010, anréase of approximately $0.8 million in expenses tdugeing a public company, such as audit
and tax fees, filing fees, and directors' and effitinsurance and an increase in external conguitists of approximately $2.2 million
primarily associated with preparing to commercilinaclotide and public company requirements, sagcmvestor relations, Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance and stock administration offset by améase of approximately $0.8 million in the reimd®ment from Forest on our collaborative
commercial activities.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Other income (expense

Interest expens $ (19€) $ (318 $ 127 38.4%
Interest and investment incor 614 24C 374 155.8%
Remeasurement of forward purchi

contracts — 60C (60C) (100.0%
Other income 99z — 99z 100.(%
Total other income (expense), | $ 1,411 $ 52z $ 88¢ 170.2%

Interest Expense. The decrease in interest expense of approxiyn®fel million for the year ended December 31,@06&mpared to the
year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily thdtreéa reduction in lon-term debt, partially offset by early payment faezurred in
connection with the repayment of the long-term del8eptember 2010.

Interest and Investment IncomeThe increase in interest and investment incofregproximately $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Dexe3ih2009 was due to higher average cash, casbadents and investment balances,
partially offset by lower prevailing interest rathsring the period.

Remeasurement of Forward Purchase ContracfBhe decrease in the remeasurement of forwaichpse contracts of approximately
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20dfgared to the year ended December 31, 2009 rddubten the final settlement of the
Forest forward purchase contract in July 2009 ardAimirall forward purchase contract in Novemb@02. The Forest forward purchase
contract was remeasured in July 2009 when Forederita equity investment and the Almirall forwangkrghase contract was remeasured at
November 2, 2009 when Almirall made its equity isiveent, resulting in total respective gains on @sneement of $0.1 million ar
$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2@39a result of the final settlements of both fordvaurchase contracts, there were no
corresponding remeasurements during 2010.
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Other Income. The increase in other income for the year erdecember 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Deredi, 2009 was
primarily due to approximately $978,000 in grantsaeded to us under the Qualifying Therapeutic Disty Project Program in 2010. There
was no corresponding award in 2009.

Income Tax (Benefit) ExpenseThe approximately $2.6 million increase in imeotax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2010
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009 Vedsddo intra-period income tax allocation reqoients for which we recorded a benefit
for income taxes from continuing operations of appnately $2.9 million, offset by an identical irmoe tax provision from discontinued
operations for the year ended December 31, 201€irfta-period income tax allocation considers aiginued operations for purposes of
determining the amount of tax benefit that resiutimn our loss from continuing operations.

Net Income (Loss) From Discontinued Operadi  The approximately $17.9 million increase in imebme (loss) from discontinued
operations for the year ended December 31, 201(@ared to the year ended December 31, 2009 was nilsirttee result of the approximately
$12.2 million gain recognized on the sale of Mideoim September 2010 and lower operating expenfsklcoobia resulting from reduced
headcount and rent expense associated with Micsdiavember 2009 restructuring activities, parialifset by the tax provision related to the
intra-period tax allocation.

Net (Income) Loss From Discontinued OperaiAttributable to Noncontrolling Interest. The approximately $3.2 million increase in
income from discontinued operations attributabladacontrolling interest for the year ended Decen®ie 2010 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2009 was primarily due to an incrégaset income for Microbia due to a gain recogninadhe settlement of intercompany
balances immediately prior to the sale of Micrabi&eptember 2010 and lower operating expensedab®a resulting from reduced
headcount and rent expense associated with Mi¢soiia/ember 2009 restructuring activities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table sets forth the majousues and uses of cash for each of the periodsrsetbelow:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used ii

Operating activitie: $ (75,237) $ (67,899 $ (3,44

Investing activities 115,06! (213,047)  17,75¢

Financing activitie: 3,13: 202,95t 41,66:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

equivalents $ 4296. $ (77,98%) $ 55,97¢

We have incurred losses since our inceptiodanuary 5, 1998 and, as of December 31, 204 haa an accumulated deficit of
approximately $432.4 million. We have financed operations to date primarily through the sale efgmred stock and common stock,
including approximately $203.2 million of net precks from our IPO, payments received under collalvararrangements, including
reimbursement of certain expenses, debt finan@ngsnterest earned on investments. At Decembe2@®l1, we had approximately
$164.0 million of unrestricted cash, cash equivislemd available-for-sale securities. Our cashvedgmts include amounts held in money
market funds, stated at cost plus accrued intesdsth approximates fair market value and amoustd n certain U.S. Treasury securities and
U.S. government sponsored securities. Our avaiiloleale securities include
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amounts held in U.S. Treasury securities and W8eighment sponsored securities. We invest caskciass of immediate requirements in
accordance with our investment policy, which linthe amounts we may invest in any one type of iimrest and requires all investments held
by us to be A+ rated so as to primarily achievaitiify and capital preservation.

In February 2012, we raised approximat@y.$ million when we sold 6,037,500 shares of odas€A common stock through a firm
commitment, underwritten public offering at a priogthe public of $15.09 per share.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities tatapproximately $75.2 million for the year endegt®mber 31, 2011. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofragpnately $64.9 million and a decrease of appratety $34.3 million in working capital
resulting primarily from changes in deferred reveassociated with the recognition of revenue framForest collaboration agreement and
Almirall and Astellas license agreements, as welhe achievement of the milestone associatedthétImirall agreement. These uses of (
were partially offset by non-cash items of apprcadety $24.0 million.

Net cash used in operating activities tatadpproximately $67.9 million for the year endegt®mber 31, 2010. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofrappnately $56.4 million, approximately $6.0 milfiaused in operating activities from
discontinued operations and a decrease of appresiyr21.3 million in working capital resulting prarily from changes in deferred revenue
associated with the recognition of revenue fromFeanest collaboration agreement and our Almiratl Astellas license agreements, as well as
the achievement of the milestone associated wéhAtmirall agreement. These uses of cash wereghigrtffset by non-cash items of
approximately $15.8 million.

Net cash used in operating activities tatapproximately $3.4 million for the year endeadt&maber 31, 2009. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofragpnately $60.0 million and approximately $11.9lan included in net cash used in
operating activities from discontinued operatiaféset by approximately $9.6 million in non-casénits and an increase of approximately
$58.5 million in working capital. The increase iorking capital was due primarily to an increaseéferred revenue resulting from the
$38.0 million up-front cash payment associated withAlmirall license agreement, the $30.0 millignfront payment associated with the
Astellas license and the $20.0 million milestongmant related to the Forest collaboration agreeppantially offset by reductions in deferred
revenue as revenue was recognized from our Foo#aboration and our Almirall license agreement.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities floe tyear ended December 31, 2011 totaled approXiyité5.1 million and resulted primarily
from the sale and maturity of approximately $22aiBion in investments. This was partially offset the purchase of approximately
$97.5 million of securities and the purchase ofragimately $9.7 million of property and equipmeptimarily leasehold improvements,
associated with the expansion of our 301 Binnegedtiacility and software to improve our IT infrastture.

Cash used in investing activities for tiearyended December 31, 2010 totaled approximagdg.® million and resulted primarily from
the purchase of approximately $441.8 million ofiséies related to the investment of the net prdsesf our IPO and the purchase of
approximately $17.2 million of property and equipmerimarily leasehold improvements, associatetth e expansion of our 301 Binney
Street facility. These uses of cash were partigiiget by the sale and
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maturity of approximately $236.5 million in investmts and $9.5 million in proceeds received from DishMhe sale of our interest in
Microbia.

Cash provided by investing activities floe tyear ended December 31, 2009 totaled approxyrit&.8 million and resulted primarily
from the sales and maturities of securities of epipnately $48.5 million, partially offset by the qmhase of approximately $26.7 million of
securities, the purchase of approximately $4.0ionilbf property and equipment of which approximatk0.5 million is included in net cash
provided by (used in) investing activities fromabatinued operations.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities foe tyear ended December 31, 2011 totaled approxyr@el million and resulted primarily frol
the approximately $3.4 million in cash providedstyck option exercises and the purchase of shader the employee stock purchase plan,
partially offset by approximately $0.3 million imsh used for payments on our capital leases.

Cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2010 totaled approxiyr263.0 million and resulted primarily
from the net proceeds of our IPO of approximat@@%2 million and approximately $2.0 million in bagrovided by stock option exercises,
partially offset by approximately $2.2 million imsh used for payments of the long term debt, oEwhpproximately $0.3 million was
repayment of debt from discontinued operations.

Cash provided by financing activities feay ended December 31, 2009 totaled approximatdly7$million, primarily resulting from
approximately $40.3 million in proceeds from théesat preferred stock and approximately $1.1 millreceived from net borrowings under
debt facility, of which approximately $1.3 milliaa included in net cash (used in) provided by fiiag activities from discontinued operatio
We received a total of $25.0 million of proceedsnirthe sale of 2,083,333 shares of our Series @ectble preferred stock to Forest,
$15.0 million of proceeds from the sale of 681,8h8res of our Series | convertible preferred stockimirall and approximately $0.2 million
of proceeds from the sale of 20,833 shares of Setieonvertible preferred stock.

Funding Requirements

To date, we have not commercialized anylpcts and have not achieved profitability. We apéte that we will continue to incur
substantial net losses for the next several yeavgeafurther develop and prepare for the potentiaimercial launch of linaclotide, continue to
invest in our pipeline, develop the organizatioguieed to sell our product candidates and opersate@ublicly traded company.

We have generated revenue from servicefomp license fees and milestones, but have noégeed any product revenue since our
inception and do not expect to generate any pradwenue from our collaborative arrangements os#ie of products unless we receive
regulatory approval for commercial sale of linaicet We believe that our cash on hand as of the afathis Annual Report on Form 10-K,
additional cash milestone payments we may recedra bur current or future collaborators, and casteived from our recent equity offering
provides significant optionality and will be sufééoit to meet our projected operating needs thrahgtanticipated commercialization of
linaclotide. If our forecasted operating needs gleamve may require additional funding in the forhpoblic or private equity or debt offerings
or a credit facility, or we may be required to geleeduce the scope of or eliminate one or moreuofdevelopment programs or our
commercialization efforts. In addition, if favoraldpportunities arise to further strengthen ouamed sheet, we may take advantage of one or
more of the previously mentioned funding alternesiat that time. Our forecast of the period of tthmreugh which our financial resources will
be adequate to support our operations, includiegittderlying estimates regarding the costs to pl&gjulatory approval and the costs to
commercialize linaclotide, is a forward-lookingtstaent that involves risks and uncertainties, and
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actual results could vary materially and negativadya result of a number of factors, includingfiitors discussed in the "Risk Factors" sec
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have basadestimates on assumptions that may prove to bagyiand we could utilize our
available capital resources sooner than we cuygrentbect.

Due to the numerous risks and uncertairtiseciated with the development of our productlickates, we are unable to estimate precisely
the amounts of capital outlays and operating exipered necessary to complete the development dff@obtain regulatory approval for,
linaclotide and our other product candidates fbofthe indications for which we believe each protddcandidate is suited. Our funding
requirements will depend on many factors, includimgt not limited to, the following:

. the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatapyprovals for our product candidates;

. the rate of progress and cost of our commercidtinactivities;

. the success of our research and development el

. the expenses we incur in marketing and sellingpooduct candidates;

. the revenue generated by sales of our product dated;

. the emergence of competing or complementary teolgizd! development:

. the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending andecihg any patent claims and other intellectuapprty rights;
. the terms and timing of any additional collaborafikcensing or other arrangements that we mayksita and
. the acquisition of businesses, products and teolres.

Contractual Commitments and Obligations

Under our collaborative agreement with Boreve share equally with Forest all developmedt@mmercialization costs related to
linaclotide in the U.S. The actual amounts thatpag Forest or that Forest pays to us will dependwnerous factors outside of our control,
including the success of our clinical developmédfares with respect to linaclotide, the content dimiing of decisions made by the FDA, the
reimbursement and competitive landscape aroundltitide and our other product candidates, and ddetors described under the heading
"Risk Factors."

Our most significant clinical trial expetdies are to CROs. The contracts with CROs genesedl cancellable, with notice, at our option
and do not have any cancellation penalties. Thesesiare not included in the table below.

In connection with our collaboration agreswith Bionomics Limited, or Bionomics, enteredio in January 2012, we are obligated to
make an up-front payment to Bionomics of $3.0 milliWe will also fund full-time equivalents for dyraliscovery activities performed by
Bionomics, as well as those associated with ougratbllaboration agreements that are not relatdidaclotide. Due to the uncertainties
involved in the discovery phase of a product caaididwe are unable to determine the duration ast$ cequired to complete these drug
discovery activities and as a result, we have mduted these amounts in the table below. Pentim@thievement of certain development and
commercialization milestones in each of the agregsyeve will make certain milestone and royalty paynts. As these payments are
contingent upon the occurrence of certain futuenévand, given the nature of these events, itégear when, if ever, we may be required to
pay such amounts and as a result, these contipggntents have not been included in the table below.
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As of December 31, 2011, we have multiplmmercial supply agreements with contract manufagjorganizations for the purchase «
portion of the linaclotide APl and drug productttidll be used to seek regulatory approval of liotide in North America and the E.U., and,
depending on such approval, that would be useddomrmercial sales in such countries. The table bedflects our minimum purchase
requirements under these commercial supply agretsmeswell as any outstanding non-cancellablehase orders.

The following table summarizes our contwatobligations at December 31, 2011 (excludingrigst):

Payments Due by Period

Less Than More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Commercial supply obligatior $ 58,67( $ 16,48t $ 16,88: $ 19,44( $  5,86(
Capital lease obligatior 733 27¢€ 407 50 —
Operating lease obligatiol 46,85 11,16% 23,35( 12,12 217
Total contractual obligatior $ 106,26( $ 27,92¢ $ 40,64. $ 31,611 $ 6,07i

Our commitment for capital lease obligatizalates to leased computer and office equipment.

Our commitments for operating leases refatsur lease of office and laboratory space in Brdshge, Massachusetts and our data
collocation space in Boston.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with ursodidated entities or financial partnerships, sastentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, that wouldeHasen established for the purpose of facilitatifidhalance sheet arrangements (as that term
is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-&) other contractually narrow or limited purpos&s.such, we are not exposed to any
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk thatwd arise if we had engaged in those types oficglahips. We enter into guarantees in the
ordinary course of business related to the guaeawiteur own performance and the performance ofabsidiaries.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronoumeats are issued by the Financial Accounting Staisd@oard, or FASB, or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by us as of thafigabeffective date. Unless otherwise discussezbelieve that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not havaaterial impact on our consolidated financialifpas or results of operations upon adoption.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standar

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2089ASU 2009-13 amended existing revenue recognétmounting pronouncements that are
currently within the scope of FASB Accounting Starib Codification Subtopic 605-25 (previously irgd within EITF 00-21Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverabl("EITF 00-21")). The consensus to ASU 2009-13 palegi accounting principles and application
guidance on whether multiple deliverables existy ioe arrangement should be separated, and théleoaison allocated. This guidance
eliminates the requirement to establish the faueaf undelivered products and services and idspeavides for separate revenue recognition
based upon management's estimate of the selling for an undelivered item when there is no otheams to determine the fair value of that
undelivered item. EITF 00-21 previously requiredttthe fair value of the undelivered item be thegof the item either sold in a separate
transaction between
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unrelated third parties or the price charged fahdeem when the item is sold separately by thedeenUnder EITF 00-21, if the fair value of
all of the elements in the arrangement was notraétable, then revenue was deferred until all efitems were delivered or fair value was
determined. This new approach is effective prospelgtfor revenue arrangements entered into or rizdhe modified in fiscal years beginning
on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011 deptad ASU 2009-13 on a prospective basis. Thetamogdid not have a material impact on
our consolidated financial position or results pémtions.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-ABU 2010417 provides guidance in applying the milestone mwethf revenue recognition
research or development arrangements. Under tidsugee, management may recognize revenue contingentthe achievement of a
milestone in its entirety, in the period in whi¢tetmilestone is achieved, only if the milestone tsiaé the criteria within the guidance to be
considered substantive. This ASU is effective @unaspective basis for research and developmenstoiles achieved in fiscal years beginning
on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011 ,deptad ASU 2010-17 to change our accounting pabdyegin applying the milestone
method on a prospective basis. As we elected petispeadoption, there was no material impact onamnsolidated financial position or resi
of operations. However, during the fourth quarte2@l 1, we recognized two milestone payments fimta of $20 million in revenue due to
substantive milestones achieved after ASU 2010-43F adopted. The adoption resulted in approxim&2ly million ($0.03 per share) of
additional revenue recognized in 2011 upon theeagiment of the milestones as compared to recognitialer our prior milestone accounting
policy. Our prior milestone accounting policy reged as revenue the portion of the milestone payegunl to the applicable percentage of the
performance period that had elapsed as of thetdatmilestone was achieved.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU Nild(227,Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmacautlanufacturers or ASU
2010-27, which provides guidance on how to recagaizd classify the fees mandated by the Patiet¢®ion and Affordable Care Act as
amended by the Health Care and Education Recammilidct, together the Acts. The Acts impose anuahifiee for each calendar year
beginning on or after January 1, 2011 payable apdbed prescription drug manufacturers and impodeisranded prescription drugs. The
liability for the fee should be estimated and relearin full upon the first qualifying sale with arcesponding deferred cost that is amortized to
expense using a straight-line method of allocatieer the calendar year that it is payable. ASU 2D1.0s effective for calendar years
beginning on or after December 31, 2010, whendldritially becomes effective. On January 1, 201d adopted ASU 2010-27 on a
prospective basis. As we do not currently haveraraercial product, the effect of this guidance Wwél limited to future transactions.

Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2081Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureanenDisclosure
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRor ASU 2011-04. ASU 2011-04 amends ASC &4ir Value Measurementto ensure that fair value
has the same meaning in GAAP and Internationalr€iimhReporting Standards, or IFRS. IFRS and imgsahe comparability of the fair val
measurement and disclosure requirements in GAARRRS. ASU 2011-04 applies to all entities that ma assets, liabilities or instruments
classified in shareholder's equity at fair valuepivide fair value disclosures for items not meleal at fair value. ASU 2011-04 results in
common fair value measurement and disclosure repgints in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, ASLLAM changes the wording used
to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GA&ihieasuring fair value and for disclosing inforiroatabout fair value measurements. For
many of the requirements, ASU 2011-04 will not feBua change in the application of the requiretaén ASC 820. Some of the requirements
in ASU 2011-04 clarify the FASB's intent about #plication of existing fair value
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measurement requirements. Other requirements cteapgsicular principle or requirement for measgtiair value or for disclosing
information about fair value measurements. ASU 204 1s effective for public companies for interimdsannual periods beginning after
December 15, 2011 and should be applied prospéctizarly application is not permitted. We intemdadopt this standard beginning in 2012.
We are currently evaluating the impact, if anyt thar adoption of ASU 2011-04 will have on our colidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 20%,IPresentation of Comprehensive IncomeASU 2011-05, which is intended to facilitate
the convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS as well asdease the transparency of items reported iaratbmprehensive income. As a resul
ASU 2011-05, all nonowner changes in stockhold=ysity are required to be presented in a singléimoous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statesnghte option to present other comprehensive indartiee statement of changes in equity
has been eliminated. ASU 2011-05 is effective fdvljc companies for fiscal years, and interim pasigvithin those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011 and should be applied retrosfedetin December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No.1202, Deferral of the Effective Da
for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifieatof Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensivome in Accounting Standat
Update No. 2011-0%r ASU 2011-12, which defers the effective dat¢hefprovisions of ASU 2011-05 pertaining to thesergation of
reclassification adjustments out of accumulate@iotomprehensive income. All other requirementa®t 2011-05 are not affected by
ASU 2011-12. ASU 2011-12 is effective for publiogmanies for fiscal years, and interim periods witthiose years, beginning after
December 15, 2011. We intend to adopt these stdsdeginning in 2012. As ASU 2011-05 and ASU 202Jripact presentation only, they
will have no effect on our consolidated financiakjtion or results of operations.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MarkRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related tmgps in interest rates. We invest our cash irriatyaof financial instruments, principally
deposits, securities issued by the U.S. governiaueaits agencies and money market instrumentsgdhaks of our investment policy are
preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquiditye®ds and fiduciary control of cash and investméfiesalso seek to maximize income from our
investments without assuming significant risk.

Our primary exposure to market risk is iag income sensitivity, which is affected by chesiin the general level of interest rates,
particularly because our investments are in slesrivtmarketable securities. Due to the short-termatéhn of our investment portfolio and the
low risk profile of our investments, an immediaé thange in interest rates would not have a matffiect on the fair market value of our
portfolio. Accordingly, we would not expect our @pgng results or cash flows to be affected to sigpificant degree by the effect of a sudden
change in market interest rates on our investmeritqio.

Recently, there has been concern in thditarearkets regarding the value of a variety of tgage-backed and auction rate securities and
the resulting effect on various securities markéts.do not currently have any auction rate seewitWe do not believe our cash, cash
equivalents and available-for-sale investments lséyificant risk of default or illiquidity. Whileve believe our cash, cash equivalents and
available-for-sale securities do not contain exeesssk, we cannot provide absolute assuranceithidie future our investments will not be
subject to adverse changes in market value. Irtiaddive maintain significant amounts of cash, caghivalents and available-for-sale
securities at one or more financial institutionatthre in excess of federally insured limits. Gitlea current instability of financial institutions,
we cannot provide assurance that we will not exymee losses on these deposits.
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Our capital lease obligations bear inteatst fixed rate and therefore have minimal exppsoichanges in interest rates.
Foreign Currency Risk

We have no operations outside the U.S.dandot have any foreign currency or other derivafimancial instruments.
Effects of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation and chawggprices over the years ended December 31, 2010, &rd 2009 had a significant impact on
our results of operations.

Iltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBrgta

Our consolidated financial statements, tiogrewith the independent registered public acdagrfirm report thereon, appear at pages F-1
through F-46, respectively, of this Annual Repartrarm 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act,roanagement, including our principal
executive officer and our principal financial offic conducted an evaluation as of the end of thegeovered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of the effectiveness of the design aneration of our disclosure controls and proceduBased on that evaluation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officeprecluded that our disclosure controls and procedare effective at the reasonable assurance
level in ensuring that information required to ligctbsed by us in the reports that we file or suhmder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pienieds specified in the SEC's rules and formsclbBssire controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures desijieensure that information required to be disatiogy us in the reports we file under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated tonamagement, including our principal executiveagffiand principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control awerfinancial reporting. Internal control o\
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as the prodesigned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oéfr, and effected by our board of directors, manaent and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofioancial reporting and the preparation of doafcial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipligs; and includes those policies and procedinas t

D) pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and dispositions
assets;

2) provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@reded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures are bramg only in accordance
with the authorizations of management and directord

3) provide reasonable assurance regarding the preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of asst
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements.

Under the supervision and with the parttign of our management, including our Chief ExaeuOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, v
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofirternal control over financial reporting basedtiba framework provided imternal
Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission. Based on this evaloati
our management concluded that our internal cootref financial reporting was effective as of Decembl, 2011.

The effectiveness of our internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2011 &en audited by Ernst and Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,taged in their report, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control

As required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exa®Act, our management, including our principaleesteve officer and our principal financial
officer, conducted an evaluation of the internaitool over financial reporting to determine whethey changes occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2011 that have materially &flear are reasonably likely to materially affextr internal control over financial reportit
Based on that evaluation, our principal executiffieer and principal financial officer concluded sach changes during the quarter ended
December 31, 2011 materially affected, or wereaeally likely to materially affect, our internalmool over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ironw®&bdhrmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Ironwood Pharmaceuticals;d internal control over financial reportingedecember 31, 2011, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). lIronwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'aag@ment is responsible for maintaining effectivterinal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriatecontrol over financial reporting included iretaccompanying Management's Report on
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting. Oump@ssibility is to express an opinion on the compsimternal control over financial reporti
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance wWithdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgetr8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabturance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Ironwood Pharmaceuticafs. Imaintained, in all material respects, effectiternal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of ronwood Pharmaedsitinc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, andelhted consolidated statements of
operations, convertible preferred stock and stoltldrs' equity (deficit), and cash flows for eacttha# three years in the period ended
December 31, 2011 of Ironwood Pharmaceuticals,dnd.our report dated February 29, 2012 expressedgualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachusetts
February 29, 2012
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Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governe

We have adopted a code of business corashacethics applicable to our directors, executifieers and all other employees. A copy of
that code is available on our corporate websitétat//www.ironwoodpharma.com. Any amendments dbde of ethics and business
conduct, and any waivers thereto involving our exige officers, also will be available on our corate website. A printed copy of these
documents will be made available upon request.cbment on our website is not incorporated by efee into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Certain information regarding our executdficers is set forth at the end of Part I, Iterafthis Form 10K under the heading, "Executi
Officers of the Registrant.” The other informati@guired by this item is incorporated by referefroen our proxy statement for our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statementfw 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afitanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information relating to security owrtepsof certain beneficial owners of our common ktand information relating to the security
ownership of our management required by this iteindorporated by reference from our proxy staterf@rour 2012 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

The table below sets forth information wiglgard to securities authorized for issuance undeequity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, wedadactive equity compensation plans, each of tviias approved by our stockholders:

. Our Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Incentive |

. Our Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive |

. Our Amended and Restated 2010 Employee, DirecbiCamsultant Equity Incentive Plan; and
. Our 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding

Number of securities to

be issued upon exercise

of outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
warrants and rights warrants, and rights column (a))

@ (b) ©

Weighted-average
exercise price of

Plan Category

Equity compensation plat

Iltem 13.

Iltem 14.

approved by security holde
Equity compensation plans n
approved by security holde

Total

16,424,50 $ 6.0¢

6,519,02

16,424,50

6,519,02

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abiatector Independence

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statemenoéw 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statemenoéw 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) List of documents filed as part aétreport

(2) Consolidated Financial Statements listed underIRdtém 8 and included herein by referen

2) Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

No schedules are submitted because they are nlitapp, not required or because the informatioimégtuded in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes to Qmated Financial Statements.

3) Exhibits
Incorporated by reference herein
Number Description Form Date

3.1 Eleventh Amended and Annual Report on Form 10-K March 30, 2010
Restated Certificate of (File No. 001-34620)
Incorporation

3.2 Fifth Amended and Restat Annual Report on Form -K March 30, 201(
Bylaws (File No. 00-34620)

4.1 Specimen Class A comm( Registration Statement « January 20, 201
stock certificate Form S-1, as amended

(File No. 33:-163275)

4.2 Eighth Amended and Restated Registration Statement on November 20, 20(
Investors' Rights Agreement, Form S-1, as amended
dated as of September 1, 2009,(File No. 333-163275)
by and among Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the
Founders and the Investors
named thereil

10.3# 1998 Amended and Restated Registration Statement on December 23, 20(
Stock Option Plan and form  Form S-1, as amended
agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.2# Amended and Restati Registration Statement « December 23, 20(
2002 Stock Incentive Plan and Form S-1, as amended
form agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.3# Amended and Restated Registration Statement on January 29, 2010
2005 Stock Incentive Plan and Form S-1, as amended
form agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.4 Amended and Restati Quarterly Report on Form -Q May 13, 2011
2010 Employee, Director and (File No. 001-34620)
Consultant Equity Incentive
Plan

10.4.7# Form agreement under the Annual Report on Form 10-K March 30, 2010
2010 Employee, Director and (File No. 001-34620)
Consultant Equity Incentive

Plan
10.5# 2010 Employee Stock Registration Statement on March 5, 2010
Purchase Plan Form S-8 (File No. 333-

165230)
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Incorporated by reference herein

Number Description Form Date
10.6# Change of Control Severan Registration Statement « December 23, 20(
Benefit Plan Form S-1, as amended
(File No. 33-163275)
10.%# Director Compensation Plan Registration Stateroe December 23, 20(
Form S-1, as amended
(File No. 33:-163275)
10.& Form of Indemnificatior Registration Statement ( December 23, 20(
Agreement with directors Form S-1, as amended
and officers (File No. 33:-163275)
10.¢%# Consulting Agreement, dated Registration Statement on December 23, 20(
of November 30, 2009, by and Form S-1, as amended
between Christopher Walsh a (File No. 333-163275)
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir
10.1(+ Collaboration Agreement, dat Registration Statement ( February 2, 201
as of September 12, 2007, as Form S-1, as amended
amended on November 3, 20 (File No. 333-163275)
by and between Forest
Laboratories, Inc. and Ironwo
Pharmaceuticals, In
10.1+ License Agreement, dated as oRegistration Statement on February 2, 2010
April 30, 2009, by and betweenForm S-1, as amended
Almirall, S.A. and Ironwood (File No. 333-163275)
Pharmaceuticals, In
10.12+ License Agreement, dated as oRegistration Statement on February 2, 2010
November 10, 2009, by ai Form S-1, as amended
among Astellas Pharma, Inc.  (File No. 333-163275)
and Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, In
10.1:+ Commercial Supply Agreeme Quarterly Report on Form 1Q-  August 10, 2010
dated as of June 23, 2010, by (File No. 001-34620)
and among PolyPeptide
Laboratories, Inc. and
Polypeptide Laboratories
(SWEDEN) AB, Forest
Laboratories, Inc. and Ironwo
Pharmaceuticals, In
10.14+ Commercial Supply Agreeme Quarterly Report on Form -Q May 13, 2011

dated as of March 28, 2011, by (File No. 001-34620)
and among Corden Pharma

Colorado (f/k/a Roche Colora

Corporation), Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and

Forest Laboratories, In
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Number

Incorporated by reference herein

Description Form

Date

10.1¢

10.15.:

10.15.;

10.15.c

10.15.#

211

23.1*

311

31.2*

32.1%

Lease for facilities at 30 Registration Statement «
Binney St., Cambridge, MA, Form S-1, as amended
dated as of January 12, 2007 (File No. 333-163275)
amended on April 9, 2009, by

and between Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and

BMR-Rogers Street LL(

Second Amendment to Lea  Annual Report on Form -K
for facilities at 301 Binney St., (File No. 001-34620)
Cambridge, MA, dated as of

February 9, 2010, by and

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

Third Amendment to Lease for Annual Report on Form 10-K
facilities at 301 Binney St., (File No. 001-34620)
Cambridge, MA, dated as of

July 1, 2010, by and between

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

Fourth Amendment to Lease” Annual Report on Form -K
facilities at 301 Binney St., (File No. 001-34620)
Cambridge, MA, dated as of

February 3, 2011, by and

between Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and

BMR-Rogers Street LL(

Fifth Amendment to Lease fi
facilities at 301 Binney St.,
Cambridge, MA, dated as of
October 18, 2011, by and
between Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
BMR-Rogers Street LL(

Subsidiaries of Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, In

Consent of Independe
Registered Public Accounting
Firm

Certification of Chief Executiv
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-
14 or 15d-14 of the Exchange
Act

Certification of Chief Financie
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-
14 or 15d-14 of the Exchange
Act

Certification of Chief
Executive Officer pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(b) or 1584(b) ol
the Exchange Act and 18
U.S.C. Section 135
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Incorporated by reference herein
Number Description Form Date

32.2+% Certification of Chiel
Financial Officer pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(b) or 15#4(b) ol
the Exchange Act and 18
U.S.C. Section 135

101.IN&t XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extensio
Schema Documel

101.CALT XBRL Taxonomy Extensio
Calculation Linkbase Docume

101.LABt XBRL Taxonomy Extensio
Label Linkbase Databa:

101.PREt XBRL Taxonomy Extensio
Presentation Linkbase

Document
* Filed herewith
¥ Furnished herewith.

+ Confidential treatment granted under 17 C.F.R. 8820(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portiohthés exhibit have
been omitted and are marked accordingly. The cenfidl portions have been provided separately thithSEC pursuant
to the confidential treatment request.

# Management contract or compensatory plan, contoaetgreemen
(b) Exhibits.
The exhibits required by this Item aredisuinder Iltem 15(a)(3).
(c) Financial Statement Schedules.
The financial statement schedules requisethis Item are listed under Item 15(a)(2).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, in the City of Cambridge, Commoaiile of Massachusetts, on the 29th day
of February 2012.

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /sl PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 19345 thport has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ PETER M. HECHT Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

(Principal Executive Officer)

February 29, 2012
Peter M. Hech

Chief Operating Officer &
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer &
Principal Accounting Officer

/sl MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

February 29, 2012
Michael J. Higgins

/s/ BRYAN E. ROBERTS

Chairman of the Board February 29, 2012
Bryan E. Robert
/sl GEORGE CONRADES
Director February 29, 2012
George Conrade
/s/ JOSEPH C. COOK, JR.
Director February 29, 2012
Joseph C. Cook, J
/s/ DAVID EBERSMAN
Director February 29, 2012
David Ebersmai
/sl MARSHA H. FANUCCI
Director February 29, 2012

Marsha H. Fanucc
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Signature

/sl TERRANCE G. MCGUIRE

Terrance G. McGuir

/s DAVID E. SHAW

David E. Shav

/sl CHRISTOPHER T. WALSH

Christopher T. Wals

Director

Director

Director

Title
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Date

February 29, 2012

February 29, 2012

February 29, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conseliaalance sheets of Ironwood Pharmaceuticalsamof December 31, 2011 and 2010, and
the related consolidated statements of operatamsjertible preferred stock and stockholders' gquiéficit), and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, Zlise financial statements are the responsibifithieo Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit also includes examininga é@st basis, evidence supporting the amounts isntbsures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and mignifestimates made by management, and evaluhtngverall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementeneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 20112010, and the consolidated results of itsaifmers and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20tbnformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidéiteahcial statements, effective January 1, 2014 Gbmpany adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Update Nd@-201Revenue Recognition—Milestone Method

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogétdoard (United States), Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s internal control over fiiahreporting as of December 31, 2011, based iterier established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiah@ur report dated February 29,
2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachusetts
February 29, 2012
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2011 2010
Assets

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel $ 87,28. $ 44,32

Available-for-sale securitie 76,73¢ 203,70t

Accounts receivabl 74 19

Related party accounts receivable, 57¢ 2,87¢

Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,89¢ 5,32(

Restricted cas 2,83
Total current asse 167,56 259,07!
Restricted cas 7,64 7,64
Property and equipment, r 33,62¢ 34,36¢
Other asset 13¢ 274
Total asset $ 208,977 $ 301,36!

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 6436 $ 4,30

Accrued research and development ¢ 7,01( 8,14(

Accrued expense 11,12 8,93¢

Current portion of capital lease obligatic 238 197

Current portion of deferred re 4,04 2,79¢

Current portion of deferred reven 36,29 40,05(
Total current liabilities 65,13« 64,42¢
Capital lease obligations, net of current port 422 39¢
Deferred rent, net of current porti 12,43¢ 14,61:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 21,13( 62,38:

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12 and Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 75,000,000 stearthorized, no
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,£2@1 1
December 31, 201 — —
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value, 500,000sb@@es authoriz:
and 61,801,770 shares issued and outstanding aniber 31, 2011
and 48,202,089 shares issued and outstanding aniber 31, 201 62 48
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,00056@0es authorize
and 38,914,080 shares issued and outstanding aniber 31, 2011

and 50,970,247 shares issued and outstanding aniber 31, 201 39 51
Additional paic-in capital 542,14: 526,99:
Accumulated defici (432,39) (367,540
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 6 1

Total stockholders' equi 109,85t 159,55
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 208,977 $ 301,36

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Collaborative arrangements rever $ 65,87. $ 43,857 $ 34,32
Operating expense

Research and developme 86,09: 77,45¢ 76,10(

General and administratiy 45,92( 27,16¢ 19,031
Total operating expens 132,01 104,62: 95,131
Loss from operation (66,147) (60,76¢) (60,816
Other income (expense

Interest expens (63) (19¢) (31§)

Interest and investment incor 45€ 614 24C

Remeasurement of forward purchase conti — — 60C

Other income 90C 992 —
Other income (expense), r 1,29: 1,411 52z
Net loss from continuing operations before incoax

(benefit) expens (64,849 (59,359 (60,299
Income tax (benefit) expen 3 (2,949 (29€)
Net loss from continuing operatio (64,852) (56,41)) (59,999
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations,af

tax provision of $2,944 in the year ended

December 31, 201 — 4,551 (13,319
Net loss (64,857) (51,860 (73,312
Net (income) loss from discontinued operati

attributable to noncontrolling intere — (1,127 2,12
Net loss attributable to Ironwoc

Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (64,857 $ (52,98) $ (71,18Y)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to lIronal

Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilutec

Continuing operation $ (0.65) $ (0.69) $ (8.4%)

Discontinued operatior — 0.04 (1.57
Net loss per shai $ (0.65) $ (0.59) $ (20.00)
Weighted average number of common shares us

net income (loss) per share attributable to Irorh

Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute: 99,874,79 89,653,36. 7,116,77.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible preferred Class A common
stock (Note 14) stock

Class B common
stock

Accumulated

Additional

Shares  Amount  Shares Amount

Shares  Amount

other

Total
stockholders

Accumulated comprehensive Noncontrolling

paid-in

capital deficit income (loss)

equity
interest (deficit)

Balance at

December 31,
2008 67,118,85 $ 273,40( —$ —
Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

stock option: — — — —
Issuance of

restricted

common

stock award: — — — —
Issuance of

Series G

Convertible

preferred

stock 2,083,33.  25,00( — —
Settlement of

forward

purchase

contract in

connection

with issuanc

of Series G

Convertible

preferred

stock — (8,800 — —
Issuance of

Series H

Convertible

preferred

stock 20,83: 25C — —
Issuance of

Series |

Convertible

preferred

stock 681,81¢ 15,00( — —
Settlement of

forward

purchase

contract in

connection

with issuanc

of Series |

Convertible

preferred

stock — (6,500 — —
Share-based

compensatic

expense

related to

issuance of

stock option:

to non-

employee: — — — —
Share-based

compensatic

expense

related to

issuance of

stock option:

to employee — — — —
Share-based

compensatic

expense fror

discontinued

operations — — — —
Restricted

common

stock shares

subject to

repurchass — — — —

7,083,17' $

7%

255,87! —

515,54¢

7594 8% (243379 $

301 —

4,79 —

14¢ =

(111) —

23

$ 533¢$ (230,41)

— 301

— 4,79

= 14¢

— (111)



Comprehensiv
income
(loss):
Unrealized

loss on

short-term

investmen
Net loss

Total
comprehens
loss

Balance at
December 31,
2009
Issuance of

common
stock upon
exercise of
stock optiont
and
employee
stock
purchase
plan
Issuance of
common
stock award:
Cancellation o
restricted
common
stock award:
Conversion of
convertible
preferred
stock into
common
stock upon
initial public
offering
Issuance of
shares upon
initial public
offering, net
of offering
costs of
approximate
$12.4 million
Conversion of
Class B
common
stock to
Class A
common
stock
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock option:
to non-
employee:
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock option:
to employee
and
employee
stock
purchase
plan
Share-based
compensatic
expense fror
discontinued
operations
Restricted
common
stock no
longer
subject to
repurchass
Decrease in
noncontrollir
interest in
subsidiary

Comprehensiv

— — — — — — — — (23) — (23)

— — — — — — — (71,189 — (2,129 (73,31)
(73,339

69,904,84 298,35( — —  7,854,60; 8  12,99¢ (314,55 — 3217 (298,340
— — 3043t — 174618 2 2,021 — — — 2,02¢

= — 2282 = = = 25¢ = = = 25¢

— — — — (40000  — — — — — —
(69,904,84) (298,35() = — 70,391,62 70 298,28 = = = 298,35(
— — 19,166,66 19 — —  203,14¢ — — — 203,16

— — 28,982,15 29 (28,982,15) (29 — — — — —

— — — — — — 123 — — — 123

— — — — — — 7,11¢ — — — 7,11¢

— — — — — — 59 — — — 59

= = = = = = 55 = = = 55

— — — — — — 2,93¢ — — (4,339 (1,400



income (loss)
Unrealized
gain on
short-term
investmen — — — — — — — — — 1
Net loss — — — — — — — (52,987) — 1,121 (51,860
Total
comprehens
loss (51,859

[y

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) (Continued)

Balance at
December 31,
2010
Issuance of

common
stock upon
exercise of
stock option:
and
employee
stock
purchase
plan
Issuance of
common
stock award:
Cancellation o
restricted
common
stock award:
Conversion of
Class B
common
stock to
Class A
common
stock
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock option:
to non-
employee:
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock optiont
to employee
and
employee
stock
purchase
plan
Repurchase
and
retirement of
shares of
common
stock
Restricted
common
stock no
longer
subject to
repurchasi
Comprehensiv
income
(loss):
Unrealized
gain on
short-term
investmen
Net loss

Total

comprehens
loss

Balance at
December 31

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible A lated Total
preferred stock Class A common  Class B common - ccumulate otal
Additional other stockholders
(Note 14) stock stock . .
Accumulated comprehensivi Noncontrolling
paid-in equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit income (loss) interest (deficit)
— — 48,202,08 48 50,970,24 51 526,99: (367,541() 1 — 159,55!
— —  112,43: — 1,463,44 2 3,391 — — — 3,39¢
— — 2,32¢ — — — 30 — — — 3C
— — — — (27,500 — — — — — —
— — 13,484,92 14 (13,484,92) (14) — — — — —
— — — — — — 152 — — — 152
— — — — — — 11,55( — — — 11,55(
— — — — (7,19¢) — — — — — —
— — — — — — 27 — — — 27
— — — — — — — — 5 — 5
— — — — — — — (64,85:) — — (64,85:)
— (64,84°)




2011 —$ — 6180177 % 62 38,914,08 $ 39% 542,14:$ (432,39) $ 6 $ —$ 109,85t

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (64,85) $ (51,8600 $ (73,31)
Income (loss) from discontinued operati — 4,551 (13,319
Loss from continuing operatiol (64,857) (56,41)) (59,99¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 9,99¢ 6,161 4,76
Loss on disposal of property and equiprr 7 474 8C
Remeasurement of forward purchase contt — — (600)
Shar-based compensation expel 11,73: 7,49¢ 5,09t
Accretion of discount/premium on investment se@s 2,23¢ 1,61¢ 23¢
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl 2,24: 2,32¢ (64¢€)
Restricted cas 2,83 (2,34%) (44¢€)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,421 (2,647 (464)
Other asset 13€ (259) 5C
Accounts payable and accrued expel 5,08¢ 2,74( 1,73:¢
Accrued research and development c (1,130 (4,267) 2,99(
Deferred revenu (45,019 (23,56%) 53,99!
Deferred ren (934 6,74% 1,27¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activifiesn continuing operatior (75,237) (61,930) 8,06t
Net cash used in operating activities from discorgd operation — (5,969 (11,510
Total net cash used in operating activit (75,237) (67,899 (3,44%)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie (97,517 (441,799 (26,679)
Sales and maturities of availa-for-sale securitie 222,25¢ 236,47 48,45¢
Purchases of property and equipm (9,682) (17,220 (3,524
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 4 1 21
Proceeds from sale of subsidi: — 9,50( —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiésn continuing operatior 115,06! (213,042 18,27¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiesn discontinued
operations — 1 (52))
Total net cash provided by (used in) investingwatitis 115,06! (213,047 17,75¢
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, netsofince cos — — 40,25(
Proceeds from initial public offerir — 203,16 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, stockhage plan and issuance of restric
stock 3,39¢ 2,02 272
Proceeds from borrowing — — 1,07¢
Payments on borrowing (260) (1,957) (1,250
Net cash provided by financing activities from éoning operation: 3,13t 203,23! 40,35:
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activifiesn discontinued
operations — 277) 1,312
Total net cash provided by financing activit 3,137 202,95¢ 41,66
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 42,96: (77,985 55,97¢
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 44,32: 122,30¢ 66,33(
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 87,28. $ 44,32 $ 122,30t
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest (includes cash paid by Mi@k $ 64 $ 328 % 412
Cash paid for income tax $ 3 $ — % (159)
Settlement of forward purchase contre $ — 3 — $ (15,300
Purchases under capital lea $ 328 % 52¢ $ 67
Debt and interest paid by purchaser of subsic $ — $ 107t $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of Business

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "ConyJais an entrepreneurial pharmaceutical compaay discovers, develops and intends to
commercialize differentiated medicines that imprpedients’ lives. The Company's lead product catdii linaclotide, a guanylate cyclase
type-C ("GC-C") agonist being developed for thetneent of patients with irritable bowel syndroméhagonstipation ("IBS-C") and chronic
constipation ("CC"). The Company and its U.S. dudlation partner, Forest Laboratories, Inc. ("Fjeannounced in August 2011 that they
submitted a New Drug Application ("NDA") to the U.Bood and Drug Administration ("FDA") for linaclde for the treatment of IBS-C and
CC. In October 2011, the FDA accepted the NDA é&xiew, and the FDA Prescription Drug User Fee ABRDUFA") target action date is
expected to occur in June 2012. In September 28&@1Company and its European partner, Almirall,.§ Almirall") each announced that
Almirall submitted a Market Authorization Applicati ("MAA") to the European Medicines Agency ("EMAYr linaclotide for the treatment
of IBS-C. The Company also has a pipeline focuselaih research and development of early developosrdidates and discovery research
in multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrastiteal disease, CNS disorders, respiratory diseadeardiovascular disease.

Prior to September 2010, the Company heldrity ownership interest in Microbia, Inc. (foerly known as Microbia Precision
Engineering), a subsidiary formed in September 2806érobia, Inc. ("Microbia") engaged in a spegydiiochemicals business based on a
proprietary strain-development platform. In Septen010, the Company sold its interest in Micrabi®SM Holding Company USA, Inc.
("DSM") (Note 2).

The Company was incorporated in Delawardamuary 5, 1998. On April 7, 2008, the Companynged its name from Microbia, Inc. to
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company cutyesikbrates in one reportable business segment,mthmeapeutics. Prior to
September 21, 2010, the Company operated in twartadge business segments, human therapeuticsiamauufacturing (Note 19).

The Company has generated an accumulafasit és of December 31, 2011 of approximately $43aillion since inception. In February
2010, the Company completed its initial public dfig of Class A common stock and raised a totapgroximately $203.2 million in net
proceeds (Note 3).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

During 2006, the Company formed Microbiaag00% wholly owned subsidiary of the CompanySéptember 2006, Microbia sold
additional equity interests to a third party, whiekluced the Company's ownership interest in Miertto85% (Note 21). The accompanying
consolidated financial statements of Ironwood Pleeenticals, Inc. include the assets, liabilitievenue, and expenses of Microbia, over
which the Company exercised control until Septen2der2010, when the Company sold its interest iorbbia to DSM. The Company
recorded noncontrolling interest in its consolidies¢atements of operations for the ownership istesEthe minority owners of Microbia. All
intercompany transactions and balances are elipdriatconsolidation.

Sale of Subsidiary and Discontinued Operations

On September 21, 2010, the Company soldtisest in Microbia to DSM in exchange for cashgeeds of $9.5 million, the payment of
approximately $1.1 million of Microbia debt andén¢st by
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

DSM and future contingent consideration based ers#ife of products incorporating Microbia's tecbggl As a result of the sale of its interest
in Microbia, the Company ceased to have any firdncterest in Microbia. The Company maintainedumher investment in Microbia and
recorded a gain on the sale of Microbia in its clidated statements of operations of approxime#&.2 million at the time of the sale. The
Company determined that Microbia qualified for gmresition as discontinued operations and accorditigtyCompany classified the assets,
liabilities, operations and cash flows of Microligdiscontinued operations for all periods presente

The agreement with DSM also included futmatingent consideration in the form of a royaltyfuture sales of products incorporating
Microbia's technology through the earlier of a) 208) the invalidity of any Microbia patent, ortbe maximum agreed upon amount is
reached. The Company's accounting policy is to @aucfor the future contingent consideration, if aag a gain contingency as the proceeds
have not been received and the receipt of royattgme is uncertain. As a result, proceeds will drdyecorded in future earnings as they are
earned. As of December 31, 2011, no amounts haae teeorded for the contingent consideration inGbepany's consolidated financial
statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiataments in accordance with generally accepteduanting principles in the U.S. requires the
Company's management to make estimates and judgtinaitmay affect the reported amounts of assetslities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and ltgsliOn an on-going basis, the Company's manadesnatuates its estimates, including those
related to revenue recognition, available-for-saeurities, impairment of long-lived assets, incdenes including the valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets, research and developmeningenties, and share-based compensation. The Cgrhpaes its estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions tedielireved to be reasonable, the results of whiain the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Attesults may differ from these estimates undiéemint assumptions or conditions. Changes in
estimates are reflected in reported results irpdréd in which they become known.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquideéstment instruments with an original maturity wipeimchased of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Investments qualifying as caslvalgnts primarily consist of money market fundsS. Treasury securities and certain U.S.
government sponsored securities. The carrying atrafurash equivalents approximates fair value. dtm@unt of cash equivalents included in
cash and cash equivalents was approximately $7iflidmand $39.2 million at December 31, 2011 afd @, respectively.

Restricted Cash

The Company is contingently liable undensed letters of credit with a bank, related toGloenpany's facility lease agreements and credit
card arrangements, in the amount of approximatelg illion and $10.5 million as of December 3112@nd 2010, respectively. As a result,
the Company has restricted cash of approximatel§y ifllion and $10.5 million as of December 31, 2@&hd 2010, respectively, securing
these letters of credit. The cash will be restdaiatil the termination

F-9




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

of the leases and credit card arrangements. Irada2011, approximately $2.8 million of restrictegsh was released due to the expiration of
the 320 Bent Street facility lease in December 2&E0of December 31, 2010, the $2.8 million is shas a current asset on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.

Available-for-Sale Securities

The Company classifies all short-term inresnts with an original maturity when purchasedrefater than three months as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carriethmtvalue, with the unrealized gains and lossesited in other comprehensive income (loss).
The amortized cost of debt securities in this catggs adjusted for amortization of premiums andration of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization is included in interest and investrmianbme. Realized gains and losses, and declineslire judged to be other than temporar
available-for-sale securities, are included inri@s¢ and investment income.

The cost of securities sold is based orsfiezific identification method. Interest and desidls on securities classified as available-for-sale
are included in interest and investment incomed@&®ermine whether an other-than-temporary impaitragists, the Company considers
whether it has the ability and intent to hold theestment until a market price recovery, and whegh@ence indicating the recoverability of
the cost of the investment outweighs evidenceécatintrary. There were no other-than-temporary impnts for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Accounts Receivable and Related Valuation Account

The Company makes judgments as to itstaldicollect outstanding receivables and provigesllowance for receivables when
collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are madetaipon a specific review of all significant oatsting invoices and the overall quality ¢
age of those invoices not specifically reviewede Ttompany's receivables primarily relate to amotgitabursed under its collaboration and
license agreements. The Company believes thatteisks associated with these collaborators aresigmificant. To date, the Company has not
had any write-offs of bad debt, and as such, thmgamy does not have an allowance for doubtful atsoas of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Canypto credit risk primarily consist of cash andlcaquivalents, restricted cash, available-for-
sale securities, and accounts receivable. The Coynpaintains its cash and cash equivalent balamithshigh-quality financial institutions
and, consequently, the Company believes that suaifsfare subject to minimal credit risk. The Conyfmavailable-for-sale investments
potentially subject the Company to concentrationsredit risk. The Company has adopted an investipelicy which limits the amounts the
Company may invest in any one type of investmeamd, requires all investments held by the Comparhyeté+ rated, thereby reducing credit
risk concentration.

Accounts receivable, including related partcounts receivable, primarily consist of amouwtis under the collaboration agreement with
Forest and license agreements with Almirall, S"Alrfirall") and Astellas Pharma Inc. ("Astellas')¢te 5) for which the Company does not
obtain collateral. Effective September 1, 2009 eSbbecame a related party when the Company séldrist 2,083,333
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shares of the Company's Series G convertible pezfetock and effective November 2, 2009, Almibetame a related party when the
Company sold to them 681,819 shares of its Seigesvertible preferred stock.

The percentages of revenue from continojpeyations recognized from significant customerefCompany in the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are includeckifidffowing table:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Collaborative Partner:
Forest 64% 50% 79%
Almirall 31% 43% 21%
Astellas 5% 7% —%

Tate & Lyle Investments, Ltd. ("T&L") accoted for approximately 98% and 100% of the Commargvenue from discontinued
operations for the years ended December 31, 204 @@®9, respectively. For the years ended Dece8ihe2011, 2010 and 2009, no additic
customers accounted for more than 10% of the Coypagvenue from continuing operations.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, accountsivable from Forest, net of any payables due Fpaesbunted for approximately 86% and
89%, respectively, of the Company's total accotateivable. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, Almaeadounted for approximately 2% and
10%, respectively, of the Company's total accougteivable. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, Astelt@sunted for approximately 11% and
0%, respectively of the Company's total accountsivable.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenue is generated throalifiborative research and development and licgrsgmeements. The terms of these
agreements contain multiple deliverables which imajude (i) licenses, (ii) research and developnaativities, and (iii) the manufacture of
active pharmaceutical ingredient ("API") and depet@nt materials for the collaborative partner. Payts to the Company under these
agreements may include non-refundable license fegsnents for research and development activipig@gments for the manufacture of API
and development materials, payments based upacttievement of certain milestones and royaltieproduct sales. In addition, prior to
September 2010, the Company generated servicesuevierough agreements that generally providefefes for research and development
services rendered.

For arrangements that include multiplewdgtibles, the Company follows the provisions ofAleeounting Standards Codification
("ASC") Topic 605-25Revenue Recognition—Multiple-Element Arrangeménes;counting for these agreements. Effective JanLig2011,
the Company adopted Accounting Standards UpdatS8WJ*ANo. 2009-13Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(itaSU 2009-13"),
which amends ASC Topic 605-25. Refer to Note 2 céddly Adopted Accounting Standards," for additiodiacussion of this standard and its
impact on the Company's accounting for collaboratind license agreements. In order to accounhése agreements, the Company must
identify the deliverables included within the agremt and evaluate which deliverables representagpanits of accounting based on if cer
criteria are met, including whether the deliveréireent has standalone value to the collaboratog.ciimsideration received is allocated among
the
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separate units of accounting based on the relatilmg price, and the applicable revenue recogmitriteria are applied to each of the separate
units. If the separation criteria is not met, raxenf the combined unit of accounting is recordasklll on the method appropriate for the last
delivered item. The Company recognizes revenue \hene is persuasive evidence that an arrangemists,eservices have been rendered or
delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or defaahle, and collection is reasonably assured.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had lboliation and license agreements with Forest, Alivarad Astellas. Refer to Note 5,
"Collaboration and License Agreements," for addiéilbdiscussion of these agreements.

There are no performance, cancellatiomitgtion or refund provisions in any of the Compararrangements that contain material
financial consequences to the Company.

Collaboration and License Agreements

The significant deliverables under the Camyps collaboration and license agreements gegénalude the license to develop and
commercialize linaclotide, the Company's GC-C agip@ind may also include deliverables relateddearch and development activities, and
the manufacture of API and development material$tfe collaborative partner.

Generally, collaboration and license agreets contain non-refundable terms for payments égplending on the terms of the agreement,
provide that the Company will (i) provide reseasstd development activities, including participat@ma joint development committee,
(i) manufacture API and development materials \Whace reimbursed at a contractually determined (gifeearn payments upon the
achievement of certain milestones, and (iv) eayaltg payments on sales of linaclotide. In deteingrthe separate units of accounting,
management evaluates whether the license has kinadalue to the partner based on the considerafithe relevant facts and circumstances
for each arrangement. Factors considered in thesménation include the research capabilities efghrtner and the availability of peptide
research expertise in the general marketplacedditian, the Company considers whether the collatoorcan use the license for its intended
purpose without the receipt of the remaining deldes, and whether the value of the license igxépnt on the undelivered items and
whether there are other vendors that can providetidelivered item.

For all of the collaboration and licenseeggnents discussed in Note 5, the licenses andragsand development activities did not qualify
as separate units of accounting since the licetislasot have standalone value without the reseanchdevelopment activities. Up-front
payments on a license are deferred if facts amaiwistances dictate that the license does not hamdaone value. The determination of the
length of the period over which to recognize theeraie is subject to judgment and estimation ancheae an impact on the amount of revenue
recognized in a given period. The Company genegstimates this period as the estimated perioédbpmance, which is typically the
research and development term due to the Compemytiuing involvement in the performance of reskaand development activities,
primarily through its participation on a joint déeement committee. Typically the research and dgwelent term begins at the inception of the
collaboration or license agreement and concludeswtihe Company's significant research and developotgigations under the agreement
have concluded. The Company believes this periadvailvement is 60 months for the Forest collabiorat41 months for the Almirall license
agreement and 115 months for the Astellas licegsseanent. Quarterly, the Company reassesses itglparf substantial involvement
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over which the Company amortizes its up-front Isefees and makes adjustments as appropriatee bvint that a license were to be
terminated, the Company would recognize as revanyegortion of the up-front fee that had not pregiy been recorded as revenue, but was
classified as deferred revenue at the date of ®raofination.

At the inception of each agreement thauides milestone payments, the Company evaluatethetheach milestone is substantive and at
risk to both parties on the basis of the contingettire of the milestone, specifically reviewingttas such as the scientific and other risks that
must be overcome to achieve the milestone, asasdtlhe level of effort and investment required.dglibnes that are not considered substantive
are accounted for as license payments and recaboiza straight-line basis over the remaining gedbperformance. Refer to Note 5 for
details on the specific milestones in each of tbenflany's agreements.

In those circumstances where a substantilestone is achieved, collection of the relatezkneable is reasonably assured and the
Company has remaining obligations to perform urldercollaboration arrangement, the Company haserfisily recognized as revenue on the
date the milestone was achieved an amount eqtia tapplicable percentage of the performance pé¢hiaidhad elapsed as of the date the
milestone was achieved, with the balance beingroEfeand recognized on a straight-line basis dwereémaining period of performance.
Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted ABU2010-17Revenue Recognition—Milestone MetligkSU 2010-17"). Refer to
Note 2, "Recently Adopted Accounting Standardst"additional discussion of the adoption of thissi@rd and its impact on the Compar
accounting for collaboration and license agreemétsler ASU 2010-17, beginning January 1, 2011hase circumstances where a
substantive milestone is achieved and collectiothefrelated receivable is reasonably assured;oingpany recognizes revenue related to the
milestone in its entirety in the period in whicle timilestone is achieved. At the inception of eacarggement that includes milestone payments,
the Company evaluates whether each milestone &amntive. This evaluation includes an assessmenhether (a) the consideration is
commensurate with either (1) the entity's perforogato achieve the milestone, or (2) the enhanceofeaht value of the delivered item(s) as a
result of a specific outcome resulting from theitglst performance to achieve the milestone, (b)cthrsideration relates solely to past
performance and (c) the consideration is reasorretdéve to all of the deliverables and paymentnewithin the arrangement. The Company
evaluates factors such as the scientific, clinieggulatory, commercial and other risks that mesbbercome to achieve the respective
milestone, the level of effort and investment regdiiand whether the milestone consideration isoregse relative to all deliverables and
payment terms in the arrangement in making thisssssent. Substantive milestones are due to the &ogmypon NDA approval of linaclotide
in the U.S., upon the initiation of a Phase 3 stisdyinaclotide in Japan, upon the filing and apl of the Japanese equivalent of an NDA
with the relevant regulatory authority in Japanldgione payments received prior to the adoptioASif) 2010-17 will continue to be
recognized over the remaining period of performance

The Company produces development mateaaiadsAPI for its collaborators and is reimbursedif®icosts to produce the material. The
Company recognizes revenue on development mageribAP| when the material has passed all qualgtjrtg required for collaborator
acceptance, delivery has occurred, title and ridkss have transferred to the collaborator, theepis fixed or determinable, and collection is
reasonably assured.
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The Company receives research and developimeding under the Forest collaboration agreeraadtconsiders the factors or indicators
within this arrangement to determine whether répgrsuch funding on a gross or net basis is apfatprThe Company records revenue
transactions gross in the consolidated statemémigearations if it is deemed the principal in thenisaction, which includes being the primary
obligor and having the risks and rewards of ownigrsh

For certain of the Company's arrangemeragicularly the license agreement with Almiratlis required that taxes be withheld on its
payments. The Company has adopted a policy to reoegevenue net of these tax withholdings.

Services Revenue

Prior to September 2010, the Company reizegrservices revenue when there was persuasidereg that an arrangement existed,
services had been rendered or delivery had ocgufregrice was fixed or determinable, and col@@civas reasonably assured. Revenue from
research and development services rendered wagniged as services were performed. As a resuli@ale of the Company's interest in
Microbia in September 2010, services revenue isidedl in net income from discontinued operations.

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and develbmosgts to operations as incurred. The Compargrsl@id capitalizes nonrefundable
advance payments made by the Company for reseadctievelopment activities until the related goodsraceived or the related services are
performed.

Research and development expenses are isaehjof costs incurred in performing research aadebpment activities, including salary
and benefits; share-based compensation expenseataty supplies and other direct expenses; fasl#xpenses; overhead expenses;
contractual services, including clinical trial aredated clinical manufacturing expenses, includingply chain development; and other outside
expenses. As a result of the sale of the Compartgest in Microbia in September 2010, costs véreie related to the Microbia services
contracts and costs associated with Microbia'sarebeand development activities are included inmmime (loss) from discontinued
operations.

The Company has entered into a collabaratgreement in which it shares research and develnpexpenses with a collaborator. The
Company records the expenses for such work asrodsead development expense. Because the collammetangement is a cost-sharing
arrangement, the Company concluded that when ther@eriod during the collaboration arrangememinguwhich the Company receives
payments from the collaborator, the Company rectivdpayments by the collaborator for their shdrhe development effort as a reductio
research and development expense.

Share-Based Compensation

Sharévased compensation is recognized as an expense fim&ncial statements based on the grant datedhie. Compensation exper
recognized primarily relates to stock awards, retstl stock and stock options granted, modifiedurehased or cancelled on or after Janua
2006. Stock options granted to employees prioh& time continue to be accounted for using theénisic value method. Under the intrinsic
value method, compensation associated with shasedbawvards to
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employees was determined as the difference, if lagiyyeen the fair value of the underlying commamiston the date compensation was
measured, generally the grant date, and the pniezrgoloyee must pay to exercise the award. Fordsathat vest based on service conditions,
the Company uses the straight-line method to aéocampensation expense to reporting periods. Téret glate fair value of options granted is
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingded, which requires the use of subjective asswmptincluding volatility, expected term
and the fair value of the underlying common st@rkpng others.

The Company records the expense for stptibro grants subject to performanibased milestone vesting over the remaining sepéc®d
when management determines that achievement afitestone is probable. Management evaluates wheeadhievement of a performance-
based milestone is probable based on the relaiigfaction of the performance conditions as ofréporting date.

The Company records the expense of servigetered by non-employees based on the estimaitechfue of the stock option using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair vabfeunvested non-employee awards are remeasurectiareporting period and expensed
over the vesting term of the underlying stock amsio

Accounting for Sabbatical Leave

The Company accrues an employee's rigatdmmpensated absence under a sabbatical, orsithi&r benefit arrangement that requires
the completion of a minimum service period andleefit increases with additional years of sernvé@eumulates, and for arrangements in
which the individual continues to be a compensatagloyee and is not required to perform dutiegHerentity during the absence. Therefore,
the compensation cost associated with a sabbatiagher similar benefit arrangement should bewtiover the requisite service period.
During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, the Company recorded expense for sabbabstd of approximately $0.3 million,
$0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively. Thasdues exclude any amounts recorded for sabbatists from discontinued operations.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the moniolling stockholder's proportionate share ofiggand net income or net loss of the
Company's former consolidated subsidiary, Microlia.September 21, 2010, the Company sold its istt@meMicrobia, resulting in the
deconsolidation of its former subsidiary bringihg honcontrolling interest balance to zero. Immtetiygprior to the sale, the Company
converted certain intercompany debt and payabtesireferred stock of Microbia, which resulted mapproximately $2.9 million decrease in
the noncontrolling interest. Prior to the sale a€idbia, the noncontrolling stockholder's propantite share of the equity in Microbia was
reflected as noncontrolling interest in the Compsuepnsolidated balance sheets as a componertahstiders' equity (deficit). The
proportionate share of the net loss attributableciocontrolling interest is reflected in the accamying consolidated statements of operations.
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Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates basic and dilutedass per common share by dividing the net lostheyweighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. The Compasyekcluded unvested restricted stock and shaaearth subject to repurchase by the
Company from the weighted average number of comshanes outstanding. The Company's potentiallyidéughares, which include
convertible preferred stock, outstanding commonlstiptions and unvested shares of restricted staoke not been included in the
computation of diluted net loss per share for aligds as the result would be antidilutive. Theslagributable to the noncontrolling interest is
included in the net income (loss) per share froseahtinued operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leaselmlorovements, are recorded at cost, and are daprdavhen placed into service using the
straight-line method based on their estimated lisigks as follows:

Estimated Useful Life
Asset Description (In Years)
Laboratory equipmer

Computer and office equipme
Furniture and fixture
Software

w~Nwo

Included in property and equipment areairrtosts of software obtained for internal usest€curred during the preliminary project
stage are expensed as incurred, while costs ircdugng the application development stage aretalig@d and amortized over the estimated
useful life of the software. The Company also cjzies costs related to specific upgrades and eenaents when it is probable the
expenditures will result in additional functiongliMaintenance and training costs related to sofvedtained for internal use are expensed as
incurred.

Leasehold improvements are amortized dveshorter of the estimated useful life of the bss¢he lease term. Costs for capital asset
yet placed into service have been capitalized astoaction in progress, and will be depreciateddoordance with the above guidelines ¢
placed into service. Maintenance and repair caste@pensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes utitketiability method. Deferred tax assets andiliiéds are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endetethtes in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are rediyca valuation allowance to reflect the uncettaaissociated with their ultimate realization.

The Company accounts for uncertain taxtjprs recognized in the consolidated financialestagnts by prescribing a more-likely-thaat
threshold for financial statement recognition areasurement of a tax position taken or expectee taken in a tax return.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company regularly reviews the carryangount of its long-lived assets to determine wheithgicators of impairment may exist,
which warrant adjustments to carrying values onesed useful lives. If indications of impairmenxist, projected future undiscounted cash
flows associated with the asset are compared todirging amount to determine whether the assaligevs recoverable. If the carrying value
of the asset exceeds such projected undiscounsédfloavs, the asset will be written down to itsrastted fair value. There were no indicators
of impairment at December 31, 2011 or DecembeRB10. At December 31, 2009, the Company concluldadithpairments of certain long-
lived assets existed at its former subsidiary, b, resulting from its restructuring in the fduguarter of 2009 (Note 21). Such long-lived
assets were written down to their estimated fdinejavhich resulted in a charge of approximately@$8illion. This charge is shown as part of
net income (loss) from discontinued operations.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive incomegjase required to be disclosed in the consolidfuteshcial statements. Comprehensive
income (loss) is defined as the change in equity lofisiness enterprise during a period from trditses; and other events and circumstances
from non-owner sources and currently consists bfass and changes in unrealized gains and lossesailable-for-sale securities.

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of arpige for which separate financial informatiomisilable and is evaluated regularly by the
Company in deciding how to allocate resources arabsessing performance.

Prior to the sale of its interest in Micimlin September 2010, the Company had two repertab$iness segments: human therapeutics ant
biomanufacturing (Note 19). Revenue from the Comgfsainuman therapeutics segment is shown in theotidated statements of operations as
collaborative arrangements revenue. Revenue fren€timpany's biomanufacturing segment is presestadcamponent of the net income
(loss) from discontinued operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronoumeats are issued by the FASB or other standarimhgdtodies that are adopted by the
Company as of the specified effective date. Untglssrwise discussed, the Company believes thairthact of recently issued standards that
are not yet effective will not have a material iropan its consolidated financial position or resuf operations upon adoption.

Recently Adopted Accounting Stande

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2089ASU 2009-13 amended existing revenue recognétmounting pronouncements that are
currently within the scope of FASB ASC Subtopic 6% (previously included within EITF 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables("EITF 00-21")). The consensus to ASU 2009-13 pilegi accounting principles and
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application guidance on whether multiple deliveeal#xist, how the arrangement should be sepa@tddhe consideration allocated. This
guidance eliminates the requirement to establistahr value of undelivered products and servicesiastead provides for separate revenue
recognition based upon management's estimate akllieg price for an undelivered item when thered other means to determine the fair
value of that undelivered item. EITF 00-21 previgugquired that the fair value of the undeliverin be the price of the item either sold in a
separate transaction between unrelated third pasti¢he price charged for each item when the itesold separately by the vendor. Under
EITF 0021, if the fair value of all of the elements in #i@angement was not determinable, then revenuelefasred until all of the items we
delivered or fair value was determined. This neprapch is effective prospectively for revenue ageanents entered into or materially
modified in fiscal years beginning on or after J&de 2010. On January 1, 2011, the Company addi$412009-13 on a prospective basis.
The adoption did not have a material impact onGbhepany's consolidated financial position or resaftoperations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-ABU 201017 provides guidance in applying the milestone wethf revenue recognition
research or development arrangements. Under tidsugee, management may recognize revenue contingentthe achievement of a
milestone in its entirety, in the period in whit¢tetmilestone is achieved, only if the milestone tmad the criteria within the guidance to be
considered substantive. This ASU is effective @unaspective basis for research and developmenstoiles achieved in fiscal years beginning
on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011Ctmpany adopted ASU 2010-17 to change its accagipiticy to begin applying the
milestone method on a prospective basis. As thegaomelected prospective adoption, there was nenmbhtmpact on its consolidated
financial position or results of operations at tinee of adoption. However, during the fourth quadg2011, the Company recognized two
milestone payments for a total of $20 million ineaue due to substantive milestones achieved A8&r 2010-17 was adopted. The adoption
resulted in approximately $2.7 million ($0.03 pbare) of additional revenue recognized in 2011 uperachievement of the milestones as
compared to recognition under the Company's pritestone accounting policy. The Company's priorestibne accounting policy recorded as
revenue the portion of the milestone payment etyutiie applicable percentage of the performancegéhat had elapsed as of the date the
milestone was achieved.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU Nd(227,Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmacautanufacturerg"ASU
2010-27") which provides guidance on how to recpgrind classify the fees mandated by the Patiet¢&ion and Affordable Care Act as
amended by the Health Care and Education RecammiliAct (together, the "Acts"). The Acts imposeamual fee for each calendar year
beginning on or after January 1, 2011 payable bydbed prescription drug manufacturers and impodensranded prescription drugs. The
liability for the fee should be estimated and releatin full upon the first qualifying sale with arcesponding deferred cost that is amortized to
expense using a straight-line method of allocabioer the calendar year that it is payable. ASU 201.G6s effective for calendar years
beginning on or after December 31, 2010, whendledritially becomes effective. On January 1, 2@hé ,Company adopted ASU 2010-27 on
a prospective basis. As the Company does not diyfezve a commercial product, the effect of thisdgnce will be limited to future
transactions.
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In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 20#1Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasuresmenbDisclosure
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFF("ASU 2011-04"). ASU 2011-04 amends ASC 8E@jr Value Measurementto ensure that fair value
has the same meaning in GAAP and Internationalr€iimdReporting Standards ("IFRS") and improvesdbeparability of the fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements in GAARRRE. ASU 2011-04 applies to all entities that mua assets, liabilities or instruments
classified in shareholder's equity at fair valuepmvide fair value disclosures for items not nefsa at fair value. ASU 2011-04 results in
common fair value measurement and disclosure repgints in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, ASLLAM changes the wording used
to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GA&ifnfieasuring fair value and for disclosing inforimatabout fair value measurements. For
many of the requirements, ASU 2011-04 will not feBua change in the application of the requiretaen ASC 820. Some of the requirements
in ASU 2011-04 clarify the FASB's intent about #plication of existing fair value measurement fegfnents. Other requirements change a
particular principle or requirement for measuriag ¥alue or for disclosing information about faglue measurements. ASU 2011-04 is
effective for public companies for interim and aahperiods beginning after December 15, 2011 andldhoe applied prospectively. Early
application is not permitted. The Company will adthps standard beginning in 2012. The Companwisently evaluating the impact, if any,
that its adoption of ASU 2011-04 will have on itmsolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 20%.IPresentation of Comprehensive Incofi®SU 2011-05") which is intended to facilitate
the convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS as well asd@ase the transparency of items reported iaratbmprehensive income. As a resul
ASU 2011-05, all nonowner changes in stockholdesysity are required to be presented in a singléimoous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statesn&he option to present other comprehensive indarttee statement of changes in equity
has been eliminated. ASU 2011-05 is effective fauljg companies for fiscal years, and interim pasivithin those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011 and should be applied retrosfedetin December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No.1202, Deferral of the Effective Da
for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifieatof Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensisgome in Accounting Standal
Update No. 2011-08'ASU 2011-12") which defers the effective datdla# provisions of ASU 2011-05 pertaining to thesgrgation of
reclassification adjustments out of accumulate@iotomprehensive income. All other requirement&$t 2011-05 are not affected by ASU
2011-12. ASU 2011-12 is effective for public comjgarfor fiscal years, and interim periods withingk years, beginning after December 15,
2011. The Company will adopt these standards beygjrin 2012. As ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 impaesentation only, they will have
no effect on the Company's consolidated finanadaitpn or results of operations.

3. Initial Public Offering

In February 2010, the Company completedhiti&l public offering of Class A common stockrguant to a registration statement that was
declared effective on February 2, 2010. The Compafhy 19,166,667 shares of its Class A common stebich included 2,500,000 shares of
the Company's Class A common stock sold pursuzaent iwver-allotment option granted to the underwsitat a price to the public of $11.25
per share. As a result of the initial public offeyj the Company raised a total of $215.6 milliogiinss proceeds, and approximately
$203.2 million in net proceeds after
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deducting underwriting discounts and commissior81dr.5 million and offering expenses of approxirhya$i.9 million.

Upon the closing of the initial public offieg, 69,904,843 shares of the Company's outstgntbnvertible preferred stock automatically
converted into 70,391,620 shares of its Class Bncomstock.

4. Net Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted net loss per share isutaled as follows (in thousands, except sharegpandhare amounts):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Numerator:

Net loss from continuing operation $ (64,852 $ (56,41) $ (59,999
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati — 4,551 (13,319
Less: Net (income) loss from discontinued

operations attributable to noncontrolling
interest — (1,127 2,12

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations
attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, i — 3,43( (11,18

Net loss attributable to Ironwoc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (64,857 $ (52,98) $ (71,189

Denominator

Weighted average number of common shares L
in net loss per share attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute: 99,874,79 89,653,36. 7,116,77.

Net loss per share associated with continuing
operations—basic and dilute: $ (0.65) $ (0.69) $ (8.4%)

Net income (loss) per share from discontin
operations attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute — 0.04 (1.57

Net loss per share attributable to Ironwc
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute: $ (0.65) $ (0.59) $ (20.00)

The following potentially dilutive secues have been excluded from the computation ofatiluteighted average shares outstanding as o
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, as they woushtiailutive:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Convertible preferred stoc — — 69,904,84
Options to purchase common stc 16,424,50 14,603,22 13,691,57
Shares subject to repurchz 160,41: 284,96( 434,15t

16,584,91 14,888,18 84,030,57
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Forest Laboratories, Inc.

In September 2007, the Company enteredaimmtollaboration agreement with Forest to jointywelop and commercialize linaclotide, a
drug candidate for the treatment of IBS-C, CC atmbiogastrointestinal conditions, in North Ameritlader the terms of this collaboration
agreement, the Company shares equally with Folled\selopment costs, as well as potential futuedits and losses from the development
and sale of linaclotide in the U.S. The Company reiteive royalties from Forest for sales in Canadd Mexico. The Company retained the
rights to commercialize linaclotide outside of NoAmerica. Forest made non-refundable, up-frontpents totaling $70.0 million to the
Company in order to obtain rights to linaclotideNorth America. Because the license to jointly deweand commercialize linaclotide did not
have standalone value without the research andajfmwent activities provided by the Company, the @any is recognizing the up-front
license fee as revenue on a straight-line basis@¥enonths, which is the Company's estimate op#réd over which linaclotide will be
jointly developed under the collaboration. At Ded®mn31, 2011, approximately $9.9 million of the-front license fee remains deferred and is
being recognized on a straidhrte basis over the remaining estimated developmperibd. The collaboration agreement also incluntegingen
milestone payments, as well as a contingent edguigstment based on the achievement of specifieldpment and commercial milestones.
These payments, including the up-front license ¢eeld total up to $330.0 million if certain devpioent and sales milestones are achieved for
linaclotide. At December 31, 2011, $120.0 millionlicense fees and milestone payments had alreaely keceived, as well as a $25.0 million
equity investment in the Company's capital stodkith® remaining milestones, each of which the Camgpaonsiders substantive, pre-
commercial milestone payments could total up to.$8&llion upon NDA approval. The Company can asbieve up to approximately
$100.0 million in a sales related milestone if agrtconditions are met.

The collaboration agreement included aiogent equity investment, in the form of a forwararchase contract, which required Forest to
purchase shares of the Company's convertible peefastock, upon achievement of a specific clinfndéstone. Based on the Company's
evaluation, this financial instrument was consideaa asset or liability, which was required to beried at fair value. At the inception of the
arrangement, the Company valued the contingentyebiestment and recorded a $9.0 million assetiaci@mental deferred revenue. The
$9.0 million of incremental deferred revenue isgeiecognized as revenue on a straight-line bagistbe period of the Company's continuing
involvement, which was estimated to be 60 montbsifthe inception of the arrangement. At Decembe811, approximately $1.3 million
the incremental deferred revenue remains defelnetuly 2009, the Company achieved the clinicakstibne triggering the equity investment
and reclassified the forward purchase contractraslaction to convertible preferred stock. The Camypissued the 2,083,333 shares to Forest
on September 1, 2009.

Additionally, the Company has achieved folithe development milestones under this agregraéirdf which the Company determinec
be substantive. In September 2008, the Compange&thia clinical milestone which triggered a $10illion milestone payment and in July
2009, the Company achieved a second clinical noitestvhich triggered a $20.0 million milestone papmét December 31, 2011,
approximately $1.4 million and $2.8 million of thalestone payments, respectively, remain defernetlasie being recognized on a straitihé-
basis over the remaining estimated developmenbgeli October 2011, the Company achieved the pnertercial milestones of FDA
acceptance of the linaclotide NDA for both IBS-Gl&C and received milestone payments of

F-21




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
5. Collaboration and License Agreements (Continued)

$20.0 million from Forest. In accordance with ASQILR-17, adopted in January 2011, these milestoees mecognized as revenue in their
entirety upon achievement.

The Company recognized revenue from the$arollaboration agreement totaling approxima$dly.8 million, $21.8 million and
$27.0 million during the years ended December 81,122010 and 2009, respectively.

Further, because the Company shares dawelutpcosts equally with Forest, payments from Rosith respect to research and
development costs incurred by the Company are decdoas a reduction to expense, and not as revAsueresult of the cost-sharing
arrangements under the collaboration, the Comp#agtapproximately $8.2 million, $15.5 million ad5.1 million during the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 respectivelynagegsearch and development expense.

Almirall, S.A.

In April 2009, the Company entered intacathse agreement with Almirall for European rigiatslevelop and commercialize linaclotide
for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and other lower gastestinal conditions. Under the terms of thetise agreement, Almirall is responsible for
the expenses associated with the development antheccialization of linaclotide in the European itemny. The license agreement requires the
Company to participate on a joint development cott@miover linaclotide's development period. The Gany will receive escalating royalties
from the sales of linaclotide in the European teryi. In May 2009, the Company received a $38.0ionilpayment from Almirall representing
$40.0 million non-refundable up-front payment netaseign withholding taxes. The Company electedetcord the non-refundable up-front
payment on a net basis. Because the license tdogeaed commercialize linaclotide did not have dtane value without the research and
development activities provided by the Company,Geenpany is recognizing the up-front license feeeagnue on a straight-line basis over
the development period, the Company's estimatieeopéeriod over which linaclotide will be developgttier the license agreement for the
European territory. In June 2011, the Company eelits estimate of the development period from Bditins to 41 months and based on the
Company's assessment of approval timelines adjitstadhortization of the remaining deferred reveaaeordingly. This resulted in the
recognition of an additional approximately $5.0lioil of revenue in 2011. At December 31, 2011, agpjpnately $10.7 million of the up-front
license fee remains deferred. The license agreeatsmincludes contingent milestone payments, disase contingent equity investment, that
could total up to $55.0 million upon achievemenspécific clinical and sales milestones. At Decenfide 2011, $19.0 million, net of foreign
withholding taxes, in milestone payments has alydsen received, as well as a $15.0 million equitgstment in the Company's capital stc
Remaining pre-commercial milestone payments, e&ehizh the Company considers substantive, con$i$4.0 million due upon the first
commercial launch in each of the five major E.Uurtmies set forth in the agreement.

The license agreement included a contingguity investment, in the form of a forward pursba&ontract, which required Almirall to
purchase shares of the Company's convertible peefstock, upon achievement of a specific clinmééstone. Based on the Company's
evaluation, this financial instrument was considexa asset or liability, which was required to beried at fair value. The contingent equity
investment was valued at inception at its fair ealit the inception of the arrangement, the Compaatyed the contingent equity investment
and recorded a $6.0 million asset and incrememti@rced revenue. The $6.0 million of incrementdeded revenue is being
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recognized as revenue on a straight-line basisthegperiod of the Company's continuing involvemeritich was originally estimated to be
50 months and was revised in June 2011 to 41 monhtesreduction in the development period was detas a change in estimate and
deferred revenue will be recorded over the revisibd on a prospective basis. At December 31, 2@dfroximately $1.7 million of the
incremental deferred revenue remains deferred.ovelhber 2009, the Company achieved the clinicatstoine triggering the equity
investment and reclassified the forward purchasgraot as a reduction to convertible preferredist@n November 13, 2009, the Company
received $15.0 million from Almirall for the purcbaof 681,819 shares of convertible preferred stock

In November 2010, the Company achievectarsk development milestone under the Almirall Ieeagreement, which the Company
determined to be substantive, which resulted i@ ®million payment, representing the $20.0 millinilestone, net of foreign withholding
taxes. The Company recognized revenue of approgisnd¥.2 million upon achievement of the milestofleis amount represents the portion
of the milestone payment equal to the applicabteggage of the performance period that had elapsed the date the milestone was
achieved. The remainder of the balance was defearetlis being recognized on a straight-line bagés the remaining development period. At
December 31, 2011, approximately $5.3 million & thilestone payment remains deferred.

The Company recognized approximately $2ilBon, $18.9 million and $7.4 million in total venue from the Almirall license agreement
during the years ended December 31, 2011, 201Q@0@, respectively, including approximately $0.3liom, $0.7 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, from the sale of API to Almirall.

Astellas Pharma Inc.

On November 9, 2009, the Company enteredanicense agreement with Astellas. Astellasthagight to develop and commercialize
linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and athastrointestinal conditions in Japan, South Kofeawan, Thailand, the Philippines and
Indonesia. Under the terms of the agreement, Astglaid the Company an up-front licensing fee @ &3nillion on November 16, 2009. The
license agreement requires the Company to partecipa a joint development committee over linack8dlevelopment period. The agreement
includes additional development milestone paymegash of which the Company considers substantig,dould total up to $45.0 million.
These milestone payments consist of $15.0 milliporuinitiation of a Phase 3 study for linaclotideJapan, $15.0 million upon filing of the
Japanese equivalent of an NDA with the relevantleggry authority in Japan, and $15.0 million ugproval of such equivalent by the
relevant regulatory authority. In addition, the Guany will receive escalating royalties on linadletisales should Astellas receive approval to
market and sell linaclotide in the Asian markettelas will be responsible for activities relatitigregulatory approval and commercialization.
Because the license to develop and commercializelbtide did not have standalone value withoutrésearch and development activities
provided by the Company, the Company is recognittiegup-front license fee as revenue on a strdightbasis over 115 months, which is the
Company's estimate of the period over which linggdtowill be developed under the license agreerfaerthe Asian market. At December 31,
2011, approximately $24.3 million of the up-froiteinse fee remains deferred. During the years eBéedmber 31, 2011 and 2010, the
Company recognized approximately $3.5 million aBd$nillion, respectively, in revenue from the Alste license agreement, including
approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respeely, from the sale of API to Astellas. The Compalid not
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recognize any revenue associated with the Astafasement in 2009 because the expected perfornpanioel of the Company's significant
continuing obligations could not be reasonably exidbly estimated until the first quarter of 2010.

Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc.

The Company entered into a collaboratio@ment with Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc. andaganist Pty Ltd. (collectively
"Protagonist”) in January 2011. Under this agredpnfemtagonist will use its proprietary technolgggtform to discover peptides against
certain targets and the Company has the righteteldp and commercialize these peptides. In coioreatith entering into the agreement, the
Company made an up-front payment to Protagoniappfoximately $2.8 million. In accordance with #yplicable accounting guidance, the
Company expensed the up-front payment as reseadctievelopment expense. The Company also fundtifudl equivalents for Protagonist's
drug discovery activities, and will make certaidestone and royalty payments for each product pgnttie achievement of certain
development and commercialization milestones. Tlesgingent milestones could total up to approxetye$111.5 million per product if all
milestones are achieved. The Company will expemsset payments as incurred. During the year endedrblger 31, 2011, the Company
recorded approximately $5.0 million in research dadelopment expense, including the up-front paytressociated with the Protagonist
agreement.

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The tables below present information altbetCompany's assets that are measured at fa@ wala recurring basis as of December 31,
2011 and 2010 and indicates the fair value hiesaotthe valuation techniques the Company utilimedetermine such fair value. In general,
fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilizesetvable inputs such as quoted prices in activé&etsafor identical assets or liabilities. Fair
values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize datafsothat are either directly or indirectly obsdrle such as quoted prices, interest rates and
yield curves. Fair values determined by Level duisputilize unobservable data points in which thedétle or no market data, which requ
the Company to develop its own assumptions foaset or liability.

The Company's investment portfolio includeany fixed income securities that do not alwaggéron a daily basis. As a result, the pri
services used by the Company applies other availaldrmation as applicable through processes aadienchmark yields, benchmarking of
like securities, sector groupings and matrix pddio prepare valuations. In addition, model proessgere used to assess interest rate impact
and develop prepayment scenarios. These modelsntimkeonsideration relevant credit informationrqeved market movements, sector news
and economic events. The inputs into these modajsintlude benchmark yields, reported trades, brdkaler quotes, issuer spreads and
relevant data.

F-24




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)
The following tables present the assetshimpany has measured at fair value on a recubasg (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market funds (include
in cash and cash equivaler $ 77,15¢ $ 77,15¢ $ — $ —
U.S. Treasury securitie 21,82 21,82 — —
U.S. governmel-sponsore(
securities 54,91 — 54,91 —
Total $ 153,89. $ 98,97¢ $ 54,91: $ —
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market funds (included
in cash and cash equivaler $ 36,22¢ $ 36,22¢ $ — $ —
U.S. government-sponsored
securities (included in cash
and cash equivalent 2,99¢ — 2,99¢ —
U.S. Treasury securitie 116,21¢ 116,21¢ — —
U.S. governmel-sponsorel
securities 87,48 — 87,48 —
Total $ 24293 $ 152,447 $ 90,48t $ —

During the year ended December 31, 20@Cthmpany held forward purchase contracts assdoiéth the Company's collaboration
agreement with Forest and license agreement withirall, as described in Note 5. The agreementsiredéorest and Almirall to purchase
shares of the Company's convertible preferred stdbekpre-determined price upon meeting specifield@ment milestones. The values of the
forward purchase contracts represented the estinpatdability weighted value of the premium aboaie ¥alue that Forest and Almirall paid
for the convertible preferred shares should thestdnes be achieved. The Company estimated thealaie of the convertible preferred stock
using methods consistent with the American Insgitft Certified Public Accountants Practice Aiiluation of PrivatelyHeld Company Equit
Securities Issued as Compensatftie "Practice Aid"). The Company remeasured tivevidue of the forward purchase contracts at each
reporting period using current assumptions, withnges in value recorded as other income or expense.

Cash equivalents, accounts receivableudtiey related party accounts receivable, prepaieeses and other current assets, accounts
payable, accrued expenses and the current potfticapital lease obligations are carried at amotivdsapproximate fair value due to their
short-term maturities. Capital lease obligationgragimate fair value as they bear interest at@ agproximating a market interest rate.
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As a result of the strategic restructunitan implemented by Microbia in November 2009 (N21g¢, the Company identified certain assets
as impaired and at December 31, 2009 had measppedxémately $0.7 million of assets at fair valueanonrecurring basis, recognizing an
impairment charge of approximately $0.9 million.€Bk longived assets were classified as Level 2. They wetially valued at cost and wh
identified as impaired, valued at estimated selprige. The Company used observable inputs susklisg prices of similar equipment in
similar condition. The impaired assets were assediaith the biomanufacturing segment and the &sseciated with the restructuring and
impairment is shown as part of net income (lossnfdiscontinued operations on the consolidate@stants of operations. The assets held at
fair value were included in the sale of the Compginterest in Microbia to DSM and thus were neevaluated for impairment at
December 31, 2010 or December 31, 2011.

7. Available-for-Sale Investments

The following tables summarize the avaiafur-sale securities held at December 31, 201 10swember 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2011
U.S. governmel-sponsored securitie $ 54,91 $ 12 $ (10) $ 54,91¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 21,817 4 — 21,82:
Total $ 76,72¢ $ 16 $ (100 $ 76,73¢
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2010
U.S. governmel-sponsored securitit $ 87,50: $ 33 (19 $ 87,48:
U.S. Treasury securitie 116,20( 24 (5) 116,21¢
Total $ 203,70 $ 27 $ (24) $ 203,70¢

The contractual maturities of all secustield at December 31, 2011 are one year or l&sseTwere twelve investments classified as
available-for-sale securities in an unrealized jossition at December 31, 2011, none of which heehlin an unrealized loss position for more
than twelve months. The aggregate fair value afateecurities was approximately $35.5 million. Eheere thirty-one investments classified
as available-for-sale securities in an unrealipsg position at December 31, 2010, none of whichlsen in an unrealized loss position for
more than twelve months. The aggregate fair vafukese securities was approximately $94.7 millibme Company reviews its investments
for other-than-temporary impairment whenever thevalue of an investment is less than amortizest eod evidence indicates that an
investment's carrying amount is not recoverabléiwia reasonable period of time. To determine wdredim impairment is other-than-
temporary, the Company considers whether it haaliilgy and intent to hold the investment untiharket price recovery and considers
whether evidence indicating the cost of the investhis recoverable outweighs evidence to the contfidne Company does not intend to sell
the
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investments and it is not more likely than not tiinet Company will be required to sell the investtadiefore recovery of their amortized cost
bases, which may be maturity. The Company did otit Any securities with an other-than-temporaryampent at December 31, 2011.

The cost of securities sold is determinaskeldl on the specific identification method for msgs of recording realized gains and losses.
Gross realized gains and losses on the sales estiments have not been material to the Compang&otidated results of operations.

8. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of thiefiohg (in thousands):

December 31

2011 2010
Laboratory equipmer $ 13544 $ 11,37t
Computer and office equipme 4,85¢ 3,19¢
Furniture and fixture 1,69¢ 1,481
Software 5,25¢ 3,29¢
Construction in proces 1,86( 2,701
Leasehold improvemen 32,16¢ 29,24¢

59,38( 51,30:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (25,759 (16,939

$ 33,628 $ 34,36¢

In both the years ended December 31, 268812810, the Company entered into capital leasessidain computer and office equipment.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company pprbaimately $1.3 million and $1.0 million, respgety, of assets under capital leases
with accumulated amortization balances of approietyeb0.7 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense opprty and equipment associated with continuingatfmns, including equipment recorded
under capital leases, was approximately $10.0onill$6.2 million and $4.8 million for the years eddDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Approximately $0.1 million and $0.5lion in depreciation and amortization expenseaided with property and equipment of
Microbia, included in net income (loss) from distinned operations, was recorded in the years eBeéegmber 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. In the year ended December 31, 20@3Company recorded a charge for impairment gfdored assets of approximately
$0.9 million, which was required to adjust certagsets at Microbia to their fair value at the tiierobia implemented its strategic
restructuring plan. This amount is included ininebme (loss) from discontinued operations forytaar ended December 31, 2009.
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Accrued expenses consisted of the followinghousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Salaries and benefi $ 7,528 $ 5,06:
Professional fee 82C 83¢€
Other 2,771 3,03¢

$ 11,12 $ 8,93¢

10. Patent Costs

The Company incurred and recorded as dpgrakpense legal and other fees related to patérigproximately $2.2 million, $1.9 millic
and $1.6 million for the years ended December 81122010 and 2009, respectively. These costs efexrged to general and administrative
expenses as incurred. Additionally, patent costspproximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million reldt® Microbia are included in net income
(loss) from discontinued operations for the yeadeel December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

11. Debt

In September 2010, the Company repaidwfitanding principal and interest under a mastan End security agreement with a financing
company to finance the purchase of laboratory dhdraquipment agreement. The Company incurreghayeaent fees of approximately
$67,000 in conjunction with the repayment of defwbich approximately $31,000 is included in netame (loss) from discontinued
operations and the remainder is included in integggense in the statement of operations.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its facility, offsitéadstorage location and various equipment undeekethat expire at varying dates through 2018.
Certain of these leases contain renewal optiortsyeguire the Company to pay operating costs, @iolyiproperty taxes, insurance and
maintenance.

In January 2007, the Company entered iné@ase agreement for 113,646 rentable square fedfice and lab space at 301 Binney Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts. The initial term of daesé is eight years expiring in January 2016, a@€Cbmpany has the right to extend the
initial term for two additional terms of five yeagach. The Company's occupancy of the space odcimrfeur distinct phases, and rent for e
phase commenced at the earlier of a contractuallgate or the occupancy date. Base rent for theespanges from $49.25 to $60.50 per
rentable square foot per year. Base rent escatafesuary 2012 based upon a formula that is tiellé Consumer Price Index. The space was
delivered to the Company in September 2007, andpgyments for the initial occupancy commencedaimuary 2008. The rent expense,
inclusive of the escalating rent payments and fieeé period is recognized on a straight-line basey the term of the lease agreement. In
accordance with the terms of the lease agreenfen€Company maintains a letter of credit securia@liligations under the lease agreement of
approximately $7.6 million.
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The Company amended the lease agreeméebimuary 2010, July 2010, February 2011 and Octddg&t (together "the Amendments™
order to lease additional space. Pursuant to theniments, the Company leases an additional 96&§it8hie square feet of the 301 Binney
Street building, comprised of (a) an initial pha$&5,444 rentable square feet (the "Initial Phad®) a second phase of 21,589 rentable sc
feet (the "Second Phase"), (c) a third phase @&6rentable square feet (the "Third Phase") apd fdurth phase of 21,717 rentable square
feet (the "Fourth Phase"). Rent for the Initial 8&v@ommenced on July 1, 2010, rent for the SecbaddPcommenced on March 1, 2011, rent
for the Third Phase is expected to commence Jariy&912, and rent for the Fourth Phase will comeearo later than June 1, 2012. Initial
base rent for the Initial Phase is $42.00 per t#ataquare foot per year and the initial base farthe Second Phase, Third Phase and Fourth
Phase is $42.50 per rentable square foot per Baae rent for the Initial Phase, Second Phased Rfiase and Fourth Phase will increase
annually by $0.50 per rentable square foot. Comsistith the Company's treatment of the lease esgpassociated with the initial lease
agreement, lease expense associated with the Anegrtslnmclusive of the escalating rent paymentsedsgnized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease agreement. The Amendment®tichange the expiration date of the lease agneeme

The landlord has reimbursed the Companytéaenant improvements for the space occupieat poithe Amendments at a set rate per
rentable square foot. Under the terms of the Ameards) the landlord has or will provide the Compuaiityh an allowance for the additional
space, which consists of $55.00 per rentable sqoatdor tenant improvements in the Initial Phasel the Second Phase and an allowance of
$40.00 per rentable square foot for the Third Plaaskthe Fourth Phase. As of December 31, 201 tozippately $15.9 million has been paid
to the Company as reimbursement for tenant imprevesnunder the lease agreement, including the Aments. The reimbursement amount
is recorded as deferred rent on the consolidatithba sheets and is being amortized as a reductieant expense over the term of the lease
agreement or the Amendments, as applicable.

The Company elected not to renew its ledisgproximately 39,000 square feet of space atB32tt Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts,
which expired in December 2010.

The Company, and in some cases, alongitsittollaboration partner, Forest, has enterednmiittiple commercial supply agreements for
the purchase of linaclotide API and drug produett@in of the agreements contain minimum purchasenutments, the earliest of which
commences in 2012. As of December 31, 2011, thepaagis minimum purchase requirement across akgineements is approximately
$58.7 million through 2017. The Company's minimuwmghase requirement by year is as follows: appratéty $16.5 million, $7.2 million,
$9.7 million, $9.7 million, $9.7 million and $5.9ilfion for the years ending December 31, 2012, 2@R 4, 2015, 2016 and 2017,
respectively.

In the years ended December 31, 2011 ah@,2Be Company entered into capital leases tatalpproximately $0.3 million and
$1.0 million, respectively, for certain computedasffice equipment. The capital leases expire a@bua times through June 2015. At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the weighted averageegt rate on the outstanding capital lease dibigawas 8.0% and 10.6%, respectively.
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At December 31, 2011, future minimum lepgagments under all non-cancelable lease arrangeraemts follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital

Leases Leases
2012 $ 11,167 $ 27¢
2013 11,64¢ 234
2014 11,70 17¢
2015 11,75¢ 50
2016 367 —
Thereaftel 217 —
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 46,85’ 733
Less amounts representing intel (78)
Capital lease obligations at December 31, Z 65E
Less current portion of capital lease obligati (239)
Capital lease obligations, net of current port $ 42z

Rent expense of approximately $6.6 milli$&,9 million and $9.1 million was charged to cantng operations for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivelyt &erense of approximately $1.3 million and $2.Hiani related to Microbia for the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivelyglisded in net income (loss) from discontinuedragiens.

Guarantees

As permitted under Delaware law, the Conygademnifies its officers and directors for cemtavents or occurrences while the officer or
director is, or was, serving at the Company's rsgimesuch capacity. The maximum potential amodfiatmre payments the Company could
required to make is unlimited; however, the Complaay directors' and officers' insurance coverageshould limit its exposure and enable it
to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.

The Company is a party to a number of ages entered into in the ordinary course of bissiribat contain typical provisions that
obligate the Company to indemnify the other pariiesuch agreements upon the occurrence of certaints. Such indemnification obligations
are usually in effect from the date of executionhaf applicable agreement for a period equal tafi@icable statute of limitations. The
aggregate maximum potential future liability of @empany under such indemnification provisionsrisartain.

The Company leases office space under acancelable operating lease. The Company has dasthindemnification arrangement under
the lease that requires it to indemnify its landlagainst all costs, expenses, fines, suits, cladermands, liabilities, and actions directly
resulting from any breach, violation or nonperfonoa of any covenant or condition of the Compareasé. The aggregate maximum potential
future liability of the Company under such indenwdgfion provisions is uncertain.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Compad not experienced any material losses retatdtese indemnification obligations and
no material claims with respect thereto were ontiitey. The Company does not expect significantrtdaielated to these indemnification
obligations and,
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consequently, concluded that the fair value ofdéhmdigations is negligible. As a result, the Comphas not established any related reserves.
13. Litigation

From time to time, the Company is involredarious legal proceedings and claims, eitheesd or unasserted, which arise in the
ordinary course of business. While the outcoméne$é other claims cannot be predicted with cegtamanagement does not believe that the
outcome of any of these other legal matters, inldiaily and in aggregate, will have a material adgeaffect on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

14. Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

In February 2010, in conjunction with ther@pany's initial public offering (Note 3), the Coamy amended its certificate of incorporation
to authorize it to issue 500,000,000 shares ofsCAasommon stock, 100,000,000 shares of Class Brammstock and 75,000,000 shares of
preferred stock. Upon the closing of the Compamyt&l public offering, 69,904,843 shares outstiaigdof the Company's convertible prefer
stock automatically converted into 70,391,620 shafdts Class B common stock.

Preferred Stock

The Company's preferred stock ($0.001 phrevper share) may be issued from time to timenimor more series, with each such series to
consist of such number of shares and to have sugtstas adopted by the board of directors. Auth@igiven to the board of directors to
determine and fix such voting powers, full or liedt or no voting powers, and such designationgegmeces and relative participating, optic
or other special rights, and qualifications, lirtitta or restrictions thereof, including without litation thereof, dividend rights, conversion
rights, redemption privileges and liquidation prefeces.

Common Stock

The Company has designated two seriesrafraan stock, Series A Common Stock ($0.001 par vpdreshare), which is referred to as
"Class A Common Stock," and Series B Common St80k001 par value per share), which is referredsttCdass B Common Stock." All
shares of common stock that were outstanding imatelgi prior to August 2008 were converted into skaf Class B Common Stock. The
holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Com8took vote together as a single class. Class A Gamfatock is entitled to one vote |
share. Class B Common Stock is also entitled tovoite per share with the following exceptions: &ftgr the completion of an initial public
offering of the Company's stock, the holders of@ess B Common Stock are entitled to ten voteshare if the matter is an adoption of an
agreement of merger or consolidation, an adoptfaresolution with respect to the sale, leasexshange of the Company's assets or an
adoption of dissolution or liquidation of the Comgaand (2) Class B common stockholders are edtitiden votes per share on any matter if
any individual, entity, or group seeks to obtairhas obtained beneficial ownership of 30% or mdrta® Company's outstanding shares of
common stock. Class B Common Stock converts tosdaSommon Stock, on a one-fone basis, if transferred or sold after the connuedf
a public offering. Class B Common Stock can be sblany time and irrevocably converts to Class An@mn Stock upon sale or transfer.
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The Class B Common Stock will be entitlectseparate class vote for the issuance of additghares of Class B Common Stock (except
pursuant to dividends, splits or convertible se@sg), or any amendment, alteration or repeal gf@ovision of the Company's charter. All
Class B Common Stock will automatically converbi@tlass A Common Stock upon the earliest of:

. the later of (1) the first date on which the numbkshares of Class B Common Stock then outstanditess than 25% of the
number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstgridimediately following the completion of an init@ublic offering or
(2) December 31, 2018;

. December 31, 2038; or

. a date agreed to in writing by a majority of thédeos of the Class B Common Sto

The Company has reserved such number oéslad Class A Common Stock as there are outstgratiares of Class B Common Stock
solely for the purpose of effecting the conversidthe Class B Common Stock.

The holders of shares of Class A CommoglSamd Class B Common Stock are entitled to dividehand when declared by the board of
directors. In the event that dividends are paithenform of common stock or rights to acquire comrstock, the holders of shares of Class A
Common Stock shall receive Class A Common Stoclgbts to acquire Class A Common Stock and thedrsldf shares of Class B Common
Stock shall receive Class B Common Stock or rightscquire Class B Common Stock, as applicable.

In the event of a voluntary or involuntdiguidation, dissolution, distribution of assets winding up of the Company, the holders of
shares of Class A Common Stock and the holdersares of Class B Common Stock are entitled to shauelly, on a per share basis, in all
assets of the Company of whatever kind availahiglifstribution to the holders of common stock.

Restricted Stock

In 2009, the Company granted an aggreddié®549 shares of common stock to independentbeesrof the board of directors under
restricted stock agreements in accordance withettmes of the Company's Amended and Restated 2@@k Stcentive Plan ("2005 Plan") and
the Company's director compensation program. 185sb4res of restricted common stock granted in 2@8%d on December 31, 2009 and
the remainder vest ratably over four years begmpimnJanuary 2010. In the event that a membereobtiard of directors ceases to serve on the
Company's board prior to December 31, 2013, the lmeeshall forfeit all unvested shares in accordamitle the terms of the restricted stock
agreement.
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A summary of the unvested shares of rdstitistock as of December 31, 2011 is presentedvbelo

Weighted-Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2C 270,000 $ 5.6¢
Grantec — —
Vested (82,500 $ 5.71
Forfeited (27,500 $ 5.4¢
Unvested at December 31, 2C 160,000 $ 5.72

15. Stock Option Plans

The Company has several share-based coatanglans. At December 31, 2011, there were 6@8*2shares available for future grant
under all plans.

Under the 1998 Amended and Restated Statio®Plan ("1998 Plan"), options to purchase 3,d08 shares of common stock were
available for grant to employees, directors, anwsatiants of the Company. The options were granteér the 1998 Plan at fair market value
on the grant date, generally vest over a periddwfyears, and expire ten years from the grarg.dettere are no shares available for future
grant under this plan, as it expired in accordamitke its terms in 2008. At December 31, 2011, amifor 25,000 shares were outstanding
under the 1998 Plan.

Under the Company's Amended and Restatéd 3fck Incentive Plan ("2002 Plan™) and 2005 Pdtock awards may be granted to
employees, officers, directors, consultants, oiisme of the Company. The 2002 Plan and 2005 Riavi¢e for the granting of stock options,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, and osi@re-based awards. There were 4,700,000 shacesofion stock allocated for issuance under
the 2002 Plan and 12,200,000 shares allocatedgoance under the 2005 Plan. The 2002 Plan allovtké transfer of unused shares from the
1998 Plan. Upon the expiration of the 1998 Pladuly 10, 2008, 382,438 unused shares were traadferrthe 2002 Plan. At December 31,
2011, there were 61,831 shares available for fugtaat under the 2002 Plan and 30,853 shares blaflar future grant under the 2005 Plan.

During 2010, the Company's stockholders@pgd and amended the Amended and Restated 201 ¥aapDirector and Consultant
Equity Incentive Plan ("2010 Plan") (together wiitle 2002 Plan and 2005 Plan, the "Plans") whiclaimeceffective upon the closing of the
Company's initial public offering on February 8,120 Under the 2010 Plan, stock awards may be gidatemployees, officers, directors, or
consultants of the Company. There are 6,000,00&sld common stock initially reserved for issuannder the 2010 Plan. The number of
shares available for future grant under the 2040 Fiay be increased on the first day of each figeat by an amount equal to the lesser of
(i) 6,600,000; (ii) 4% of the number of outstandsitares of Class A common stock on the first dagach fiscal year; and (iii) an amount
determined by the board of directors. Accordinglyring 2011, 3,966,893 shares were added to the RGih. Awards that are returned to the
Company's 1998 Plan, 2002 Plan and 2005 Planesu# of their expiration, cancellation, terminatior repurchase are automatically made
available for issuance under the 2010 Plan. Acaogidj during 2011, 182,575 shares were transfeede 2010 Plan. At December 31, 2011,
there were 6,130,297 shares available for futuasatgunder the 2010 Plan.
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During 2010, the Company's stockholders@gd the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("BeecRlan™) which became effective
upon the closing of the Company's initial publiéeoihg on February 8, 2010. The Purchase Plan alkgigible employees the right to purch
shares of common stock at the lower of 85% of #irerharket value of a share of common stock orfiteeor last day of an offering period.
Each offering period is six months. There were @00,shares of common stock initially reserved $suance pursuant to the Purchase Plan.
The number of shares available for future granteuide Purchase Plan may be increased on the&ysof each fiscal year by an amount equal
to the lesser of (i) 1,000,000 shares, (ii) 1%hef shares of common stock outstanding on the #&sofithe immediately preceding fiscal year,
or (iii) such lesser number of shares as is detegthby the board of directors. At December 31, 2€idre were 296,046 shares available for
future grant under the Purchase Plan.

Each plan, other than the Purchase Plawjges for the granting of stock awards wherebyGbenpany's Class B common stock is
issuable upon exercise of options granted pridheoclosing of the Company's initial public offegiand Class A common stock is issuable
upon exercise of options granted after the closirthe Company's initial public offering. At Deceert81, 2011, options exercisable into
10,307,587 shares of Class B common stock and ®13&hares of Class A common stock were outstgndin

The option price at the date of grant iedwined by the board of directors and, in the edsecentive stock options, may not be less than
the fair market value of the common stock at the dh grant. Due to the absence of an active mdokehe Company's common stock, prior to
the Company's initial public offering on February2P10, the board of directors was required tordates the fair value of the common stock
for consideration in setting exercise prices fa tiptions granted and in valuing the options gidrtedetermining the fair value, the board of
directors considered both quantitative and qual#diactors including prices at which the Compaald shares of its convertible preferred
stock, the rights, preferences and liquidity of @@mpany's convertible preferred and common stiliekCompany's historical operating and
financial performance and the status of its redeant product development efforts, achievemenntdrgrise milestones, including the
Company entering into collaboration agreements w/kigrd parties agree to purchase shares of thep@oy's convertible preferred stock at
fixed prices sometime in the future, external madanditions affecting the biotechnology industegt®r, and financial market conditions and,
commencing in 2006, contemporaneous valuationsigedvby management.

The option exercise period may not exteeybind ten years from the date of grant. The 1988,Rhe 2002 Plan and the 2005 Plan prc
that, subject to approval by the board of diregtomion grantees may have the right to exercisepdion prior to vesting. Shares purchased
upon the exercise of unvested options will be stthjethe same vesting schedule as the underlyptigres, and are subject to repurchase at the
original exercise price by the Company should timpleyee be terminated or leave the Company priteetmming fully vested in such shares.
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were 413 41860 shares, respectively, that had been issusdigmt to the exercise of unvested
options that remain unvested and subject to resechy the Company. At December 31, 2011, the Coyng@es not hold any treasury sha
Upon stock option exercise, the Company issuessteres and delivers them to the participant. Tleectse of these shares is not substantive
and as a result, the cash paid for the exercisepis considered a deposit or prepayment of taecise price and is recorded as a liability and
was not material to the consolidated financialestagnts at December 31, 2011 and 2010.
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The Company, from time to time, issuesaiprtime-accelerated stock options to certain egg®#e under the Plans. The vesting of these
time-accelerated stock options accelerates upoadhievement of certain performance-based milestdhéhese criteria are not met, such
options will vest between six and ten years afierdate of grant, and expire at the end of tensy&€auring the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, 1,059,000 shares and 52,500 shares \&stecksult of milestone or service period achwrds, respectively. At December 31,
2011 and 2010, there were 1,210,000 and 2,279/0@@s, respectively, issuable under outstandinguamdsted time-accelerated options.
When achievement of the milestone is not deemeblgirle, the Company recognizes compensation expasseiated with time-accelerated
stock options initially over the vesting periodtbé respective stock option. When deemed probdldetoevement, the Company expenses the
remaining unrecognized compensation for the respestock option over the implicit service peridd.December 31, 2011, the Company has
approximately $0.5 million in unrecognized sharsdgshcompensation, net of estimated forfeitureajed|to these options.

During 2005, the Company granted to empsygerformance-based options to purchase 97,508ssbbcommon stock at an exercise
price of $0.60 per share, which represented thesédile of the stock at that time. These optioressabject to performance-based milestone
vesting and expire ten years from the date of gfime options were deemed to be variable upon dgrecduse the number of shares that will
vest was not fixed on the date of grant. Therefitre options are remeasured at each reportinggaritl settlement of the option. All 97,500
options are fully vested. During the year endeddbager 31, 2010, 37,500 shares were exercised dndoddnger be remeasured. The
Company recorded share-based compensation retatbdse performance-based options of approxim&tty million, ($43,000) and
$0.7 million during the years ended December 31122010 and 2009, respectively.

During 2011 and 2010, the Company grartezhiployees options to purchase a total of 230aB@067,500 shares of common stock
subject to performance-based milestone vestingeriwely. The vesting of these stock options wiltur upon the achievement of certain
performance-based milestones. During 2011 and 28,000 shares and 5,000 shares vested as agEsilestone achievements,
respectively, and the Company recorded relatecedbased compensation expense of approximatelyrillidn and $31,000, respectively, for
these options. As of December 31, 2011, the Compangluded that only two of the milestones are abdd of achievement. As a result, the
Company recognized approximately $0.2 million cirghbased compensation expense. At December 31, 8@lunrecognized share-based
compensation related to performance-based milestptiens was approximately $6.3 million.

In calculating share-based compensatiotsctite Company estimated the fair value of stqaloas using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-pricing mabdias developed for use in estimating the faiugaif short-lived, exchange-traded
options that have no vesting restrictions and altg fransferable. The Company estimates the nurabawards that will be forfeited in
calculating compensation costs. Such costs arerdeagnized over the requisite service period efaards on a straight-line basis.

Determining the fair value of share-basedras using the Black-Scholes option-pricing madguires the use of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected term of therdwexpected stock price volatility and, up to tiaee of the Company's initial public
offering, the fair value of the Company's commatkt The weighted average assumptions used toastitine fair value of the
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stock options using the Black-Scholes option pgaimodel were as follows for the years ended Dece®be?2011, 2010 and 2009:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Weightec-average fair value of common stc $ 11.9¢ $ 11.2¢ $ 5.1¢
Expected volatility 49.€% 57.£% 62.2%
Expected term (in year 6.5 6.5 6.5
Risk-free interest rat 2.4% 2%  2.7%
Expected dividend yiel —% —% —%

Expected Volatility

Volatility measures the amount that a stog&e has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuaterdy a period. The Company uses a blended
volatility rate that blends its own historical volidy with that of comparable public companiesidPto February 3, 2010, the Company was not
publicly traded and therefore had no trading histdherefore, stock price volatility was estimabesed on an analysis of historical and img
volatility of comparable public companies.

Expected Terr

The Company has limited historical inforioatto develop reasonable expectations about futeecise patterns and post-vesting
employment termination behavior for its stock optgrants. As a result, for stock option grants nmawkéng the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, the expected term was estinatag the "simplified method." The simplified rhetl is based on the average of the
vesting tranches and the contractual life of eaeinty

Risk-Free Interest Rate

The risk-free interest rate used for eawmgis based on a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury im&inti with a remaining term similar to the
expected term of the share-based award.

Expected Dividend Yiel

The Company has not paid and does notipatepaying cash dividends on its shares of comsbtack in the foreseeable future; theref
the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero.

Forfeitures

Forfeitures are estimated at the time ahgand revised, if necessary, in subsequent peif@ttual forfeitures differ from the Company's
estimates. Subsequent changes in estimated fogfgiture recognized through a cumulative adjustinethie period of change, and will also
impact the amount of share-based compensation sgperiuture periods. The Company uses historiatd tb estimate forfeiture rates. The
Company's forfeiture rates were 5.5%, 5.5% and }8%f December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respéctive
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The following table summarizes the expaesegnized for all share-based compensation armeges in the consolidated statements of
operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Ironwood:
Employee stock optior $ 10,90¢ $ 6,54t $ 4,01(
Restricted stock awart 431 46¢ 784
Non-employee stock optior 152 12z 301
Employee stock purchase pl 21k 10C —
Stock awarc 3C 25¢ —

11,73: 7,49¢ 5,09t

Microbia Stock Plan (included in discontinu
operations — 59 14¢
$ 11,73: $ 7,55F $ 5,24«

Sharésased compensation is reflected in the consolidsteteéments of operations as follows for the yeaded December 31, 2011, 2(
and 2009 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Research and developm $ 6,071 $ 4,112 $ 2,37
General and administrati\ 5,661 3,38¢ 2,72
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati — 59 14¢
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The following table summarizes stock optiativity under the Company's stock option plansluding performance-based options:

Shares of
Common Weighted- Weighted-
Stock Average Average Aggregate
Attributable Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
to Options Price Life Value
(in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 14,603,22 $ 4.2t 6.44 $ 91,57¢
Grantec 3,615,050 $ 11.9¢
Exercisec (1,502,36) $ 1.8C
Cancellec (291,41) $ 8.8
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 16,424,50 $  6.0¢ 6.4C $ 98,99¢
Vested or expected to vest at December
2011 15,318,95 $ 5.9¢ 6.32 $ 93,791
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 8,194,14, $  3.3¢ 487 $ 70,48¢

(D) All stock options granted under the 1998 Plan,2B@2 Plan and the 2005 Plan contain provisionsvatig for the early exercise of su
options into restricted stock. The exercisable ehdisclosed above represent those that are vastefdDecember 31, 2011.

The weighted-average grant date fair vakereshare of options granted to employees duriay#ars ended December 31, 2011, 2010 anc
2009 was $6.21, $6.48 and $3.17, respectively.td@tat intrinsic value of options exercised durihg yyears ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009 was approximately $17.4 million, $18.diomland $1.6 million, respectively. The intrinsialue was calculated as the difference
between the estimated fair value of the Compamyisncon stock and the exercise price of the optisaned. The fair value of the Company's
common stock was $11.97, $10.35 and $12.05 pee stiddecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively

The aggregate grant-date fair value ofojbigions granted to employees during the years eDgegmber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was
approximately $20.5 million, $17.7 million and $9rillion, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, there was appratéty $0.9 million and $25.6 million of unrecogrizehare-based compensation, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to restricted s@atards and unvested stock option grants with tiemed vesting, respectively which are
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.0 years and 3.66 years, respectivelg. tbtal unrecognized share-based
compensation cost will be adjusted for future clesnig estimated forfeitures.

Microbia Stock Plar

As a result of the sale of the Companytarest in Microbia to DSM in September 2010, theddbia Stock Plan was cancelled, resulting
in the cancellation of all existing shares.
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16. Income Taxes

In general, the Company has not recordeawasion for federal or state income taxes as# had cumulative net operating losses since
inception. However, the Company recorded an appratély $3,000 provision for state taxes for therywaled December 31, 2011. In
addition, because of intra-period income tax aliocerequirements, the Company recorded a ber@fintome taxes from continuing
operations of $2.9 million for the year ended Deben81, 2010, offset by an identical and correspanohcome tax provision from
discontinued operations. The intra-period inconxeaffocation considers income (loss) from discameith operations for purposes of
determining the amount of tax benefit resultingrirthe loss from continuing operations. The Compagepgnized a federal income tax benefit
of approximately $0.3 million for the year endingd&@mber 31, 2009 related to refundable researckevelopment tax credits, resulting from
a provision in the Housing Assistance Tax Act dd&@hat allowed the Company to claim a refund fpoetion of its unused pre-2006 research
tax credits on its 2008 U.S. federal income taumet

A reconciliation of income taxes from conting operations computed using the U.S. fedeaaliiry rate to that reflected in operations
follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Income tax benefit using U.S. federal

statutory rate $ (22,050 $ (20,18) $ (20,500
Permanent difference 24E (3,126 2,045
State income taxes, net of federal ber (3,53)) (3,427%) (3,282)
Stock compensatic 2,104 (243) 1,30C
Tax credits 50¢ (2,041 (4,637
Expiring net operating losses and tax cre 803 912 57C

Effect of change in state tax rate on defe
tax assets and deferred tax liabilit 98 613 1,744
Change in the valuation allowan 20,95¢ 27,60¢ 22,40(
Other 87C (11%) 58
Total before intr-period allocatior 3 — (29€)
Intra-period tax allocatiol — (2,944 —
$ 3% (2949 ¢ (296)
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16. Income Taxes (Continued)
Components of the Company's deferred tagtasand liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010

Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 91,03 $ 57,25
Tax credit carryforward 14,02« 14,53¢
Capitalized research and developrnr 22,58¢ 27,87
Deferred revenu 22,55¢ 35,75¢
Other 17,98( 12,42:
Total deferred tax asse 168,17¢ 147,84
Valuation allowanct (168,179  (147,84)
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ =

Management of the Company has evaluateddhitive and negative evidence bearing upon takzability of its deferred tax assets.
Management has considered the Company's histargerhting losses and concluded, in accordancethétlapplicable accounting standards,
that it is more likely than not that the Companyymat realize the benefit of its deferred tax ass&tcordingly, the deferred tax assets have
been fully reserved at December 31, 2011 and 2@dBagement reevaluates the positive and negatidermse on a quarterly basis.

The valuation allowance increased approtetya20.3 million during the year ended December2D11, due primarily to the increase in
the net operating loss carryforwards, share-basegpensation expense and deferred accrued expditesgaluation allowance increased
approximately $16.0 million during the year endestBmber 31, 2010, due primarily to the increagbémet operating loss carryforwards and
deferred revenue.

Subject to the limitations described bebivibecember 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company haspeedting loss carryforwards of
approximately $239.2 and $153.2 million, respedyivin offset future federal taxable income, whitpire beginning in 2018 continuing
through 2031. The federal net operating loss carwdrds exclude approximately $19.5 million of defitins related to the exercise of stock
options. This amount represents an excess taxibanedfhas not been included in the gross defdmedsset reflected for net operating losses.
This amount will be recorded as an increase intemfail paid in capital on the consolidated balastteet once the excess benefits are "reali
in accordance with ASC 718. As of December 31, 281d 2010, the Company has state net operatingéssgorwards of approximately
$183.8 million and $97.7 million, respectively,dffset future state taxable income, which have beguexpire and will continue to expire
through 2021. The Company also has tax credit fiampards of approximately $15.0 million and $15.8lion as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, to offset future federal aradestncome taxes, which expire at various timesuph 2031.

Utilization of net operating loss carryf@amls and research and development credit carryfdeaaay be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership change limitations thave occurred previously or that could occur mfiliture in accordance with Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 ("IRC Section"B&82d with Section 383 of the Internal Revenue €0t11986, as well as similar state
provisions. These ownership changes may limit thewnt of net
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16. Income Taxes (Continued)

operating loss carryforwards and research and dprent credit carryforwards that can be utilizeduadly to offset future taxable income and
taxes, respectively. In general, an ownership chaag defined by IRC Section 382, results fromsaations increasing the ownership of
certain stockholders or public groups in the stofck corporation by more than 50 percentage poiwes a threerear period. The Company
completed several financings since its inceptioiictvimay have resulted in a change in control amededfby IRC Section 382, or could resul

a change in control in the future.

The Company applies ASC 74@;ome TaxesASC 740 provides guidance on the accounting f@ettainty in income taxes recognized
in financial statements and requires the impaét @ix position to be recognized in the financiatesnents if that position is more likely than
not of being sustained by the taxing authority aAgsult of the implementation of the new guidartice Company recognized no material
adjustment for unrecognized income tax benefitdDé&tember 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the QontEd no unrecognized tax
benefits.

The Company will recognize interest andgbiées related to uncertain tax positions in incdmeexpense. As of December 31, 2011, :
and 2009, the Company had no accrued interestral{pes related to uncertain tax positions andmounts have been recognized in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations.

The statute of limitations for assessmgrithie Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and stateatzthorities is open for tax years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, although camgiat attributes that were generated prior to taat Y908 may still be adjusted upon
examination by the IRS or state tax authoritighdfy either have been, or will be, used in a fupegod. There are currently no federal or state
audits in progress.

The Company has not, as yet, conducteddy sif its research and development credit cardods. This study may result in an
adjustment to the Company's research and develdmreit carryforwards; however, until a study empleted and any adjustment is known,
no amounts are being presented as an uncertapostkon. A full valuation allowance has been pd®d against the Company's research and
development credits and, if an adjustment is regllithis adjustment would be offset by an adjustrteethe deferred tax asset established for
the research and development credit carryforwaddtlaa valuation allowance.

17. Defined Contribution Plan

The Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 401@yiSgs Plan is a defined contribution plan in therf of a qualified 401(k) plan in which
substantially all employees are eligible to papéte upon employment. Subject to certain InterrealéRue Code limits, eligible employees r
elect to contribute from 1% to 100% of their comgegion. Company contributions to the plan are atstile discretion of the Company's board
of directors. The Company provides a matching doution of 50% of the employee's first $6,000 oftbutions. During the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Companydeda@pproximately $0.6 million, $0.5 million and.40nillion of expense in net income
(loss) from continuing operations related to itd &) company match. Included in net income (lossirf discontinued operations for each of
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 isxpyately $0.1 million related to the 401(k) compangtch.
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18. Related Party Transactions

The Company has and currently obtains Iegalices from a law firm that is an investor af tbompany. The Company paid
approximately $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.1llilon in legal fees to this investor during theaye ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. At December 31, 2011, the Comyead approximately $26,000 in accounts payaliéeee to this related party. At
December 31, 2010, there was no accounts payabeiated with this related party.

In September 2009, Forest became a repetetyl when the Company sold to Forest 2,083,338shaf the Company's convertible
preferred stock and in November 2009, Almirall beeaa related party when the Company sold to Alin@81,819 shares of the Company's
convertible preferred stock (Note 5). These shafgseferred stock converted to the Company's comstock on a 1:1 basis upon the
completion of the Company's initial public offerinydditional related party disclosure related tacMbia and T&L is included in Note 21.

19. Segment Reporting

Prior to the sale of its interest in Micimlin September 2010, the Company had two repertabéiness segments: human therapeutics ant
biomanufacturing. The Company had no inter-segmarenues.

The following table reports revenue and lfyem operations for the Company's reportable sagsfor the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenue
Human therapeutic $ 6587. $ 43,857 $ 34,32
Biomanufacturing (included in
discontinued operation — 1,98¢ 1,781
Total $ 6587. $ 4584. $ 36,10:

Loss from operation:
Human therapeutic
Biomanufacturing (included in
discontinued operation

Total

Total assets
Human therapeutic

$ (66,147 $ (60,7660 $ (60,816

— (4537 (13,16))
$ (66,147 $ (65,299 $ (73,97

December 31,
2011 2010

$ 208,97° $ 301,36!

Biomanufacturing (included in discontinued

operations
Total

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, all of tlen@any's accounts receivable related to the huhwrapeutics segment.

$ 208,97° $ 301,36!
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20. Federal and State Grants
Federal Grant

In 2010, the Company was awarded approxim&l.0 million in grants under the Qualifying Tapeutic Discovery Project Program
which was created in March 2010 as part of theeRafrotection and Affordability Care Act. The fdaount awarded was recognized in the
fourth quarter of 2010 and is recorded as othesrire on the Company's consolidated statements cétipes.

State Grant

In May 2011, the Company recorded approxéhgeh0.9 million as a receivable associated with Itife Sciences Tax Incentive Program
from the Massachusetts Life Sciences Center. Thgram was established in 2008 in order to incexdilife sciences companies to create new
sustained jobs in Massachusetts. Jobs must beairadtfor at least five years, during which time grant proceeds can be recovered by the
Massachusetts Department of Revenue ("DOR") itbmpany does not meet and maintain its job creatonmitments. The Company
received the funds in July 2011 and recognizeatt@ d as other income in its consolidated statemmfeoperations in September 2011, as the
Company believed it had satisfied its job creatiommitments. The Company's hiring plan for 2@DIL5 is significantly in excess of the hir
requirement for the 5 year period, as such, theg2om believes that the likelihood of recovery af gward by the DOR is remote.

21. Microbia, Inc.

On September 21, 2010, the Company soldtisest in Microbia to DSM in exchange for casbgeeds of $9.5 million, the payment of
approximately $1.1 million of Microbia debt andén¢st by DSM and future contingent consideraticgedeaon the sale of products
incorporating Microbia's technology (See Note 2).

Tate & Lyle Investments, Ltd.

In September 2006, the Company enteredairollaboration agreement with T&L. The collab@atagreement had a five-year term with
a one-year notice of termination. In connectiorhwifite execution of the collaboration agreementQbmpany also issued T&L 1,823,529
shares of common stock of Microbia, the Companyislly owned subsidiary, at the aggregate purchase pf approximately $2,000, and
issued 7,000,000 shares of convertible prefermeksif Microbia at the aggregate purchase pricg70d million. After the sale of stock to
T&L, the Company retained an 85% majority ownershiprest, and T&L had a 15% noncontrolling intéiesMicrobia. The Company's
ownership interest in Microbia was entirely compdf convertible preferred stock with the samdguemces to that held by T&L. The
ownership of the convertible preferred and comntonksby T&L was recorded as noncontrolling interiesthe consolidated financial
statements.

On June 15, 2010, T&L and Microbia enteired an agreement to terminate their collaborafidre terms and conditions of the agreen
included an exchange of intellectual property ame-time payment to Microbia of approximately $t#lion. All current and future
obligations between Microbia and T&L were termirhses a result of this agreement.

Revenue earned from the T&L collaboratigneament totaled approximately $1.9 million and$illion during the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Thismesés included
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21. Microbia, Inc. (Continued)

in net income (loss) from discontinued operatiarsall periods presented. There was no accoungsvadde from T&L at December 31, 2011
or December 31, 2010.

Strategic Restructuring Plan

In November 2009, Microbia implementedratsigic restructuring plan that included an immedraduction of its workforce by
approximately 40% of its existing workforce, anteduced workweek for an additional 12% of its @rggtvorkforce. Microbia took this actic
to focus on its proprietary strain-developmentfpleh and existing service agreements.

In connection with the strategic restruictgmplan, Microbia recorded restructuring chargeapproximately $1.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2009. Provisions associated withttiageglic restructuring are included in net incomoess) from discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of operations. Paymenteiassd with the restructuring charges were fullidpas of December 31, 2010.

22. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table contains quarterly firtéal information for 2011 and 2010. The Companleves that the following information
reflects all normal recurring adjustments neceskarg fair presentation of the information for feriods presented. The operating results for
any quarter are not necessarily indicative of tedor any future period. Amounts associated with Company's former subsidiary, Microbia,
which was sold in September 2010, have been prsastdiscontinued operations for all periods shiovthe information below.

First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(in thousands, except per share data)
2011
Collaborative arrangements rever $ 10,237 $ 11,26: $ 12,21¢ $ 32,15« $ 65,87:
Total operating expens 28,77¢ 30,21 33,83¢ 39,18¢ 132,01:
Other income (expense), r 141 10¢€ 98¢ 58 1,29:
Net loss (18,40) (18,844 (20,639) (6,979 (64,852)

Net loss per sha—basic and diluter $ (0.19 $ (019 $ (0.2)) $ (0.07) $ (0.6
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22. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)@ontinued)

First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(in thousands, except per share data)
2010
Collaborative arrangementsrever $ 8,83t $ 9,18t $ 9,05¢ $ 16,77 $ 43,85’
Total operating expens 23,33« 26,49¢ 25,22¢ 29,56 104,62:
Other income (expense), r 15 14& 107 1,144 1,411

Net loss from continuing operatio (14,48)  (17,16% (13,119 (11,65) (56,41)
Net income (loss) from discontinu

operations (1,772) (44) 6,36 — 4,551
Net loss (16,259 (17,209 (6,747  (11,65) (51,86()
Net (income) loss from discontinu

operations attributable to

noncontrolling interes 32¢ 73 (1,527 — (1,121
Net loss attributable to Ironwoc

Pharmaceuticals, Inc (15,929 (17,13¢) (8,270) (11,65) (52,98))
Net loss per share from continui

operation—Dbasic and dilute: $ ©029% (019 $ (019 % (019 $ (0.69

Net income (loss) per share frc

discontinued operations

attributable to Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.—basic ar

diluted (0.02) — 0.0t — 0.04
Net loss per share attributable

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.-
basic and dilute $ (025 3% (019 $ (009 $ (012 % (0.59)

23. Subsequent Events
Bionomics Limited

The Company entered into a collaboraticeh lasense agreement with Bionomics Limited ("Bioriogf) in January 2012 in which it
licensed the rights to Bionomics' investigatiorai-anxiety compound, BNC210. Under the terms efdlgreement, the Company and
Bionomics will collaborate on initial research ahé Company will be responsible for development @mdmercialization of any resulting
products. In connection with entering into the agnent, the Company will make an up-front paymer30 million to Bionomics. The
Company will fund full-time equivalents for Bionoeasi to perform certain drug discovery activities keaertain milestone payments pending
the achievement of certain development and regylabilestones, and make royalty payments if BNCB&1€éver successfully commercialized.
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23. Subsequent Events (Continued)
Class A Common Stock Offering

In February 2012, the Company sold 6,037 Stares of its Class A common stock through a iommitment, underwritten public
offering at a price to the public of $15.09 perrgh@s a result of the offering, the Company reediaggregate net proceeds, after underwriting
discounts and commissions and other estimatedindfexpenses, of approximately $85.3 million. Ther@any intends to use these proceeds
for general corporate purposes, including to furteengthen its balance sheet in advance of ttenpial market launch of linaclotide (if
approved).

State Grant

In February 2012, the Company was notiffeat it was awarded an approximately $1.8 milliax incentive associated with the Life
Sciences Tax Incentive Program from the Massactsuki#é¢ Sciences Center. This program was estadadish 2008 in order to incentivize life
sciences companies to create new sustained jalassachusetts. Jobs must be maintained for atfleastears, during which time the grant
proceeds can be recovered by the DOR if the Comgdaag not meet and maintain its job creation comeits.
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Exhibit 10.15.4
FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this “ Amendmeri) is entered into as of this 18th day of Octol28]11 (the “ Execution
Date”), by and between BMR-ROGERS STREET LLC, a Delawlanited liability company (“ Landlord’ as successor-in-interest to Rogers
Street, LLC (“ Original Landlord)), and IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delawao®rporation (formerly known as
Microbia, Inc.) (“ Tenant).

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Original Landlord and Tenantered into that certain Lease dated as of Jarii2ar2007, as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of Aprd009, that certain Second Amendment to Leassldet of February 9, 2010, that certain
Third Amendment to Lease dated as of July 1, 20itDthat certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dateaf Bebruary 3, 2011 (the “ Fourth
Amendment’ and, collectively, as the same may have beemraiie amended, supplemented or modified from tinéme, the “ Leass),
whereby Tenant leases certain premises (the “ @aidiremise8) from Landlord at 301 Binney Street in Cambridiyggssachusetts (the “

Building ™);

B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desirenemorialize the size of the Additional Premisegd Phase, an appropriate
adjustment to Tenarg’Pro Rata Share and the Additional Premises Riiake Finish Work Allowance, as required pursuaection 8 of th
Fourth Amendment;

C. WHEREAS, Tenant desires to leasetewtdil premises from Landlord; and
D. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desirenbdify and amend the Lease only in the respetta the conditions hereinai
stated.
AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant, in consideratf the mutual promises contained herein andtioer good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, and intending to bellebalind, agree as follows:

1. Definitions For purposes of this Amendment, capitalized seshrll have the meanings ascribed to them in dasé unles
otherwise defined herein.

2. Additional Premises Third Phas€he Additional Premises Third Phase consisteotnteen thousand eight hundred sixty-
three (17,863) rentable square feet on the thirar fof the Building, as depicted on Exhibita#tached hereto, and includes shaft and/or
mechanical space on the first, third, fourth, fdild penthouse levels of the Building. The AdditibPremises Third Phase consists of fifteen
thousand three hundred seventy-three (15,373) leseqbare feet of space. The Additional PremidesdTPhase Rent Commencement Date
shall be determined in accordance with the FourtteAdment. Once the Additional Premises Third PResg Commencement Date




is determined, Landlord and Tenant shall executtetige, as a confirmation only, setting forth th@ditional Premises Third Phase Rent
Commencement Date.

3. Tenafhs Pro Rata ShareEffective as of the Additional Premises ThircaB& Rent Commencement Date, Tenant’s Pro Rat:
Share shall be 47.56%.

4, Additional Premises Third Phase $hiriVork Allowance The amount of the Additional Premises Third haimish Work
Allowance shall be Seven Hundred Fourteen ThouSarelHundred Twenty and 00/100 Dollars ($714,520.00

5. Rights of Building Tenants in Additial Premises Fourth Phasés of the Execution Date, Landlord represents an
warrants that no other person or entity has angreaéble rights with respect to the leasing or pacgy of the Additional Premises Fourth
Phase (as defined below) as a tenant.

6. Additional Premises Fourth Phagks of the Execution Date, Landlord hereby lede€Benant approximately twenty one
thousand seven hundred seventeen (21,717) congeatable square feet of additional premises éatan the third floor of the Building, as
depicted on Exhibit Battached hereto (the “ Additional Premises Fouhthd®’). The actual rentable square footage and actsedble square
footage of the Additional Premises Fourth Phaskbeiladjusted and mutually agreed to between Laddlod Tenant based upon the actual
constructed rentable square footage and actuatraetexd usable square footage determined in acooedaith the Measurement Standard.

7. Term Commencement Dat&he term with respect to the Additional PremiBesrth Phase shall commence upon the
Execution Date and shall terminate, subject toegnsion options granted pursuant to the Leaseilsineous with the expiration of the
Term. From and after the Execution Date, the teRremises” as used in the Lease, shall mean the Originaiiyes plus the Additional
Premises Fourth Phase and, except as otherwiseedokerein, all provisions of the Lease, includingthout limitation) the option to extend
the Term as set forth in Section 3.03 of the Lesisall apply to such Premises.

8. Additional Premises Fourth PhasetR@Emmencement DateRent with respect to the Additional Premises Boihase
shall commence upon the earlier of (a) June 1, 20P(b) substantial completion of the Finish Wiith respect to the Additional Premises
Fourth Phase and Tenant's occupancy thereof forahduct of its business (theAtditional Premises Fourth Phase Rent CommenceDetie
). Following the Additional Premises Fourth Ph&snt Commencement Date, Landlord and Tenant shtdl into an amendment to the
Lease, as amended hereby, memorializing the agsealble square footage and the actual rentableestpaiage of the Additional Premises
Fourth Phase, the Additional Premises Fourth PRas¢ Commencement Date, an appropriate adjustrodrértant’s Pro Rata Share and the
Additional Premises Fourth Phase Finish Work Alloe (as defined below) with respect thereto.

9. Tenafhsg Pro Rata ShareTenant’'s Pro Rata Share shall be increasedeoAdkditional Premises Fourth Phase Rent
Commencement Date to include the actual rentahlareqfootage of the Additional Premises Fourth Bliashe calculation of Tenant's Pro
Rata Share.




10. Base Rent/Annual Adjustment$he initial Base Rent for the Additional Prensigeourth Phase shall be $42.50 per rentable
square foot per year commencing on the Additiomairises Fourth Phase Rent Commencement Date. Réador the Additional Premises
Fourth Phase shall be increased during the ifigain on each annual anniversary of the Additiomahises Initial Phase Rent
Commencement Date beginning with the first suctuahanniversary after the Additional Premises Hottase Rent Commencement Dat
fifty cents ($0.50) per rentable square foot paryeBase Rent for the Additional Premises Foultthge shall not be increased on the Interim
Date as provided in Section 1.16 of the Lease.e Bt for the Additional Premises Fourth PhasafgrExtension Term or Terms shall be
determined in accordance with Section 1.16 of thase. Commencing on the Additional Premises F&®itse Rent Commencement Date,
the Base Rent for the Additional Premises Fourtaselshall be paid in equal monthly installmentsdmance on the first day of each and every
calendar month during the Term as set forth iniBeet.01 of the Lease. To the extent the AdditidTr@mises Fourth Phase Rent
Commencement Date occurs before the actual rerggblere footage of such phase is determined irédacoe with Section 6f this
Amendment, the parties hereto agree to true ypagiinents of Rent for such phase made prior to déite slich actual square footage is
determined within thirty (30) days of the date sactual rentable square footage is determined. pahies will also make any appropriate
adjustments and true ups for payments of the Aatthli Premises Fourth Phase Finish Work Allowancetfich phase within thirty (30) days
the date such actual rentable square footageesrdieted.

11. Finish Work Allowance Landlord shall provide to Tenant an additionaigh Work Allowance of Forty Dollars ($40.00)
per rentable square foot of Additional PremisesrifoRhase (the “ Additional Premises Fourth Phasistir-Work Allowance’) in order to
fund, pursuant to the terms and procedures sét fioi$ections 10.04(c) and 10.05 of the Leasedinb, without limitation, Tenant'’s rights
under the last paragraph of Section 10.04(c)-2xbiitkt 10.04(c)), the design and construction bydm of the Finish Work with respect to the
Additional Premises Fourth Phase; provided thattyitlestanding anything in Sections 10.04(c) or B00dthe Lease to the contrary, (i) Tenant
shall have no obligation to pay or reimburse Lardifor any costs or expenses to review or supethiseonstruction of the Finish Work with
respect to the Additional Premises Fourth Phasesview the Construction Documents related theoetio assist with government filings and
(ii) Landlord’s approval of the Construction Documterelated to the Finish Work with respect toAlgglitional Premises Fourth Phase shall
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delay&he Additional Premises Fourth Phase FinishiMdlowance shall be determined ba
on the actual constructed rentable square foothtie2A\dditional Premises Fourth Phase. The Addal Premises Fourth Phase Finish Work
Allowance must be utilized for Finish Work constieat within the Additional Premises Fourth Phagenant will not be required to remove
the Finish Work constructed within the AdditionakRises Fourth Phase at the end of the Term.

12. Condition of Premises Tenant acknowledges that, other than as sttt fi@ow or in the Lease, neither Landlord nor any
agent of Landlord has made any representation mamy with respect to the condition of the Additéd Premises Fourth Phase, the Building
or the Property, or with respect to the suitabitifthe Additional Premises Fourth Phase, the Buglar the Property for the conduct of
Tenant’s business. Tenant acknowledges that @@jutly familiar with the condition of the Addidnal Premises Fourth Phase and agrees to
take the same in its condition “as is” as of the&xion Date and (b) Landlord shall have no obidgeato alter, repair or otherwise




prepare the Additional Premises Fourth Phase faafiés occupancy or to pay for or construct anyrsmpments to the Additional Premises
Fourth Phase, except that Landlord shall provigeAtiditional Premises Fourth Phase Finish Work Wwlace as described in Section 11
above. Landlord hereby represents and warrantsabaf the Execution Date, (a) the common argheBuilding and the Additional Premit
Fourth Phase are in compliance with all Legal Resgnents and (b) the air handling units in the Aiddal Premises Fourth Phase are fully
commissioned and functional.

13. Parking In addition to any existing Tenant rights tokiag spaces under the Lease, commencing on theetptested by
Tenant, but in any event, no later than the AdddidPremises Fourth Phase Rent Commencement Caxtd|drd shall provide Tenant with 1.0
parking spaces per 1,000 useable square feet gxelaf any mechanical space) of Additional PremiSseurth Phase at Landlord’s then-
current prevailing monthly rate for parking spac&snant’s use of the parking spaces provided Ingle@uand Tenant’s rights with respect
thereto (including (without limitation) limitationsn increases in the prevailing monthly rate fakpeay spaces) shall otherwise be in
accordance with the terms of Section 2.01(d) ofLth&se.

14. Broker Tenant represents and warrants that it has haldakngs with any real estate broker or agenbimection with the
negotiation of this Amendment other than CB Richalles, Inc. (“ Broker”), and that it knows of no other real estate brakeagent that is or
might be entitled to a commission in connectiorhwtiite representation of Tenant in connection with Amendment. Landlord shall
compensate Broker in relation to this Amendmenspant to a separate agreement between LandlorBraker.

14.1 Tenant represents and warrants thatoleer or agent has made any representation gamtgrrelied upon by
Tenant in Tenant’s decision to enter into this Anraent, other than as contained in this Amendment.

14.2 Tenant acknowledges and agrees thartiployment of brokers by Landlord is for the msg of solicitation of
offers of leases from prospective tenants andrtbatuthority is granted to any broker to furnisly egpresentation (written or oral) or warranty
from Landlord unless expressly contained withirs thinendment. Landlord is executing this Amendniieméliance upon Tenant’s
representations, warranties and agreements codtaiitiein Section 14 Section 14.5nd this_Section 14.2

14.3 Tenant agrees to indemnify, save,rdefnd hold Landlord harmless from any and all codigbility for
compensation claimed by any other broker or agghgr than Broker, employed or engaged by Tenaataiming to have been employed or
engaged by Tenant.

14.4 Landlord shall pay any commission,deether compensation due to any Landlord brokén(sonnection with thi
Amendment. Landlord agrees to indemnify, savegmigfand hold Tenant harmless from any and all@ol&bility for compensation claimed
by any broker or agent employed or engaged by loaddir claiming to have been employed or engageldamgliord.




15. Effect of AmendmentExcept as modified by this Amendment, the Leas®all the covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions thereof shall remainuithforce and effect and are hereby ratified arfdraBd. The covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions contained in this Amendtghall bind and inure to the benefit of the arthereto and their respective successors
and, except as otherwise provided in the Leasamesded hereby, their respective assigns. Inwhet®f any conflict between the terms
contained in this Amendment and the Lease, thestéagnein contained shall supersede and contrallitigations and liabilities of the parties.
From and after the Execution Date, the term “ Léaseused in the Lease shall mean the Lease, adietbbly this Amendment.

16. Miscellaneous This Amendment becomes effective only upon etiecwand delivery hereof by Landlord and Tenante Th
captions of the paragraphs and subparagraphssilithendment are inserted and included solely favenience and shall not be considere
given any effect in construing the provisions héreall exhibits hereto are incorporated hereinrbference.

17. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in one or movatesparts that, when taken together, shall canstitne
original.
18. Authority Landlord and Tenant have all necessary and peageority, without the need for the consent of ather persa

or entity, other than any consents that have bégaired, to enter into and perform under this Anmeeuni.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have heteget their hands as of the date and year fistalkvritten, and
acknowledge that they possess the requisite atittiorenter into this transaction and to execuig Amendment.

LANDLORD :

BMR -ROGERS STREET LL(,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Kevin M. Simonse
Name: Kevin M. Simonser
Title: VP, Real Estate Couns

TENANT :

IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /sl James DeTol
Name: James DeTor
Title: VP, Finance and Administratic
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State of Organization

Atlantic Power Holdings, In
Atlantic Power Generation, Ir
Atlantic Power Transmission, I
Harbor Capital Holdings, LL(
Epsilon Power Funding, LL!
Teton Power Funding, LL!
Epsilon Power Partners, LL
Chambers Cogeneration Limited Partners
Atlantic Path 15 Transmission, LL
Path 15 Funding TV, LL(

Path 15 Funding KBT, LL(

Path 15 Funding, LL(

Atlantic Holdings Path 15, LL(
Atlantic Path 15, LLC

Auburndale Power Partners, Limited Partner:
Auburndale GP, LLC

Auburndale LP, LLC

Atlantic Auburndale, LLC

Atlantic Renewables Holdings, LL
Javelin Energy LLC

Javelin Holdings, LLC

Javelin Gregory General Corporati
Gregory Holdings #1 LL(
Gregory Power Partners, L.

Delta Person, LL(

Teton East Coast Generation, LI
Badger Creek LTL

Badger Power Associates |
Badger Power Generation I, LL
Badger Power Generation Il, LL
Pasco Cogen, LTI

Dade Investment, L

NCP Pasco LL(

NCP Dade Power, LL(

Selkirk Cogen Partners L

Teton Selkirk, LLC

Orlando Cogen Limited L!
Orlando Power Generation I, LL
Orlando Power Generation II, LL
Lake Cogen Ltc

Lake Investment LI

NCP Gem LLC

NCP Lake Power LL(

Teton New Lake LLC

Koma Kulshan Associates L
Concrete Hydro Partners |

Baker Lake Hydro LLC

Olympia Hydro LLC

AP Onondaga, LL(

Onondaga Renewables, LL
Rollcast Energy, Inc

Atlantic Idaho Wind Holdings, LL(

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Minnesots
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
North Caroling
Delaware




Atlantic Idaho Wind A, LLC

Atlantic Idaho Wind C, LLC

Idaho Wind Partners 1, LL

Atlantic Piedmont Holdings, LL(

Piedmont Green Power, LL

Atlantic Cadillac Holdings, LLC

Cadillac Renewable Energy LL

Atlantic Power Services, LL!

Atlantic Power Services Canada GP |

Atlantic Power Services Canada

Atlantic Power Limited Partnership (fka Capital Ravincome L.P.
Atlantic Power GP Inc. (fka CPI Income Services.}

Atlantic Power Preferred Equity Ltd. (fka CPI Preéal Equity Ltd.)

Atlantic Power Energy Services (Canada) Inc. (fleaEhergy Services (Canada) Ir
Atlantic Power (Coastal Rivers) Corporation (fkaaStal Rivers Power Corporatia

Atlantic Power (Williams Lake) Ltd. (fka CPI Pow@#illiams Lake) Ltd.)
Gregory Holdings #2, LL(

Javelin Gregory Remington Col

Atlantic Power (US) GP (fka CP Power (US) C

Gregory Partners, LLI

RP Wind ID, LLC

Teton Operating Services, LL

Applied Energy LLC

BHB Power, LLC

AP (Curtis Palmer) LLC (fka CPI (CP) LL(

Atlantic Power Energy Services (US) LLC (fka CPIlegy Services (US) LLC
Atlantic Power FPLP Holdings, LLC (fka CPI FPLP idilgs LLC)
Atlantic Power Enterprises LLC (fka CPI Power Eptéses LLC)
AP Power Holdings Inc. (fka CPI Power Holdings )r

Atlantic Power USA LLC (fka CPI Power USA LL(

Atlantic Power USA Holdings LLC (fka CPI USA Holdjs LLC)
Atlantic Power USA Ventures LLC (fka CPl USA VengsrLLC)
APDC, Inc. (fka CPIDC, Inc.

Curtis Palmer LLC

Delta Person GP, LL!

Delta Person Limited Partnerst

EF Kenilworth LLC

EF Oxnard LLC

Frederickson Power Management |

Frederickson Power L

Manchief Holding LLC

Manchief Inc.

Manchief Power Company LL

Morris Cogeneration LL(

Selkirk Cogen Funding Corporatic

Thermo Power & Electric LL(

Atlantic Oklahoma Wind, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

British Columbia
Ontario

Ontario

British Columbia
Alberta

British Columbia
British Columbia
British Columbia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Washingtor
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
California
Washingtor
Washingtor
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Colorado
Delaware




Atlantic Rockland Holdings, LL(
Canadian Hills Wind, LLC

Rockland Wind Ridgeline Holdings, LL
Rockland Wind Holdings, LL(

Rockland Wind Intermediate Holdings, LL
Rockland Wind Farm LL(

Curtis/Palmer Hydroelectric Company |

Delaware
Oklahomsa
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New York
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeeeincthe Registration Statements (Form S-3 No. BB3430 and Form S-8 Nos. 333-165227,
333-165228, 333-165229, 333-165230, and 333-165@3ltp)nwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in the ezld®rospectus of our reports dated
February 29, 2012, with respect to the consolidéitexhcial statements of Ironwood Pharmaceutidals, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Ironwood Phageaticals, Inc., included in this Annual Report(frdl0K) for the year ended December
2011.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse!
February 29, 201




QuickLinks

EXHIBIT 23.1



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this dioant

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Peter M. Hecht, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Hrohwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatammmittee of registrant's board of directorsggersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2012

/s/ PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
[, Michael J. Higgins, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Hrohwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))for the registrard have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatammmittee of registrant's board of directorsggersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2012

/s/ MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

Michael J. Higgins
Chief Financial Officel
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofrdvaood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") on Fb@aK for the period ended
December 31, 2011 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the "R8parPeter M. Hecht, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 L. SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to
my knowledge that:

(D) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amende
and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ PETER M. HECH?

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
February 29, 201

A signed original of this written statemeadjuired by Section 906 has been provided to tiragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosioni®r its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofrdvaood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") on Fb@aK for the period ended
December 31, 2011 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the "R8pgrMichael J. Higgins, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugsettion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, to my knowledge that:

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amende
and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
of the Company.

/sl MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

Michael J. Higgins
Chief Financial Officer
February 29, 201

A signed original of this written statemeadjuired by Section 906 has been provided to tiragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosioni®r its staff upon request.
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